# CATHERINE E. HOUSECROFT & ALAN G. SHARPE INORGANIC CHERGENSTRY FIFTH EDITION



Elements											
Element	Symbol	Atomic number, Z	Relative atomic mass, $Ar^{\$}/gmol^{-1}$	Element	Symbol	A tomic number, Z	Relative atomic mass, $Ar^{\$}/gmol^{-1}$	Element	Symbol	Atomic number, Z	Relative atomic mass, $Ar^{\$}/g \mod^{-1}$
Actinium	Ac	89	[227]	Hafnium	Hf	72	178.49	Praseodymium	Pr	59	140.91
Aluminium	AI	13	26.98	Hassium	$_{\mathrm{Hs}}$	108	[270]	Promethium	Pm	61	[145]
Americium	Am	95	[243]	Helium	Не	7	4.00	Protactinium	Pa	91	231.04
Antimony	Sb	51	121.76	Holmium	Но	67	164.93	Radium	Ra	88	[226]
Argon	Ar	18	39.95	Hydrogen	Н	1	1.008	Radon	Rn	86	[222]
Arsenic	$\mathbf{As}$	33	74.92	Indium	In	49	114.82	Rhenium	Re	75	186.21
Astatine	At	85	[210]	Iodine	I	53	126.90	Rhodium	Rh	45	102.91
Barium	Ba	56	137.33	Iridium	Ir	LL	192.22	Roentgenium	Rg	111	[281]
Berkelium	Bk	97	[247]	Iron	Fe	26	55.85	Rubidium	Rb	37	85.47
Beryllium	Be	4	9.01	Krypton	Kr	36	83.80	Ruthenium	Ru	44	101.07
Bismuth	Bi	83	208.98	Lanthanum	La	57	138.91	Rutherfordium	Rf	104	[267]
Bohrium	$\operatorname{Bh}$	107	[270]	Lawrencium	Lr	103	[262]	Samarium	Sm	62	150.36
Boron	В	5	10.81	Lead	Pb	82	207.2	Scandium	Sc	21	44.96
Bromine	Br	35	79.91	Lithium	Li	ю	6.94	Seaborgium	Sg	106	[269]
Cadmium	Cd	48	112.41	Livermorium	Lv	116	[293]	Selenium	Se	34	78.97
Caesium	$C_{S}$	55	132.91	Lutetium	Lu	71	174.97	Silicon	Si	14	28.09
Calcium	Ca	20	40.08	Magnesium	Mg	12	24.31	Silver	Ag	47	107.87
Californium	Cf	98	[251]	Manganese	Mn	25	54.94	Sodium	Na	11	22.99
Carbon	C	9	12.01	Meitnerium	Mt	109	[278]	Strontium	Sr	38	87.62
Cerium	Ce	58	140.12	Mendelevium	Мd	101	[258]	Sulfur	S	16	32.06
Chlorine	CI	17	35.45	Mercury	Hg	80	200.59	Tantalum	Та	73	180.95
Chromium	Cr	24	52.00	Molybdenum	Mo	42	95.95	Technetium	Tc	43	[22]
Cobalt	Co	27	58.93	Moscovium	Mc	115	[289]	Tellurium	Те	52	127.60
Copernicium	Cn	112	[285]	Neodymium	PN	60	144.24	Tennessine	$T_{S}$	117	[294]
Copper	Cu	29	63.54	Neon	Ne	10	20.18	Terbium	Tb	65	158.93
Curium	Cm	96	[247]	Neptunium	Np	93	[237]	Thallium	ΤΙ	81	204.38
Darmstadtium	Ds	110	[281]	Nickel	Ni	28	58.69	Thorium	Th	06	232.04
Dubnium	Db	105	[270]	Nihonium	Nh	113	[285]	Thulium	Tm	69	168.93
Dysprosium	Dy	99	162.50	Niobium	Nb	41	92.91	Tin	Sn	50	118.71
Einsteinium	Es	66	[252]	Nitrogen	Z	L	14.01	Titanium	Ti	22	47.87
Erbium	Er	68	167.26	Nobelium	No	102	[259]	Tungsten	M	74	183.84
Europium	Eu	63	151.96	Oganesson	Og	118	[294]	Uranium	N	92	283.03
Fermium	Fm	100	[257]	Osmium	Os	76	190.23	Vanadium	^	23	50.94
Flerovium	FI	114	[289]	Oxygen	0	8	16.00	Xenon	Xe	54	131.29
Fluorine	F	6	19.00	Palladium	Pd	46	106.42	Ytterbium	Yb	70	173.04
Francium	$\mathbf{Fr}$	87	[223]	Phosphorus	Р	15	30.97	Yttrium	Υ	39	88.91
Gadolinium	Gd	64	157.25	Platinum	Pt	78	195.08	Zinc	Zn	30	65.38
Gallium	Ga	31	69.72	Plutonium	Pu	94	[244]	Zirconium	Zr	40	91.22
Germanium	Ge	32	72.63	Polonium	$P_0$	84	[209]				
Gold	Au	<i>4</i>	196.97	Potassium	К	19	39.10				
<sup>§</sup> Where an elem	ent does no	t possess a st	table isotope, a mass	s number in [] is g	iven; the ma	tss number g	riven is for the long	gest-lived isotope of	the element	t. For each o	f Th, Pa and U, the
value of $A_{\rm r}$ is b	ased on the	terrestrial isu	otopic composition.								

Periodic table

18	2	He	10	Ne	0.18	18	Ar	9.95	36	Ϋ́	3.80	54	Xe	31.29	86	۲u	222]	118	bC	294]
		7 I	6		.00 2	17		.45 3	35	ž	.91 8	33	_	5.90 13	35	Lt L	10] [.	17	_s	94] [.
		1		_	0 19	1		5 35	m 	<u> </u>	7 79	-2		0 126	ω	4	] [2	1	-	]
		16	8	0	16.00	16	S	32.06	34	Se	78.97	52	Ъ	127.6	84	Po	[209]	116	2	[293]
		15	7	z	14.01	15	٩	30.97	33	As	74.92	51	Sb	121.76	83	Bi	208.98	115	Ĕ	[289]
		14	9	υ	12.01	14	Si	28.09	32	9 Ge	72.63	50	Sn	118.71	82	Ъb	207.2	114	ᄑ	[289]
		13	5	В	10.81	13	Ā	26.98	31	Ga	69.72	49	<u>_</u>	114.82	81	F	204.38	113	ЧN	[285]
							;	7	30	Zn	65.38	48	BC	112.41	80	Hq	200.59	112	5 U	[285]
		ass, A <sub>r</sub>					, ,	=	29	Cu	63.54	47	Ag	107.87	79	Au	196.97	111	Rg	[281]
umber, Z	ymbol	itomic ma					0	2	28	ī	58.69	46	Pd	106.42	78	Ł	195.08	110	Ds	[281]
vtomic nu	ement s	elative a					o	ת	27	ۍ ع	58.93	45	Rh	02.91	77	L	92.22	109	₹	[278]
4	U ↓	₩   					0	0	26	Fe	5.85	44	Ru	01.07	76	0s	90.23 1	108	Hs	270]
•	•	8					Г		25	۸n	1.94 5	43	Ц Ц	97] 1(	75	Se Se	6.21 19	07	Зh В	[10]
<b>~</b>		00.1								2	00 54		0	95 [9			84 18	6 1		9]
		•					U	P	24	Ū	52.(	42	Ž	95.5	74	5	183.	10	S	[26
							L	n	23	>	50.94	41	qN	92.91	73	Ta	180.95	105	рр	[270]
							~	t	22	F	47.87	40	Zr	91.22	72	Ηf	178.49	104	Rf	[267]
							n	n	21	Sc	44.96	39	≻	88.91		La-Lu			Ac-Lr	
		2	4	Be	9.01	12	Mg	24.31	20	Ca	40.08	38	Sr	87.62	56	Ba	137.33	88	Ra	[226]
<del>.</del>		H 1.008	3	:=	6.94	11	Na	22.99	19	×	39.10	37	Rb	35.47	55	ა	32.91	87	F	[223]
		1						• •						3			-			

	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65	99	67	68	69	70	71
Lanthanoids	La	e U	Pr	PN	Pm	Sm	Eu	рд	Tb	D	θН	Ц	Tm	γb	Lu
	138.91	140.12	140.91	144.24	[145]	150.36	151.96	157.25	158.93	162.50	164.93	167.26	168.93	173.04	174.97
	89	90	91	92	93	94	95	96	97	98	66	100	101	102	103
Actinoids	٩c	Ч	Pa	⊃	dN	Pu	Am	с С	Bk	Ⴆ	Es	Fm	βd	No	Ļ
	[227]	232.04	231.04	238.03	[237]	[244]	[243]	[247]	[247]	[251]	[252]	[257]	[258]	[259]	[262]
Mass numbers in [ ] refer t Pa and U, the value of Ar is	o elemen s based o	ts which f n the terr	oossess no estrial iso	stable nu topic com	uclides; t iposition	he mass r	number g	iven is fo	r the lon	gest-lived	l isotope	of the ele	ement. Fo	or each of	Th,

Visit the *Inorganic Chemistry*, *fifth edition*, Companion Website at **www.pearsoned.co.uk/housecroft** to find valuable **student** learning material including:

- Multiple-choice questions to help test your learning
- Rotatable three-dimensional structures taken from the book
- Interactive periodic table

## CATHERINE E. HOUSECROFT & ALAN G. SHARPE INORGANIC CHERGENSTRY FIFTH EDITION

Harlow, England • London • New York • Boston • San Francisco • Toronto • Sydney • Dubai • Singapore • Hong Kong Tokyo • Seoul • Taipei • New Delhi • Cape Town • São Paulo • Mexico City • Madrid • Amsterdam • Munich • Paris • Milan

P

Pearson

PEARSON EDUCATION LIMITED KAO Two KAO Park Harlow CM17 9NA United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0)1279 623623 Web: www.pearson.com/uk

First published 2001 (print) Second edition published 2005 (print) Third edition published 2008 (print) Fourth edition published 2012 (print) **Fifth edition published 2018** (print and electronic)

© Pearson Education Limited 2001, 2005, 2008, 2012 (print) © Pearson Education Limited 2018 (print and electronic)

The rights of Catherine E. Housecroft and Alan G. Sharpe to be identified as authors of this work have been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

The print publication is protected by copyright. Prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, distribution or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, recording or otherwise, permission should be obtained from the publisher or, where applicable, a licence permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom should be obtained from the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Barnard's Inn, 86 Fetter Lane, London EC4A 1EN.

The ePublication is protected by copyright and must not be copied, reproduced, transferred, distributed, leased, licensed or publicly performed or used in any way except as specifically permitted in writing by the publishers, as allowed under the terms and conditions under which it was purchased, or as strictly permitted by applicable copyright law. Any unauthorised distribution or use of this text may be a direct infringement of the authors' and the publisher's rights and those responsible may be liable in law accordingly.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners.

Pearson Education is not responsible for the content of third-party internet sites.

ISBN: 978-1-292-13414-7 (print) 978-1-292-13416-1 (PDF) 978-1-292-20496-3 (ePub)

#### British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for the print edition is available from the British Library

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Housecroft, Catherine E., 1955- author.
Title: Inorganic chemistry / Catherine E. Housecroft and Alan G. Sharpe 1921-2008.
Description: Fifth edition. | Harlow, England : Pearson, 2018. | Includes index.
Identifiers: LCCN 2018000987| ISBN 9781292134147 (print) | ISBN 9781292134161 (PDF) | ISBN 9781292204963 (ePub)
Subjects: LCSH: Chemistry, Inorganic – Textbooks.
Classification: LCC QD151.3 .H685 2018 | DDC 546 – dc23
LC record available at https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A\_lccn.loc.gov\_ 2018000987&d=DwIFAg&c=0YLnzTkWOdJlub\_y7qAx8Q&r=Q1huLr\_hfN5hBmNklTyEbq NkqKPJUy4ujVI9zNDFILM&m=V4fCF4L4iTYidOCj5dhUxQ4ym2ryFkTcHgoOWMfq5U&s=1p1eQqM7gYYe35ajxv7YWozw6hLstzJ7eFO6v8mA6lQ&e=
10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

22 21 20 19 18

Cover image O Catherine Housecroft

Print edition typeset in 10/12.5pt and Times-Roman by SPi Global Printed in Slovakia by Neografia

NOTE THAT ANY PAGE CROSS REFERENCES REFER TO THE PRINT EDITION

# Summary of contents

	Guided tour	xxxiv
	Preface to the fifth edition	xxxvii
	Acknowledgements	xxxix
1	Basic concepts: atoms	1
2	Basic concepts: molecules	32
3	Introduction to molecular symmetry	62
4	Experimental techniques	90
5	Bonding in polyatomic molecules	144
6	Structures and energetics of metallic and ionic solid	s 177
7	Acids, bases and ions in aqueous solution	218
8	Reduction and oxidation	255
9	Non-aqueous media	283
10	Hydrogen	314
11	Group 1: the alkali metals	341
12	The group 2 metals	364
13	The group 13 elements	387
14	The group 14 elements	443
15	The group 15 elements	502
16	The group 16 elements	564
17	The group 17 elements	611
18	The group 18 elements	645
19	d-Block metal chemistry: general considerations	661
20	d-Block metal chemistry: coordination complexes	687
21	d-Block metal chemistry: the first row metals	738
22	d-Block metal chemistry: the heavier metals	803
23	Organometallic compounds of s- and p-block eleme	nts 875
24	Organometallic compounds of <i>d</i> -block elements	915

25	Catalysis and some industrial processes	971
26	d-Block metal complexes: reaction mechanisms	1007
27	The <i>f</i> -block metals: lanthanoids and actinoids	1033
28	Inorganic materials and nanotechnology	1065
29	The trace metals of life	1098
	Appendices	1141
	Answers to non-descriptive problems	1170
	Index	1191
	IUPAC: Brief Guide to the Nomenclature of Inorganic	
	Chemistry	1248

## Contents

	Guided tour	xxxiv
	Preface to the fifth edition	xxxvii
	Acknowledgements	xxxix
1	Basic concepts: atoms	1
1.1	Introduction	1
	Inorganic chemistry: it is not an isolated branch of chemistry The aims of Chapters 1 and 2	1 1
1.2	Fundamental particles of an atom	1
1.3	Atomic number, mass number and isotopes	2
	Nuclides, atomic number and mass number	2
	Relative atomic mass	2
	Isotopes	2
1.4	Successes in early quantum theory	4
	Some important successes of classical quantum theory	4
	Bohr's theory of the atomic spectrum of hydrogen	5
1.5	An introduction to wave mechanics	7
	The wave-nature of electrons	7
	The uncertainty principle	7
	The Schrödinger wave equation	7
1.6	Atomic orbitals	9
	The quantum numbers $n$ , $l$ and $m_l$	9
	The radial part of the wavefunction, $R(r)$	10
	The radial distribution function, $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$	12
	The angular part of the wavefunction, $A(\theta, \phi)$	12
	Orbital energies in a hydrogen-like species	15

	Size of orbitals The spin quantum number and the magnetic spin quantum number The ground state of the hydrogen atom	16 16 18
1.7	Many-electron atoms	18
	The helium atom: two electrons	18
	Ground state electronic configurations: experimental data	18
	Penetration and shielding	20
1.8	The periodic table	22
1.9	The <i>aufbau</i> principle	22
	Ground state electronic configurations	22
	Valence and core electrons Diagrammatic representations of electronic configurations	24 24
1 10	Ionization energies and electron affinities	25
1.10	Ionization energies	25
	Electron affinities	27
2	Basic concepts: molecules	32
2.1	Bonding models: an introduction	32
	A historical overview	32
	Lewis structures	32
2.2	Homonuclear diatomic molecules: valence bond (VB) theory	33
	Uses of the term <i>homonuclear</i>	33
	The valence bond (VB) model of bonding in $H_2$	33
	The valence bond (VB) model applied to $F_2$ , $O_2$ and $N_2$	35
2.3	Homonuclear diatomic molecules: molecular orbital (MO) theory	35
	An overview of the MO model	35
	Molecular orbital theory applied to the bonding in $H_2$ The bonding in $H_2$ . Li, and $P_2$	36
	The bonding in $F_2$ and $O_2$	30 39
	What happens if the $s-p$ separation is small?	41
2.4	The octet rule and isoelectronic species	42
	The octet rule: first row <i>p</i> -block elements	42
	Isoelectronic species The extet rule beauing a block elements	43
2 5	The octet fulle. heavier <i>p</i> -block elements	44
2.5	Electronegativity values	44
	Mulliken electronegativity values, $\chi^{M}$	44
	Allred–Rochow electronegativity values, $\chi^{AR}$	46
	Electronegativity: final remarks	46
2.6	Dipole moments	47
	Polar diatomic molecules	47
	Molecular dipole moments	48
2.7	MO theory: heteronuclear diatomic molecules	49
	which orbital interactions should be considered?	49

	Hydrogen fluoride	50
	Carbon monoxide	52
2.8	Molecular shape and the VSEPR model	52
	Valence-shell electron-pair repulsion model	52
	Structures derived from a trigonal bipyramid	55
	Limitations of the VSEPR model	56
2.9	Molecular shape: stereoisomerism	56
	Square planar species	56
	Octahedral species	57
	Trigonal bipyramidal species	57
	High coordination numbers	57
	Double bonds	58

3	Introduction to molecular symmetry	62
3.1	Introduction	62
3.2	Symmetry operations and symmetry elements	62
	Rotation about an <i>n</i> -fold axis of symmetry	63
	Reflection through a plane of symmetry (mirror plane)	63
	Reflection through a centre of symmetry (inversion centre)	65
	Rotation about an axis, followed by reflection through a plane	
	perpendicular to this axis	66
	Identity operator	66
3.3	Successive operations	68
3.4	Point groups	69
	$C_1$ point group	69
	$C_{\infty \gamma}$ point group	70
	$D_{\infty h}$ point group	70
	$T_{\rm d}, O_{\rm h}$ or $I_{\rm h}$ point groups	70
	Determining the point group of a molecule or molecular ion	70
3.5	Character tables: an introduction	73
3.6	Why do we need to recognize symmetry elements?	74
3.7	Vibrational spectroscopy	74
	How many vibrational modes are there for a given molecular species?	74
	Selection rules for an infrared or Raman active mode of vibration	75
	Linear $(D_{\infty h} \text{ or } C_{\infty v})$ and bent $(C_{2v})$ triatomic molecules	76
	Bent molecules $XY_2$ : using the $C_{2v}$ character table	77
	$XY_3$ molecules with $D_{3h}$ symmetry $XY_3$ molecules with $C_3$ symmetry	/8
	$XY_{4}$ molecules with $T_{3}$ or $D_{4}$ symmetry	80
	$XY_{\ell}$ molecules with $P_{d}$ of $D_{4h}$ symmetry XY_{\ell} molecules with $Q_{h}$ symmetry	81
	Metal carbonyl complexes, M(CO),	82
	Metal carbonyl complexes $M(CO)_{6-n}X_n$	82
	Observing IR spectroscopic absorptions	84
3.8	Chiral molecules	85

4	Experimental techniques	90
4.1	Introduction	90
4.2	Separation and purification techniques Gas chromatography (GC) Liquid chromatography (LC) High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) Recrystallization	<b>90</b> 90 91 92 93
4.3	Elemental analysis CHN analysis by combustion Atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS)	<b>93</b> 93 94
4.4	Compositional analysis: thermogravimetry (TG)	96
4.5	Mass spectrometry Electron ionization (EI) Fast atom bombardment (FAB) Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) Electrospray ionization (ESI)	<b>97</b> 97 98 99 101
4.6	Infrared and Raman spectroscopies Energies and wavenumbers of molecular vibrations The Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectrometer and sample preparation Diagnostic absorptions Deuterium/hydrogen exchange Raman spectroscopy	<b>102</b> 102 103 103 104 106
4.7	Electronic spectroscopy UV-VIS absorption spectroscopy Types of absorption Absorbance and the Beer–Lambert Law Emission spectroscopy	<b>108</b> 108 108 109 110
4.8	Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy NMR active nuclei and isotope abundance Which nuclei are suitable for NMR spectroscopic studies? Resonance frequencies and chemical shifts Chemical shift ranges Solvents for solution studies Integration of signals and signal broadening Homonuclear spin–spin coupling: <sup>1</sup> H– <sup>1</sup> H Heteronuclear spin–spin coupling: <sup>13</sup> C– <sup>1</sup> H Case studies Stereochemically non-rigid species Exchange processes in solution	<b>110</b> 111 111 112 112 112 114 114 115 115 117 120
4.9	Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy What is EPR spectroscopy? The Zeeman electronic effect EPR spectra	<b>121</b> 121 121 122
4.10	Mössbauer spectroscopy The technique of Mössbauer spectroscopy What can isomer shift data tell us?	<b>124</b> 124 125

4.11	Structure determination: diffraction methods X-ray diffraction (XRD) Single crystal X-ray diffraction Powder X-ray diffraction Single crystal neutron diffraction Electron diffraction Low-energy electron diffraction (LEED) Structural databases	<b>126</b> 127 129 129 130 130 130
4.12	Photoelectron spectroscopy (PES, UPS, XPS, ESCA)	130
4.13	Computational methods	131
	Hartree–Fock theory Density functional theory Hückel MO theory Molecular mechanics (MM)	132 132 132 132
5	Bonding in polyatomic molecules	144
5.1	Introduction	144
5.2	Valence bond theory: hybridization of atomic orbitals What is orbital hybridization? <i>sp</i> Hybridization: a scheme for linear species <i>sp</i> <sup>2</sup> Hybridization: a scheme for trigonal planar species	<b>144</b> 144 145
	$sp^{3}$ Hybridization: a scheme for tetrahedral and related species Other hybridization schemes	140 147 148
5.3	Valence bond theory: multiple bonding in polyatomic molecules $C_{2}H_{4}$ HCN $BF_{3}$	149 149 149 150
5.4	Natural bond orbitals	151
5.5	Molecular orbital theory: the ligand group orbital approach and application to triatomic molecules	151
	Molecular orbital diagrams: moving from a diatomic to polyatomic species MO approach to bonding in linear XH <sub>2</sub> : symmetry matching by inspection MO approach to bonding in linear XH <sub>2</sub> : working from molecular symmetry A bent triatomic: H <sub>2</sub> O	151 152 153 153
5.6	Molecular orbital theory applied to the polyatomic molecules BH <sub>3</sub> , NH <sub>3</sub> and CH <sub>4</sub> BH <sub>3</sub> NH <sub>3</sub> CH <sub>4</sub> A comparison of the MO and VB bonding models	<b>156</b> 156 157 159 160
5.7	Molecular orbital theory: bonding analyses soon become complicated	161
5.8	Molecular orbital theory: learning to use the theory objectively $\pi$ -Bonding in CO <sub>2</sub> $[NO_3]^-$ SF <sub>6</sub> Three-centre two-electron interactions A more advanced problem: B <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub>	<b>164</b> 165 165 167 169

6	Structures and energetics of metallic and ionic solids	177
6.1	Introduction	177
6.2	Packing of spheres	177
	Cubic and hexagonal close-packing	177
	The unit cell: hexagonal and cubic close-packing	178
	Interstitial holes: hexagonal and cubic close-packing	179
	Non-close-packing: simple cubic and body-centred cubic arrays	180
6.3	The packing-of-spheres model applied to the structures of elements	180
	Group 18 elements in the solid state	180
	$H_2$ and $F_2$ in the solid state	181
	Metallic elements in the solid state	181
6.4	Polymorphism in metals	182
	Polymorphism: phase changes in the solid state	182
	Phase diagrams	183
6.5	Metallic radii	183
6.6	Melting points and standard enthalpies of atomization of metals	184
6.7	Alloys and intermetallic compounds	184
	Substitutional alloys	185
	Interstitial alloys	185
	Intermetallic compounds	188
6.8	Bonding in metals and semiconductors	188
	Electrical conductivity and resistivity	188
	Band theory of metals and insulators	189
	The Fermi level	190
6.9	Semiconductors	190
	Intrinsic semiconductors	191
	Extrinsic (n- and p-type) semiconductors	191
6.10	Sizes of ions	191
	Ionic radii	193
	Periodic trends in ionic radii	193
6.11	Ionic lattices	195
	The rock salt (NaCl) structure type	196
	The caesium chloride (CsCl) structure type	197
	The fluorite $(CaF_2)$ structure type	198
	The antifluorite structure type	198
	The R prior blende (ZnS) structure type: a diamond-type network The R prior bality (SiO ) structure type:	198
	The wurtzite $(2nS)$ structure type	199
	The will $(TiO_2)$ structure type	199
	$CdI_2$ and $CdCl_2$ : layer structures	200
	The perovskite (CaTiO <sub>3</sub> ) structure type: a double oxide	200
6.12	Crystal structures of semiconductors	201
6.13	Lattice energy: estimates from an electrostatic model	201
	Coulombic attraction within an isolated ion-pair	201
	Coulombic interactions in an ionic lattice	202

	Born forces The Born–Landé equation Madelung constants Refinements to the Born–Landé equation Overview	202 203 203 204 204
6.14	Lattice energy: the Born–Haber cycle	204
6.15	Lattice energy: 'calculated' versus 'experimental' values	206
6.16	Estimating lattice energies of new materials The Kapustinskii equation The volume-based thermodynamic (VBT) approach	<b>206</b> 206 206
6.17	Applications of lattice energies Estimation of electron affinities Fluoride affinities Estimation of standard enthalpies of formation and disproportionation	208 208 208 209
6.18	Defects in solid state lattices Schottky defect Frenkel defect Experimental observation of Schottky and Frenkel defects Non-stoichiometric compounds Colour centres (F-centres) Thermodynamic effects of crystal defects	<ul> <li>210</li> <li>211</li> <li>211</li> <li>211</li> <li>212</li> <li>212</li> </ul>
7	Acids, bases and ions in aqueous solution	218
7.1	Introduction	218
7.2	Properties of water Structure and hydrogen bonding The self-ionization of water Water as a Brønsted acid or base	<b>218</b> 218 220 220
7.3	Definitions and units in aqueous solution Molarity and molality Standard state	<b>221</b> 221 221

Activity	222
Some Brønsted acids and bases	222
Carboxylic acids: examples of mono-, di- and polybasic acids Inorganic acids Inorganic bases: hydroxides	222 224 225
Inorganic bases: nitrogen bases	225
The energetics of acid dissociation in aqueous solution	226
Hydrogen halides $H_2S, H_2Se$ and $H_2Te$	226 227
Trends within a series of oxoacids $EO_n(OH)_m$	227
Aquated cations: formation and acidic properties Water as a Lewis base Aquated cations as Brønsted acids	<b>228</b> 228 230
	Activity Some Brønsted acids and bases Carboxylic acids: examples of mono-, di- and polybasic acids Inorganic acids Inorganic bases: hydroxides Inorganic bases: nitrogen bases The energetics of acid dissociation in aqueous solution Hydrogen halides $H_2S, H_2Se$ and $H_2Te$ Trends within a series of oxoacids $EO_n(OH)_m$ Aquated cations: formation and acidic properties Water as a Lewis base Aquated cations as Brønsted acids

7.8	Amphoteric oxides and hydroxides	231
	Amphoteric behaviour	231
	Periodic trends in amphoteric properties	231
7.9	Solubilities of ionic salts	232
	Solubility and saturated solutions Sparingly soluble salts and solubility products	232
	The energetics of the dissolution of an ionic salt: $\Delta_{sol}G^{\circ}$	232
	The energetics of the dissolution of an ionic salt: hydration of ions	234
	Solubilities: some concluding remarks	236
7.10	Common-ion effect	236
7.11	Coordination complexes: an introduction	237
	Definitions and terminology	237
	Investigating coordination complex formation	238
7.12	Stability constants of coordination complexes	239
	Determination of stability constants Trends in stepwise stability constants	241 241
	Thermodynamic considerations of complex formation: an introduction	242
7.13	Factors affecting the stabilities of complexes containing only	
	monodentate ligands	246
	Ionic size and charge	246
	Hard and soft metal centres and ligands	246
8	Reduction and oxidation	255
<b>8</b> 8 1	Reduction and oxidation	<b>255</b>
<mark>8</mark> 8.1	Reduction and oxidation Introduction Oxidation and reduction	<b>255</b> 255
<b>8</b> 8.1	Reduction and oxidation Introduction Oxidation and reduction Oxidation states	<b>255</b> 255 255 256
<b>8</b> 8.1	Reduction and oxidation Introduction Oxidation and reduction Oxidation states Stock nomenclature	<b>255</b> 255 256 256
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ ,	<b>255</b> <b>255</b> 256 256
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Usef calls and askumic calls	<b>255</b> 255 256 256 256 <b>257</b>
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$	<b>255</b> 255 256 256 256 <b>257</b> 257 258
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditions	<b>255</b> 255 256 256 256 <b>257</b> 257 258 261
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> </ul>
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> </ul>
<b>8</b> 8.1 8.2 8.3	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ Half-cells involving silver halidesMalf-cells involving silver halides	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> </ul>
8 8.1 8.2 8.3	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metal	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>266</li> </ul>
8 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metalDisproportionation reactions	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>269</li> <li>260</li> </ul>
8 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metalDisproportionation reactionsDisproportionationStabilizing species against disproportionation	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>269</li> <li>269</li> <li>270</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>8</li> <li>8.1</li> <li>8.2</li> <li>8.3</li> <li>8.4</li> <li>8.5</li> </ul>	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metalDisproportionation reactionsDisproportionationStabilizing species against disproportionationPotential diagrams	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>269</li> <li>270</li> <li>270</li> <li>270</li> </ul>
8 8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5 8.6	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metalDisproportionationStabilizing species against disproportionationPotential diagramsFrost-Ebsworth diagrams	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>269</li> <li>270</li> <li>270</li> <li>270</li> <li>272</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>8</li> <li>8.1</li> <li>8.2</li> <li>8.3</li> <li>8.4</li> <li>8.5</li> <li>8.6</li> </ul>	Reduction and oxidationIntroductionOxidation and reductionOxidation statesStock nomenclatureStandard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ , and relationships between $E^{\circ}$ , $\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $K$ Half-cells and galvanic cellsDefining and using standard reduction potentials, $E^{\circ}$ Dependence of reduction potentials on cell conditionsThe effect of complex formation or precipitation on $M^{z+}/M$ reduction potentialsHalf-cells involving silver halidesModifying the relative stabilities of different oxidation states of a metalDisproportionation reactionsDisproportionationStabilizing species against disproportionationPotential diagramsFrost-Ebsworth diagrams and their relationship to potential diagrams	<ul> <li>255</li> <li>255</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>256</li> <li>257</li> <li>258</li> <li>261</li> <li>265</li> <li>266</li> <li>267</li> <li>269</li> <li>270</li> <li>270</li> <li>272</li> <li>272</li> </ul>

8.7	The relationships between standard reduction potentials and some other quantities	275
	Factors influencing the magnitudes of standard reduction potentials Values of $\Delta_f G^\circ$ for aqueous ions	275 276
8.8	Applications of redox reactions to the extraction of elements from their ores Ellingham diagrams	<b>277</b> 277
9	Non-aqueous media	283
9.1	Introduction	283
9.2	Relative permittivity	284
9.3	Energetics of ionic salt transfer from water to an organic solvent	285
9.4	Acid-base behaviour in non-aqueous solvents Strengths of acids and bases Levelling and differentiating effects 'Acids' in acidic solvents Acids and bases: a solvent-oriented definition Proton-containing and aprotic solvents	286 286 286 287 287
9.5	Liquid sulfur dioxide	287
9.6	Liquid ammonia Physical properties Self-ionization Reactions in liquid NH <sub>3</sub> Solutions of <i>s</i> -block metals in liquid NH <sub>3</sub> Redox reactions in liquid NH <sub>3</sub>	288 288 288 290 291
9.7	Liquid hydrogen fluoride Physical properties Acid–base behaviour in liquid HF Electrolysis in liquid HF	<b>291</b> 291 291 293
9.8	Sulfuric acid and fluorosulfonic acid Physical properties of sulfuric acid Acid–base behaviour in liquid H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> Physical properties of fluorosulfonic acid	<b>293</b> 293 293 294
9.9	Superacids	294
9.10	Bromine trifluoride Physical properties Behaviour of fluoride salts and molecular fluorides in BrF <sub>3</sub> Reactions in BrF <sub>3</sub>	<b>296</b> 296 297
9.11	Dinitrogen tetraoxide Physical properties Reactions in $N_2O_4$	<b>297</b> 297 297
9.12	Ionic liquids Molten salt solvent systems Ionic liquids at ambient temperatures	<b>299</b> 299 300

9.13	Supercritical fluids	307
	Properties of supercritical fluids and their uses as solvents	307
	Supercritical fluids as media for inorganic chemistry	309
10	Hydrogen	314
10.1	Hydrogen: the simplest atom	314
10.2	The $H^+$ and $H^-$ ions	314
	The hydrogen ion (proton)	314
	The hydride ion	315
10.3	Isotopes of hydrogen	315
	Protium and deuterium	315
	Kinetic isotope effects	316
	Deuterated compounds	316
		518
10.4	Dihydrogen	318
	Occurrence Deviced properties	318
	Synthesis and uses	318
	Reactivity	322
10.5	Polar and non-polar E–H bonds	323
10.6	Hydrogen bonding	324
	The hydrogen bond	324
	Trends in boiling points, melting points and enthalpies of vaporization	
	for <i>p</i> -block binary hydrides	327
	Infrared spectroscopy	328
	Hydrogen bonding in biological systems	329
10 7	Binary hydrides: classification and general properties	332
	Classification	332
	Metallic hydrides	334
	Saline hydrides	334
	Molecular hydrides and complexes derived from them	335
	Covalent hydrides with extended structures	336
11	Group 1: the alkali metals	341
11.1	Introduction	341
11.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	341
	Occurrence	341
	Extraction	342
	Major uses of the alkali metals and their compounds	343
11.3	Physical properties	344
	General properties	344
	Atomic spectra and flame tests Radioactive isotopes	344
	NMR active nuclei	340

	Со	ntents	xvii
11.4	The metals Appearance Reactivity		<b>348</b> 348 348
11.5	Halides		350
11.6	Oxides and hydroxides Oxides, peroxides, superoxides, suboxides and ozonides Hydroxides		<b>351</b> 351 353
11.7	Salts of oxoacids: carbonates and hydrogencarbonates		353
11.8	Aqueous solution chemistry and macrocyclic complexes Hydrated ions Complex ions		<b>354</b> 354 355
11.9	Non-aqueous coordination chemistry		359
12	The group 2 metals		364
12.1	Introduction		364
12.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses Occurrence Extraction Major uses of the group 2 metals and their compounds		<b>364</b> 364 365 365
12.3	Physical properties General properties Flame tests Radioactive isotopes		<b>367</b> 367 367 367
12.4	The metals Appearance Reactivity		<b>369</b> 369 369
12.5	Halides Beryllium halides Halides of Mg, Ca, Sr and Ba		<b>370</b> 370 372
12.6	Oxides and hydroxides Oxides and peroxides Hydroxides		<b>374</b> 374 377
12.7	Salts of oxoacids		378
12.8	Complex ions in aqueous solution Aqua species of beryllium Aqua species of $Mg^{2+}$ , $Ca^{2+}$ , $Sr^{2+}$ and $Ba^{2+}$ Complexes with ligands other than water		<b>378</b> 378 379 380
12.9	Complexes with amido or alkoxy ligands		381
12.10	Diagonal relationships between Li and Mg, and between Be and A Lithium and magnesium Beryllium and aluminium	.	<b>382</b> 382 383

13	The group 13 elements	387
13.1	Introduction	387
13.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	387
	Occurrence	387
	Extraction	387
	Major uses of the group 13 elements and their compounds	389
13.3	Physical properties	391
	Electronic configurations and oxidation states	391
	NMR active nuclei	395
13.4	The elements	395
	Appearance	395
	Structures of the elements	395
	Reactivity	395
13.5	Simple hydrides	396
	Neutral hydrides	396
	The $[MH_4]^-$ ions	402
13.6	Halides and complex halides	403
	Boron halides: $BX_3$ and $B_2X_4$	403
	Al(III), Ga(III), In(III) and Tl(III) halides and their complexes	406
	Lower oxidation state Al, Ga, In and Tl halides	409
13.7	Oxides, oxoacids, oxoanions and hydroxides	411
	Boron oxides, oxoacids and oxoanions	411
	Aluminium oxides, oxoacids, oxoanions and hydroxides	414
	Oxides of Ga, in and II	416
13.8	Compounds containing nitrogen	416
	Nitrides Ternary boron nitrides	416
	Molecular species containing $B-N$ or $B-P$ honds	419
	Molecular species containing group 13 metal–nitrogen bonds	422
13.9	Aluminium to thallium: salts of oxoacids, aqueous solution	
	chemistry and complexes	423
	Aluminium sulfate and alums	423
	Aqua ions	423
	Redox reactions in aqueous solution	424
	Coordination complexes of the M <sup>3+</sup> ions	425
13.10	Metal borides	426
13.11	Electron-deficient borane and carbaborane clusters: an introduction	426
14	The group 14 elements	443
14.1	Introduction	443
14.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	443
	Occurrence	443
	Extraction and manufacture	444
	Uses	444

Contents	xix	

14.3	Physical properties	448
	Ionization energies and cation formation	448
	Some energetic and bonding considerations	450
	NMR active nuclei Mössbauer spectroscopy	452 452
1/1 /1	Allotropes of carbon	152
14.4	Granhite and diamond: structure and properties	452
	Graphite: intercalation compounds	454
	Fullerenes: synthesis and structure	455
	Fullerenes: reactivity	456
	Carbon nanotubes	461
14.5	Structural and chemical properties of silicon, germanium, tin and lead	461
	Chemical properties	461 461
14.6	Hydrides	462
	Binary hydrides	463
	Halohydrides of silicon and germanium	465
14.7	Carbides, silicides, germides, stannides and plumbides	466
	Carbides	466
	Silicides Zinthions containing Si. Co. Sn and Ph	467
14.0	Lefider and complex helider	407
14.8	Halides and complex halides	4/1
	Silicon halides	471
	Halides of germanium, tin and lead	474
14.9	Oxides, oxoacids and hydroxides	477
	Oxides and oxoacids of carbon	477
	Silica, silicates and aluminosilicates	480
	Oxides, hydroxides and oxoacids of germanium, tin and lead	488
14.10	Siloxanes and polysiloxanes (silicones)	490
14.11	Sulfides	491
14.12	Cyanogen, silicon nitride and tin nitride	494
	Cyanogen and its derivatives	494
	Silicon nitride	496
4442		490
14.13	Aqueous solution chemistry and salts of oxoacids of germanium, tin and lead	496
15	The group 15 elements	502
15.1	Introduction	502
15.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	503
	Occurrence	503
	Extraction	504
	Uses	505

15.3	Physical properties	507
	Bonding considerations	508
	NMR active nuclei	509
	Radioactive isotopes	510
15.4	The elements	510
	Nitrogen	510
	Phosphorus	510
	Arsenic, antimony and bismuth	512
15.5	Hydrides	513
	Trihydrides, $EH_3$ (E = N, P, As, Sb and Bi)	513
	Hydrides $E_2H_4$ (E = N, P, As)	517
	Chloramine and hydroxylamine	518
	Hydrogen azide and azide salts	520
15.6	Nitrides, phosphides, arsenides, antimonides and bismuthides	521
	Nitrides	521
	Phosphides	523
	Arsenides, antimonides and bismutnides	524
15.7	Halides, oxohalides and complex halides	525
	Nitrogen halides	525
	Oxofluorides and oxochlorides of nitrogen	527
	Phosphorus nandes Phosphoryl trichloride POCl	520
	Arsenic and antimony halides	531
	Bismuth halides	533
15.8	Oxides of nitrogen	534
	Dinitrogen monoxide, N <sub>2</sub> O	534
	Nitrogen monoxide, NO	535
	Dinitrogen trioxide, N <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	537
	Dinitrogen tetraoxide, $N_2O_4$ , and nitrogen dioxide, $NO_2$	537
	Dinitrogen pentaoxide, $N_2O_5$	539
15.9	Oxoacids of nitrogen	539
	Isomers of $H_2N_2O_2$	539
	Nitrous acid, HNO <sub>2</sub>	540
	Nume acid, HNO <sub>3</sub> , and its derivatives	540
15.10	Oxides of phosphorus, arsenic, antimony and bismuth	544
	Oxides of phosphorus	544
	Oxides of arsenic, antimony and bismuth	545
15.11	Oxoacids of phosphorus	545
	Phosphinic acid, H <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>2</sub>	547
	Phosphonic acid, $H_3PO_3$ Using displays the phosphonic acid, $H_3PO_3$	547
	Hypothemic acid, $\pi_4 F_2 O_6$ Phosphoric acid, $H_2 P O_4$ , and its derivatives	547 548
	Chiral phosphate anions	550
15 12	Oxoacids of arsenic, antimony and bismuth	550
45.42		
15.13	Phosphazenes	553

15.14	Sulfides and selenides	556
	Sulfides and selenides of phosphorus	556
	Arsenic, antimony and dismuth sundes	
15.15	Aqueous solution chemistry and complexes	558
16	The group 16 elements	564
16.1	Introduction	564
16.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	565
	Occurrence	565
	Extraction	565
	Uses	565
16.3	Physical properties and bonding considerations	567
	NMR active nuclei and isotopes as tracers	569
16.4	The elements	570
	Dioxygen	570
	Ozone Sulfur: allotropos	571
	Sulfur: reactivity	573
	Selenium and tellurium	575
16.5	Hydrides	576
	Water, H <sub>2</sub> O	576
	Hydrogen peroxide, $H_2O_2$	577
	Hydrides $H_2E$ (E = S, Se, Te)	580
	Polysulfanes	581
16.6	Metal sulfides, polysulfides, polyselenides and polytellurides	581
	Sulfides	581
	Polysulfides Polyselenides and polytellurides	581
16 7	Halides oxobalides and complex balides	582
10.7	Oxygen fluorides	584
	Sulfur fluorides and oxofluorides	585
	Sulfur chlorides and oxochlorides	588
	Halides of selenium and tellurium	589
16.8	Oxides	591
	Oxides of sulfur	591
	Oxides of selenium and tellurium	596
16.9	Oxoacids and their salts	597
	Dithionous acid, $H_2S_2O_4$	597
	Summous and disummous acids, $H_2SO_3$ and $H_2S_2O_5$ Dithionic acid $H_2S_2O_6$	599 600
	Sulfuric acid, H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	600
	Fluoro- and chlorosulfonic acids, HSO <sub>3</sub> F and HSO <sub>3</sub> Cl	602
	Polyoxoacids with S–O–S units	602
	Peroxysulturic acids, $H_2S_2O_8$ and $H_2SO_5$ Thiosulfuric acid. $H_2S_2O_8$ and polythiopates	602
	Oxoacids of selenium and tellurium	603

Contents xxi

16.10	Compounds of sulfur and selenium with nitrogen Sulfur-nitrogen compounds	<b>604</b> 604
	Tetraselenium tetranitride	606
16.11	Aqueous solution chemistry of sulfur, selenium and tellurium	606
17	The group 17 elements	611
17.1	Introduction	611
	Fluorine, chlorine, bromine and iodine Astatine and tennessine	611 612
17.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	612
	Occurrence Extraction Uses	612 612 613
17.3	Physical properties and bonding considerations	615
	NMR active nuclei and isotopes as tracers	618
17.4	The elements	620
	Difluorine	620
	Dichlorine, dibromine and diiodine	620
	Clathrates	623
17.5	Hydrogen halides	623
17.6	Metal halides: structures and energetics	624
17.7	Interhalogen compounds and polyhalogen ions	626
	Interhalogen compounds	626
	Bonding in $[XY_2]^-$ ions	630
	Polyhalogen cations Polyhalide anions	630 631
17.8	Oxides and oxofluorides of chlorine, bromine and iodine	631
	Oxides	632
	Oxofluorides	633
17.9	Oxoacids and their salts	634
	Hypofluorous acid, HOF	634
	Oxoacids of chlorine, bromine and iodine	634
17.10	Aqueous solution chemistry	638
18	The group 18 elements	645
18.1	Introduction	645
18.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	646
	Occurrence	646
	Extraction	647 647
10 7	Physical properties	0+/
10.3	NMR active nuclei	648 678
		0+0

		Contents	xxiii
18.4	Compounds of xenon Fluorides Chlorides Oxides Oxofluorides and oxochlorides Other compounds of xenon		<b>650</b> 650 654 654 654 655
18.5	Compounds of argon, krypton and radon		657
19	d-Block metal chemistry: general considerations		661
19.1	Topic overview		661
19.2	Ground state electronic configurations <i>d</i> -Block metals versus transition elements Electronic configurations		<b>661</b> 661 662
19.3	Physical properties		662
19.4	The reactivity of the metals		664
19.5	Characteristic properties: a general perspective Colour Paramagnetism Complex formation Variable oxidation states		<b>664</b> 665 665 665
19.6	Electroneutrality principle		666
19.7	Coordination numbers and geometries The Kepert model Coordination numbers in the solid state Coordination number 2 Coordination number 3 Coordination number 4 Coordination number 5 Coordination number 6 Coordination number 7 Coordination number 7 Coordination number 8 Coordination number 9 Coordination numbers of 10 and above Isomerism in <i>d</i> -block metal complexes Structural isomerism: ionization isomers Structural isomerism: hydration isomers		<ul> <li>667</li> <li>668</li> <li>669</li> <li>669</li> <li>669</li> <li>671</li> <li>672</li> <li>673</li> <li>674</li> <li>675</li> <li>676</li> <li>676</li> <li>677</li> <li>677</li> </ul>
<b>20</b> 20.1	Structural isomerism: coordination isomerism Structural isomerism: linkage isomerism Stereoisomerism: diastereoisomers Stereoisomerism: enantiomers <b>d-Block metal chemistry: coordination complexes</b> Introduction		677 677 678 679 <b>687</b> 687
	High- and low-spin states		687

20.2	Bonding in <i>d</i> -block metal complexes: valence bond theory Hybridization schemes	<b>688</b> 688
20.3	Crystal field theory The octahedral crystal field Crystal field stabilization energy: high- and low-spin octahedral complexes Jahn–Teller distortions The tetrahedral crystal field The square planar crystal field Other crystal fields Crystal field theory: uses and limitations	689 689 691 693 693 695 696 696
20.4	Molecular orbital theory: octahedral complexes Complexes with <i>no</i> metal–ligand $\pi$ -bonding Complexes with metal–ligand $\pi$ -bonding	<b>697</b> 697 698
20.5	Ligand field theory	703
20.6	Describing electrons in multi-electron systems Quantum numbers L and $M_L$ for multi-electron species Quantum numbers S and $M_S$ for multi-electron species Microstates and term symbols The quantum numbers J and $M_J$ Ground states of elements with $Z = 1-10$ The $d^2$ configuration	<b>703</b> 703 704 704 705 706 708
20.7	Electronic spectra: absorption Spectral features Charge transfer absorptions Selection rules Electronic absorption spectra of octahedral and tetrahedral complexes Interpretation of electronic absorption spectra: use of Racah parameters Interpretation of electronic absorption spectra: Tanabe–Sugano diagrams	709 709 710 711 712 715 718
20.8	Electronic spectra: emission	719
20.9	Evidence for metal-ligand covalent bonding The nephelauxetic effect EPR spectroscopy	<b>720</b> 720 721
20.10	Magnetic properties Magnetic susceptibility and the spin-only formula Spin and orbital contributions to the magnetic moment The effects of temperature on $\mu_{eff}$ Spin crossover Ferromagnetism, antiferromagnetism and ferrimagnetism	<b>721</b> 721 723 725 726 726
20.11	Thermodynamic aspects: ligand field stabilization energies (LFSE) Trends in LFSE Lattice energies and hydration energies of $M^{n+}$ ions Octahedral versus tetrahedral coordination: spinels	<b>728</b> 728 729 730
20.12	Thermodynamic aspects: the Irving–Williams series	730
20.13	Thermodynamic aspects: oxidation states in aqueous solution	731

21	d-Block metal chemistry: the first row metals	738
21.1	Introduction	738
21.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	738
21.3	Physical properties: an overview	743
21.4	Group 3: scandium	743
	The metal Scandium(III)	743 743
21.5	Group 4: titanium	744
	The metal	744
	Titanium(IV)	745
	Low oxidation states	748
21.6	Group 5: vanadium	749
	The metal	749
	Vanadium(V)	749
	Vanadium(IV)	750
	Vanadium(III) Vanadium(II)	752
217	Group 6: chromium	753
21.7	The metal	754
	Chromium(VI)	754
	Chromium(V) and chromium(IV)	756
	Chromium(III)	756
	Chromium (II) Chromium abromium multiple bonds	758
24.0		739
21.8	Group /: manganese	761
	Manganese(VII)	761
	Manganese(VI)	762
	Manganese(V)	763
	Manganese(IV)	764
	Manganese(III)	766
	Manganese(I)	767
21.9	Group 8: iron	769
	The metal	769
	Iron(VI), iron(V) and iron(IV)	769
	Iron(III)	771
	Iron in low oxidation states	777
21.10	Group 9: cobalt	777
	The metal	777
	Cobalt(IV)	778
	Cobalt(III)	778
	Codalt(II)	/81

21.11	Group 10: nickel	785
	The metal	785
	Nickel(IV) and nickel(III)	785
	Nickel(II)	786
	Nickel(I)	788
21.12	Group 11: copper	788
	The metal	788
	Copper(IV) and copper(III)	789
	Copper(II)	790
	Copper(I)	793
21.13	Group 12: zinc	796
	The metal	796
	Zinc(II)	796
	Zinc(I)	797

22	d-Block metal chemistry: the heavier metals	803
22.1	Introduction	803
22.2	Occurrence, extraction and uses	803
22.3	Physical properties Effects of the lanthanoid contraction Coordination numbers NMR active nuclei	<b>806</b> 809 809 809
22.4	Group 3: yttrium The metal Yttrium(III)	<b>810</b> 810 810
22.5	Group 4: zirconium and hafnium The metals Zirconium(IV) and hafnium(IV) Lower oxidation states of zirconium and hafnium Zirconium clusters	810 810 810 812 812
22.6	Group 5: niobium and tantalum The metals Niobium(V) and tantalum(V) Niobium(IV) and tantalum(IV) Lower oxidation state halides	<b>812</b> 812 813 815 816
22.7	Group 6: molybdenum and tungsten The metals Molybdenum(VI) and tungsten(VI) Molybdenum(IV) and tungsten(IV) Molybdenum(III) and tungsten(III) Molybdenum(II) and tungsten(III)	<b>817</b> 817 818 823 823 825 826
22.8	Group 7: technetium and rhenium The metals High oxidation states of technetium and rhenium: M(VII), M(VI) and M(V) Technetium(IV) and rhenium(IV)	<b>829</b> 829 829 832

	Contents	xxvii
	Technetium(III) and rhenium(III) Technetium(I) and rhenium(I)	834 835
22.9	Group 8: ruthenium and osmium The metals High oxidation states of ruthenium and osmium: M(VIII), M(VII) and M(VI) Ruthenium(V), (IV) and osmium(V), (IV) Ruthenium(II) and osmium(III) Ruthenium(II) and osmium(II) Mixed-valence ruthenium complexes	836 836 839 841 843 846
22.10	Group 9: rhodium and iridium The metals High oxidation states of rhodium and iridium: M(VI) and M(V) Rhodium(IV) and iridium(IV) Rhodium(III) and iridium(III) Rhodium(II) and iridium(II) Rhodium(I) and iridium(I)	847 847 847 847 848 851 851
22.11	Group 10: palladium and platinum The metals The highest oxidation states: M(VI) and M(V) Palladium(IV) and platinum(IV) Palladium(III), platinum(III) and mixed-valence complexes Palladium(II) and platinum(II) Platinum(-II)	<b>852</b> 852 853 854 855 858
22.12	Group 11: silver and gold The metals Gold(V) and silver(V) Gold(II) and silver(III) Gold(I) and silver(II) Gold(I) and silver(I) Gold(-I) and silver(-I)	860 860 860 861 863 866
22.13	Group 12: cadmium and mercury The metals Cadmium(II) Mercury(II) Mercury(I)	<b>866</b> 866 867 867 868
23	Organometallic compounds of <i>s</i> - and <i>p</i> -block elements	875
23.1	Introduction	875
23.2	Group 1: alkali metal organometallics	875
23.3	Group 2 organometallics Beryllium Magnesium Calcium, strontium and barium	<b>879</b> 879 880 882
23.4	Group 13 Boron Aluminium Gallium, indium and thallium	<b>884</b> 884 884 887

23.5	Group 14 Silicon Germanium Tin Lead Coparallel and tilted $C_5$ -rings in group 14 metallocenes	<b>892</b> 893 895 897 901 903
23.6	Group 15 Bonding aspects and E=E bond formation Arsenic, antimony and bismuth	<b>904</b> 904 905
23.7	Group 16 Selenium and tellurium	<b>909</b> 909
24	Organometallic compounds of <i>d</i> -block elements	915
24.1	Introduction	915
24.2	Common types of ligand: bonding and spectroscopy $\sigma$ -Bonded alkyl, aryl and related ligands Carbonyl ligands Hydride ligands Phosphane and related ligands $\pi$ -Bonded organic ligands Nitrogen monoxide Dinitrogen Dihydrogen	<b>915</b> 915 916 918 918 920 922 923 924
24.3	The 18-electron rule	925
24.4	Covalent bond classification (CBC)	926
24.5	Metal carbonyls: synthesis, physical properties and structure Synthesis and physical properties Structures	<b>928</b> 929 932
24.6	The isolobal principle and application of Wade's rules	934
24.7	Total valence electron counts in <i>d</i> -block organometallic clusters Single cage structures Condensed cages Limitations of total valence counting schemes	<b>937</b> 937 939 939
24.8	Types of organometallic reactions Substitution of CO ligands Oxidative addition Alkyl and hydrogen migrations β-Hydrogen elimination	<b>940</b> 940 940 941 942

	α-Hydrogen abstraction Summary	943 943
24.9	Metal carbonyls: selected reactions	944
24.10	Metal carbonyl hydrides and halides	945
24.11	Alkyl, aryl, alkene and alkyne complexes $\sigma$ -Bonded alkyl and aryl ligands	<b>947</b> 947

		Contents	ххіх
	Alkene ligands Alkyne ligands		947 950
24.12	Allyl and buta-1,3-diene complexes Allyl and related ligands Buta-1,3-diene and related ligands		<b>951</b> 951 953
24.13	Carbene and carbyne complexes		953
24.14	Complexes containing $\eta^5$ -cyclopentadienyl ligands Ferrocene and other metallocenes $(\eta^5$ -Cp) <sub>2</sub> Fe <sub>2</sub> (CO) <sub>4</sub> and derivatives		<b>955</b> 956 958
24.15	Complexes containing η <sup>6</sup> - and η <sup>7</sup> -ligands η <sup>6</sup> -Arene ligands Cycloheptatriene and derived ligands		<b>962</b> 962 963
24.16	Complexes containing the $\eta^4\mbox{-}cyclobutadiene$ ligand		964
25	Catalysis and some industrial processes		971
25.1	Introduction and definitions		971
25.2	Catalysis: introductory concepts Energy profiles for a reaction: catalysed versus non-catalysed Catalytic cycles Choosing a catalyst		<b>971</b> 971 972 974
25.3	Homogeneous catalysis: alkene (olefin) and alkyne metathesis		974
25.4	Homogeneous catalytic reduction of $N_2$ to $NH_3$		977
25.5	Homogeneous catalysis: industrial applications Alkene hydrogenation Monsanto and Cativa acetic acid syntheses Tennessee–Eastman acetic anhydride process Hydroformylation (Oxo-process) Alkene oligomerization		<b>978</b> 978 982 983 984 986
25.6	Homogeneous catalyst development Polymer-supported catalysts Biphasic catalysis		<b>986</b> 986 987
25.7	Heterogeneous catalysis: surfaces and interactions with adsorba	tes	989
25.8	Heterogeneous catalysis: commercial applications Alkene polymerization: Ziegler–Natta catalysis and metallocene catal Fischer–Tropsch carbon chain growth Haber–Bosch process Production of SO <sub>3</sub> in the Contact process Catalytic converters Zeolites as catalysts for organic transformations: uses of ZSM-5	ysts	<b>991</b> 993 994 995 996 997
25.9	Heterogeneous catalysis: organometallic cluster models		998

26	d-Block metal complexes: reaction mechanisms	1007
26.1	Introduction	1007
26.2	Ligand substitutions: some general points Kinetically inert and labile complexes Stoichiometric equations say nothing about mechanism Types of substitution mechanism Activation parameters	<b>1007</b> 1007 1008 1009 1009
26.3	Substitution in square planar complexes Rate equations, mechanism and the <i>trans</i> -effect Ligand nucleophilicity	<b>1010</b> 1010 1013
26.4	Substitution and racemization in octahedral complexes Water exchange The Eigen–Wilkins mechanism Stereochemistry of substitution Base-catalysed hydrolysis Isomerization and racemization of octahedral complexes	<b>1015</b> 1015 1017 1018 1020 1021
26.5	Electron-transfer processes Inner-sphere mechanism Outer-sphere mechanism	<b>1022</b> 1022 1025
27	The <i>f</i> -block metals: lanthanoids and actinoids	1033
27.1	Introduction	1033
27.2	f-Orbitals and oxidation states	1035
27.3	Atom and ion sizes The lanthanoid contraction Coordination numbers	<b>1036</b> 1036 1036
27.4	Spectroscopic and magnetic properties Electronic spectra and magnetic moments: lanthanoids Luminescence of lanthanoid complexes Electronic spectra and magnetic moments: actinoids	<b>1037</b> 1037 1040 1041
27.5	Sources of the lanthanoids and actinoids Occurrence and separation of the lanthanoids The actinoids	<b>1041</b> 1041 1041
27.6	Lanthanoid metals	1043
27.7	Inorganic compounds and coordination complexes of the lanthanoids Halides Hydroxides and oxides Complexes of Ln(III)	<b>1045</b> 1045 1046 1046
27.8	Organometallic complexes of the lanthanoids $\sigma$ -Bonded complexes Cyclopentadienyl complexes Bis(arene) derivatives Complexes containing the $\eta^8$ -cyclooctatetraenyl ligand	<b>1048</b> 1048 1051 1053 1053

		Contents	xxxi
27.9	The actinoid metals		1053
27.10	Inorganic compounds and coordination complexes of thorium, uranium and plutonium Thorium Uranium Plutonium		<b>1054</b> 1054 1055 1057
27.11	Organometallic complexes of thorium and uranium $\sigma$ -Bonded complexes Cyclopentadienyl derivatives Complexes containing the $\eta^8$ -cyclooctatetraenyl ligand		<b>1058</b> 1058 1058 1059
28	Inorganic materials and nanotechnology		1065
28.1	Introduction		1065
28.2	Electrical conductivity in ionic solids Sodium and lithium ion conductors <i>d</i> -Block metal(II) oxides		<b>1065</b> 1066 1068
28.3	Transparent conducting oxides and their applications in devices Sn-doped In <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> (ITO) and F-doped SnO <sub>2</sub> (FTO) Dye-sensitized solar cells (DSCs) Solid state lighting: OLEDs Solid state lighting: LECs		<b>1068</b> 1068 1069 1070 1071
28.4	Superconductivity Superconductors: early examples and basic theory High-temperature superconductors Iron-based superconductors Chevrel phases Superconducting properties of MgB <sub>2</sub> Applications of superconductors		<b>1072</b> 1073 1073 1075 1076 1077 1077
28.5	Ceramic materials: colour pigments White pigments (opacifiers) Adding colour		<b>1078</b> 1078 1079
28.6	Chemical vapour deposition (CVD) High-purity silicon for semiconductors α-Boron nitride Silicon nitride and carbide III–V Semiconductors Metal deposition Ceramic coatings Perovskites and cuprate superconductors		1079 1080 1080 1080 1081 1083 1083 1083
28.7	Inorganic fibres Boron fibres Carbon fibres Silicon carbide fibres Alumina fibres		<b>1085</b> 1085 1086 1087 1088
28.8	Graphene		1088
28.9	Carbon nanotubes		1091

29	The trace metals of life	1098
29.1	Introduction	1098
	Amino acids, peptides and proteins: some terminology	1100
29.2	Metal storage and transport: Fe, Cu, Zn and V	1101
	Iron storage and transport	1101
	Metallothioneins: transporting some toxic metals	1108
29.3	Dealing with O <sub>2</sub>	1109
	Haemoglobin and myoglobin	1109
	Haemerythrin	1112
	Cytochromes P-450	1116
29.4	Biological redox processes	1117
	Blue copper proteins	1117
	The mitochondrial electron-transfer chain	1118
	Cytochromes	1120
29.5	The Zn <sup>2+</sup> ion: Nature's Lewis acid	1130
	Carbonic anhydrase II	1130
	Carboxypeptidase A	1132
	Carboxypeptidase G2	1133
	Cobalt-for-zinc ion substitution	1133
	Appendices	1141
1	Greek letters with pronunciations	1142
2	Abbreviations and symbols for quantities and units	1143
3	Selected character tables	1149
4	The electromagnetic spectrum	1153
5	Naturally occurring isotopes and their abundances	1155
6	Van der Waals, metallic, covalent and ionic radii	1158
7	Pauling electronegativity values ( $\chi^{P}$ ) for selected elements of the periodic table	1160
8	Ground state electronic configurations of the elements and ionization energies	1161
9	Electron affinities	1164
10	Standard enthalpies of atomization $(\Delta_{\mathbf{a}}\textit{H}^{\circ})$ of the elements at 298 K	1165
11	Selected standard reduction potentials (298 K)	1166
12	Selected bond enthalpy terms	1169
	Answers to non-descriptive problems	1170
	Index	1191
	IUPAC: Brief Guide to the Nomenclature of Inorganic Chemistry	1248

#### **Supporting resources**

Visit www.pearsoned.co.uk/housecroft to find valuable online resources

#### **Companion Website for students**

- Multiple-choice questions to help test your learning
- Rotatable three-dimensional structures taken from the book
- Interactive periodic table

#### For instructors

- Downloadable Instructor's Manual
- PowerPoint slides of figures and tables from the book

Also: The Companion Website provides the following features:

- Email results of quizzes to instructors
- Online help and support to assist with website usage and troubleshooting

For more information please contact your local Pearson Education sales representative or visit **www.pearsoned.co.uk/housecroft** 

### **Guided tour**

#### Key definitions are highlighted



Worked examples are given throughout the text

Self-study exercises allow students to test their understanding


Illustrated Topic boxes provide in-depth theoretical background for students

APPLICATIONS			
Box 17.2 Iodine: from X-ray contrast ag	gents to disinfectants and catalytic uses	Box 21.2 Copper: resources and recy	cling
The annual output of iodine is significantly lower than that of chlorine or bromme, blue, nonetheless, it has a wide mage of the set of raise of raise particular structures and the set of the set of raise of raise particular on the set of the set of the set of the mediate compounds are markened before the final application in readered. One main application of certain iodine-containing compounds is as X-ray contrast agents. Such agents are ratio used to use the particular of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the reader of the set of the set of the set of the set of the reader of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of	has been used as an antiseptic since the 1950s, the nature of the interaction between PVP and 1 <sub>3</sub> is not fully elucidated. Elec- tion the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the followed by release of $\Gamma$ is on and formation of [13]. "When $\Gamma$ is released, the formation of [IVP $\sim$ II] has been proposed but not growen. An alternative proposal is the formation of VPP This [13], "so growing the structure backboxe. Uses of I <sub>2</sub> as a disinfectant range from wound antiseptics and disin- fecting shits hefter surgery to maintaining germ-free swimming peols and water supplies.	The resource of copper on the Earth's surface into respect to the end of the proof of the Earth's surface into respect to hope to be proof in bottlenet. minorith and deeps modules. The main copper or for trainformation line in chalce prive (CuFeS). The conventional euraneous process involve smelling and produces large quantities of S00, (see Box 16.5 Reactions that accore during unchange include; $\mathbb{C}CuFeS_1 + 4O_2 \xrightarrow{-} (CuS_1 + 2FeS + SO_2)$ $\mathbb{C}CuFeS_2 + 4O_2 \xrightarrow{-} (CuS_2 + 2FeS + SO_2)$ $\mathbb{C}CuS_2 + 3O_2 \xrightarrow{-} (CuS_2 + 2FeS + SO_2)$ $\mathbb{C}CuS_2 + 3O_2 \xrightarrow{-} (CuS_2 + 2FeS + SO_2)$ $\mathbb{C}CuS_2 + 3O_2 \xrightarrow{-} (CuS_2 + 2FeS + SO_2)$	
patient in whore a kidney store has passed into the ureter but could not be passed into the bladder. The resulting obstruction causes dilation of the ureter and renal pelvis.		$\begin{array}{c} Cu_2O + FeS \xrightarrow{\Delta} Cu_2S + FeO\\ 10Cu_2O + 3FeS \xrightarrow{\Delta} 20Cu + Fe_3O_4 + 3SO_2\\ 3FeO_4 + FeS \xrightarrow{\Delta} 10FeO + SO_3 \end{array}$	Bioleaching of copper from copper sulfide ores at the Skour copper mine in Cyprus, important for environmental reasons: dumping of waste to pollution a p of mater copolice. In the advarcance indu-
	As an industrial level, the square planar isolike-completes, etc.BB(CO_J), if and scip1(CO_J), if are the catalysis for the More than a divide a science of a divide science of the More than a divide a science of an divide science of the More than a divide a science of a divide science of the SA application of dise as a stabilizer included is the incorpor- tion into spin used in carpet and tyre manufacture. Iolized a dimini feed anglements are responsible for reduced instances of goine (calarged flyweid gland) which are otherwise preva- lent in regions where the induce corone to ol and drinking the interpretion where the induce corone (2000), among dyes that have a high iodine contact is explicitly on the science of drinks, gatantis and cale cings. The use of <sup>11</sup> has a medical midiosistopic is described at the ori of Sciento 17.3.	Fed in convented to FeGO, (added <i>interp</i> ) protection with 500 for the 100 meV saw over protectionaire modeling more start for the fed in meet H500 for the median process to examel C for copyer events other mutant mining, e.g. azarrie (Ca(0)H3)(CO <sub>3</sub> ) and mutachile (Ca(0)H3)(CO <sub>3</sub> ). OCOPY is extracted in the form of aqueous CSOP, This is mored with an organic sobtent, chosen so that it can estima C (SOP), such a copyer law (SOP) and (SOP)	solutions of NB <sub>1</sub> —NB <sub>1</sub> C1 in the presence of O <sub>2</sub> are used to Cu in printed civic bundt. The resulting Cu(1) was subjected to a precess analogous to SXEW described a The waste in first trended with an organic solvent X14 wh a compound of the type RRCOHICCNOHR; the corp base of which can induction as a linguist. $[Cu(u+(t_1)_{i}]^{-1}(a_{i}) + 2XH_2(a_{i}) + 2XH_4(a_{i}) $
An introveneus systeption (IVP) imaged by using X-mys and an isoline-based contrast agent. An important application of elemental iodine is as a biocide and disinferbant. Since 1, is insoluble in source, subhilting agent stack to apply-Variel/2-participation (PVP) pare required		cilline thioroidant oxidize sufface to sufface ice, and this bioloaching process non-works in parallel with SXEW as substitute for a significant fraction of conventional methin operations. assumption of the increased only by star and al. The recovery of Cn from scrap sendi s an exoanti- part of coppre-based industries, e.g. in 2018 in the SX. recycle metal constituted rs32% of the CM supply. Workdwide mut production in 2015 was its 75M, with 300 originating for	beat precessing in a Chilan mine'. ME: Hope and OJ. Philip Chilan Mine', Sci. En. vol. 31, p. 57 – "Bioschaological recovery of metals from secondary sources – An overview'. Lee, S. Aar, D.L. Deerr and J.A. Biorley (2011) Hird tailargy, vol. 105, p. 213 – 'Comparative bioleachin mineralogy of composide solidor oses containing en- ergeneitie and chalcocle by meophilic and therme microorganism'.

Illustrated Topic boxes reveal how inorganic chemistry is applied to real-life situations

Illustrated Topic boxes relate inorganic chemistry to real-life in the areas of the **Environment** 







**End-of-chapter problems**, including a set of overview problems, which test the full range of material from each chapter

**Inorganic Chemistry Matters** problems, which are set in a contemporary real-world context

# Preface to the fifth edition

*Inorganic Chemistry* is a popular, internationally acknowledged textbook which gives a robust foundation for undergraduate and graduate students in physical inorganic principles, descriptive inorganic chemistry, bioinorganic chemistry and applications of the subject in catalysis, industrial processes and materials. Capturing the imagination and interest of students can be challenging, and *Inorganic Chemistry* addresses this challenge by the use of well-illustrated boxed material linking elements and inorganic compounds to the environment, biology, medicine and industry. The continuing success of *Inorganic Chemistry* is due in part to the extensive use of worked examples, self-study exercises and end-of-chapter problems which help students grasp basic principles as well as apply principles and methods to problems, many of which use literature data.

Twenty years ago, when I started working with Alan Sharpe on the first edition of *Inor-ganic Chemistry*, it was possible to manually trawl the high-impact journals to uncover major advances in the field, and to select material for inclusion in the textbook. In 2017, this is a daunting task, and it has become impossible to incorporate all significant developments without the textbook growing in size beyond practical limits. I have therefore had to apply rather stringent (and, probably, personal) criteria in selecting new compounds and topics to include in the 5th edition of *Inorganic Chemistry*.

A momentous development in the last few years has been the extension of the periodic table and the completion of the (currently) last row to the element with atomic number 118. In December 2016, the IUPAC published the accepted names for elements 113 (nihonium), 115 (moscovium), 117 (tennessine) and 118 (oganesson). The periodic table inside the cover of this book reflects the current state of our knowledge of these elements. The introductory sections to relevant chapters have been updated to include these new 'super-heavy' elements. However, the paucity of chemical data for them precludes in-depth discussion, and periodic trends (in particular in the *p*-block where the seventh row is now complete) are discussed in terms of the properties of the well-established elements.

In addition to updating data throughout the book, I have made significant changes to parts of two chapters. The Kapustinskii equation has been in use since 1956 for estimating lattice energies of ionic compounds. In this edition of *Inorganic Chemistry*, I have updated Chapter 6 to include the volume-based thermodynamic (VBT) approach to lattice energies. With appropriate ion volume data available in the literature, the VBT approach provides a straightforward method that students can apply in order to gain insight into the thermodynamic stability of a new material. In Chapter 24, the sections on electron-counting and bonding have been updated with the addition of the covalent bond classification (CBC) of ligands. This method complements the 'neutral metal atom and ligand' approach that has been used in previous editions of *Inorganic Chemistry*, and provides a valuable teaching tool already favoured by many inorganic chemists.

As in previous editions, IUPAC nomenclature has been foremost in my mind. However, old habits die hard and I have also retained trivial names where appropriate. In 2015, the IUPAC published a 'Brief guide to the nomenclature of inorganic chemistry'. This is an invaluable source of information to students and teachers alike and is available online (www.iupac.org/cms/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Inorganic-Brief-Guide-V1-1.pdf; https://iupac.org/project/2010-055-1-800) and is also included at the back of this book. The IUPAC Commission on Isotopic Abundances and Atomic weights (www.ciaaw.org) has published revised atomic weights for a number of elements and these data are now incorporated into *Inorganic Chemistry*; the most significant changes are to the atomic weights of Zn (changed from 65.409 to 65.38, reversing a change made in 2001) and Ti (updated from 47.90 to 47.87).

The full-colour, 3-dimensional molecular structures in *Inorganic Chemistry* which are so much part of the appeal of the textbook to students have been redrawn to give the book a more modern feel. Molecular structures have been constructed using Spartan '16, v. 1.1.1, Wavefunction Inc., or have been drawn using atomic coordinates accessed from the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Base (original citations are given throughout the book) or the Protein Data Bank (www.rcsb.org/pdb, original PDB codes are given in the figure captions in the book).

Accompanying this text is a *Solutions Manual* and there is an accompanying website (www.pearsoned.co.uk/housecroft) with multiple choice questions and rotatable structures based on the graphics in the hard-copy text.

The evolution of a text such as *Inorganic Chemistry* through a series of editions and many language translations is greatly assisted by the communications that I receive from those who use the book, and from my colleagues around the globe. On going from the fourth to fifth editions, I particularly acknowledge the input of Professor Anthony Addison (Drexel University), Professor Duncan Bruce (University of York), Professor Gareth Eaton (University of Denver), Professors Alan Hutton, Graham Jackson, Greg Smith and Tim Egan (University of Cape Town), Professor Dave McMillin (Purdue University), Dr Paul Seybold (Wright State University), Professor Steve Strauss (Colorado State University), Dr Jahansooz Toofan (California State University, Sacramento), Professor Davit Zargarian (University of Montreal), Dr Marcus Wolf and Daniela Goncalves. The panel of reviewers commissioned by the publisher is also thanked for providing thought-provoking feedback on the fourth edition of *Inorganic Chemistry*, and I am grateful to Professors Alan Hutton and Jan Reedijk for answering questions concerning IUPAC nomenclature.

I am indebted to Professor Don Jenkins for lively discussions about lattice energies which have helped me to reshape parts of Chapter 6, and I am also grateful to Professors Malcolm Green and Ged Parkin for feedback on new material in Chapter 24. I am also thankful for the time that several colleagues have spent reading and commenting upon specific sections of text, in particular Professors Gary Long and Fernande Grandjean (Mössbauer spectroscopy) and Professor Gareth Eaton (EPR spectroscopy). The publishing team at Pearson has been a great support for the fifth edition, and specific thanks go to Kevin Ancient, Anita Atkinson, Archana Makhija, Ros Woodward, Janey Webb and Richelle Zakrzewski.

My husband, Edwin Constable, is an endless source of enthusiastic chemical criticism – thank you from my heart, Ed, for your continued support. Rocco and Rya joined the writing team of *Inorganic Chemistry* for the fourth edition and have contributed to the fifth edition in their characteristic feline manner. Being at the top of the family hierarchy, they are not always the most patient of household members and are quick to let me know when attention, food and games are more important than chemistry. Writing would not be so much fun without my Siamese companions. Their nonchalant walks over the keyboard of my iMac occasionally lead to spurious characters in the manuscript. Nonetheless, any errors in the text remain the responsibility of the author.

Catherine E. Housecroft Basel March 2017

In the 3-dimensional structures, unless otherwise stated, the following colour coding is used: C, grey; H, white; O, red; N, blue; F and Cl, green; S, yellow; P, orange; B, blue.

# Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the following for permission to reproduce copyright material:

## Figures

Frontmatter (periodic table) from 28th November 2016 Copyright 2016 © IUPAC the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry, IUPAC, Pure Appl. Chem. 87, 1039–1049 (2015). Publication of this document by any means is permitted on condition that it is whole and unchanged. Copyright () IUPAC & De Gruyter 2015.; Figure 4.13 from Infrared spectra of metallic complexes IV Comparison of the infrared spectra of unidentate and bidentate metallic complexes, Journal of the American Chemistry Society, 79 (19), 4904–4908 (Nakamoto K., Fujita J., Tanaka S. and Kobayashi M. 1957), Reprinted with permission from American Chemical Society Copyright © 1957; Figure 4.36 from Encyclopedia of Spectroscopy and Spectrometry Electron diffraction theory and methods, Figure 7 Elsevier (Hargittai, I. & Hargittai M. 2010) 461-465, Copyright © 2010 with permission from Elsevier; Figure 7.14 adapted from Emission Spectroscopic Properties of the Red Form of Dichloro(2,2'-bipyridine)platinum(II). Role of Intermolecular Stacking Interactions, Inorganic Chemistry, 35(21), 6261-6265 (Connick W.B., Henling L.M., Marsh R.E and Gray H.B. 1996), Adapted with permission from American Chemical Society Copyright © 1996; Figure 13.8 from Synthesis of high quality inorganic fullerene-like BN hollow spheres via a simple chemical route Chemical Communications, 21, 2688–2689 (Wang X., Xie Y. and Guo Q. 2003), Royal Society of Chemistry Copyright © 1996, American Chemical Society; Figure 20.4 adapted from Comprehensive Co-ordination Chemistry II *Volume 9 9.12 – Metal Complexes as Speciality Dyes and Pigments* (Gregory P. 2004) p562 Figure 4, Copyright © 2004 with permission from Elsevier; Figure 20.26 adapted from Luminescence of Chromium(III) Complexes in Rigid Glass, Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie, 40(5-6), 280–300 (Porter G.B. & Schläfer H.L. 1964), De Gruyter published on-line Aug 29, 2011 Copyright © 2011, Walter de Gruyter Berlin, Boston (2011). Copyright and all rights reserved. Material from this publication has been used with the permission of Walter De Gruyter GmbH; Figure 21.45 from Speciation of insulinmimetic VO(IV)-containing drugs in blood serum Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry, 80 (1-2), 65–73 (Kiss T., Kiss E., Garribba E. & Sakurai H. 2000), Copyright © 2000 Elsevier Science Inc. All rights reserved.; Figure 22.17 adapted from Where Is the Limit of Highly Fluorinated High-Oxidation-State Osmium Species? Inorganic Chemistry, 45 (26), 10497-10502 (Riedel, S and Kaupp, M. 2006), Adapted with permission from American Chemical Society Copyright © 2006; Figure 24.12 from A new approach to the formal classification of covalent compounds of the elements Figure 8, Journal of Organometallic Chemistry, 500 (1-2), 127-148 (Green M.L.H. 1995), Copyright © 1995 Elsevier B.V with permission

from Elsevier; Figure 26.1 adapted from S.F. Lincoln (2005) *Helv. Chim. Acta* 88, 523 (Figure 1) (Lincoln S.F. 2005), © Wiley-VHCA AG, Zurich, Switzerland; Figure 27.3 from Narrow band photoluminescence of europium-doped liquid crystals *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 12, 3374–3376 (Binnemans K. & Moors D. 2002), Copyright © 2002, Royal Society of Chemistry; Figure 29.8 from Hemoglobin–nitric oxide cooperativity: is no the third respiratory ligand?, *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 36(4), 402–412 (Kim-Shapiro D.B. 2004), Copyright © 2003 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Text

Endmatter from Brief Guide to the Nomenclature of Inorganic Chemistry *Pure Applied Chemistry* 87 87, 1039–1049 (2015), Copyright © IUPAC & De Gruyter 2015, IUPAC, Pure Appl. Chem. 87, 1039–1049 (2015). Publication of this document by any means is permitted on condition that it is whole and unchanged. Copyright © IUPAC & De Gruyter 2015.

#### **Picture Credits**

The publisher would like to thank the following for their kind permission to reproduce their photographs.

(Key: b-bottom; c-centre; l-left; r-right; t-top, b/g-background)

Alamy Stock Photo: Ashley Cooper pics / Alamy Stock Photo 268tr, Cultura Creative (RF) / Alamy Stock Photo 1088tl, DJC / Alamy Stock Photo 789cr, E.R. Degginger / Alamy Stock Photo 763tr, Fedor Selivanov / Alamy Stock Photo 333tr, Frank Vetere / Alamy Stock Photo 550tr, imageBROKER / Alamy Stock Photo 375tr, Jeff Morgan 07 / Alamy Stock Photo 376tr, Jim West / Alamy Stock Photo 347tr, Juice Images / Alamy Stock Photo 119tr, kpzfoto / Alamy Stock Photo 103cl, laboratory / Alamy Stock Photo 448tr, Larry Lilac / Alamy Stock Photo 582tl, Marmaduke St. John / Alamy Stock Photo 320tl, NASA Archive / Alamy Stock Photo 391tr, P Cox / Alamy Stock Photo 1086tr, Paul White - UK Industries / Alamy Stock Photo 368tr, Phil Degginger / Alamy Stock Photo 1073bl, philipus / Alamy Stock Photo 805tr, RGB Ventures / SuperStock / Alamy Stock Photo 888tr, Richard R Handley / Alamy Stock Photo 186br, Rick Dalton - Ag / Alamy Stock Photo 515cr, Rob Walls / Alamy Stock Photo 333bl, Scott Camazine / Alamy Stock Photo 616cl, Sean Pavone / Alamy Stock Photo 619tr, Sergey Borisov / Alamy Stock Photo 593tr, Sergiy Tryapitsyn / Alamy Stock Photo 598tr, Sophie James / Alamy Stock Photo 187br, / Alamy Stock Photo 775br, Sunpix Travel / Alamy Stock Photo 342cl, ZUMA Press, Inc. / Alamy Stock Photo 492cr; Prof. Edwin C. Constable: 92bl, 218t (b/g), 255t (b/g), 302cr, 314t (b/g), 341t (b/g), 342bl, 364t (b/g), 447tr, 502 (b/g), 611t (b/g), 741bl, 1007t (b/g), 1099cr; Getty Images: Corbis Documentary / Ted Spiegel 379cr, E+ / OwenPrice / Getty Images 647br; Prof. Catherine Housecroft: 126tr, 495cr; Dr Markus Neuburger: 128tl; Peter Visser, OLED-LIGHTING.com: 1070tr; Science Photo Library Ltd: Adam Hart-Davis / Science Photo Library 1078tl, Alfred Pasieka / Science Photo Library 807tr, Andrew Brookes, National Physical Laboratory / Science Photo Library 131tr, 346tr, Andrew Lambert Photography / Science Photo Library 184tr, 257tr, Astrid & Hanns-Frieder Michler / Science Photo Library 371tr, C.S Langlois, Publiphoto Diffusion / Science Photo Library 566cr, Christian Koch, Microchemicals / Science Photo Library 192cr, Colin Cuthbert / Science Photo Library 106br, David A. Hardy / Science Photo Library 317tr, David A. Hardy, Futures: 50 years in Space / Science Photo Library 648tr, David Parker / Science Photo Library 412tr, 833tr, Delft University of Technology / Science Photo Library 1093tr, Dept. Of Physics, Imperial College / Science Photo Library 5bl, Dirk Wiersma / Science Photo Library 742tr, Drs A. Yazdani & D.J. Hornbaker / Science Photo Library 990tr, Eye of Science / Science Photo Library 482tl, 746bl, 862cr, Geoff Tompkinson / Science Photo Library 417tl, Getmapping Plc / Science Photo Library 486cr, Harris Barnes Jr / Agstockusa 960cr, Hattie Young / Science Photo Library 956br, James Holmes / Fulmer Research / Science Photo Library 185tl, James Holmes, Hays Chemicals / Science Photo Library 352tr, James King-Holmes / Science Photo Library 1090tr, Javier

Trueba / MSF / Science Photo Library 365tl, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory / Science Photo Library 1036br, Malcolm Fielding, Johnson Mathhey Plc / Science Photo Library 541tr, Martin Dohrn / Science Photo Library 1113cr, Massimo Brega, The Lighthouse / Science Photo Library 577tr, Maxmilian Stock Ltd / Science Photo Library 91br, Mint Images - Tim Robbins / Science Photo Library 782br, NASA / Goddard Space Flight Center / Science Photo Library 472br, NASA / Science Photo Library 298tr, P. Baeza, Publiphoto Diffusion / Science Photo Library 538cr, Pascal Goetgheluck / Science Photo Library 483br, Paul Rapson / Science Photo Library 445cr, Physics Dept., Imperial College / Science Photo Library 31tr, Power And Syred / Science Photo Library 484bl, Prof. Stewart Lowther / Science Photo Library 595cr, Science Photo Library 779br, Scott Bauer / US Department of Agriculture / Science Photo Library 94bl, Ton Kinsbergen / Science Photo Library 107br; Shutterstock.com: jps / Shutterstock.com 522cr, Vladitto / Shutterstock.com 820tl; Dr Amina Tijani: 1091tr.

**Prof. Edwin C. Constable** for the icon images in every environment box on pages 186, 302, 317, 320, 342, 352, 375, 447, 448, 464, 472, 478, 538, 542, 549, 582, 593, 595, 619, 739, 742, 805, 1039 and applications box on pages 187, 192, 240, 268, 298, 308, 333, 346, 347, 371, 376, 379, 391, 408, 412, 445, 453, 483, 484, 486, 489, 492, 515, 522, 541, 566, 597, 577, 614, 616, 647, 648, 746, 763, 782, 819, 822, 824, 888, 897, 943, 952, 960, 961, 1036, 1050.

All other images (C) Pearson Education

## **Topics**

Atomic structure Quantum theory Atomic orbitals Electronic configurations Periodic table Ionization energies Electron affinities

# Basic concepts: atoms

## **1.1 Introduction**

# Inorganic chemistry: it is not an isolated branch of chemistry

If organic chemistry is considered to be the 'chemistry of carbon', then inorganic chemistry is the chemistry of all elements except carbon. In its broadest sense, this is true, but of course there are overlaps between branches of chemistry. A topical example is the chemistry of graphene sheets which comprise carbon (see Sections 28.8 and 28.9). Does graphene fall into the remit of organic or inorganic chemistry, or does it even make sense to try to categorize graphene in this way? Indeed, an understanding of the properties of graphene and the related carbon nanotubes and fullerenes is a multidisciplinary affair and requires input from chemists (organic, inorganic and physical), physicists and materials scientists.

Inorganic chemistry is not simply the study of elements and compounds; it is also the study of physical principles. For example, in order to understand why some compounds are soluble in a given solvent and others are not, we apply laws of thermodynamics. If our aim is to propose details of a reaction mechanism, then a knowledge of reaction kinetics is needed. Overlap between physical and inorganic chemistry is also significant in the study of molecular structure. In the solid state, X-ray diffraction methods are routinely used to obtain pictures of the spatial arrangements of atoms in a molecule or molecular ion. To interpret the behaviour of molecules in solution, we use physical techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy; the equivalence or not of particular nuclei on a spectroscopic timescale may indicate whether a molecule is static or undergoing a dynamic process. The application of a wide range of physical techniques in inorganic chemistry is the topic of Chapter 4.

## The aims of Chapters 1 and 2

In Chapters 1 and 2, we outline some concepts fundamental to an understanding of inorganic chemistry. We have assumed that readers are to some extent familiar with most of these concepts and our aim is to give a point of reference for review purposes.

## 1.2 Fundamental particles of an atom

An *atom* is the smallest unit quantity of an element that is capable of existence, either alone or in chemical combination with other atoms of the same or another element. The fundamental particles of which atoms are composed are the *proton*, *electron* and *neutron*.

A neutron and a proton have approximately the same mass and, relative to these, an electron has negligible mass (Table 1.1). The charge on a proton is positive and of equal magnitude, but opposite sign, to that on a negatively charged electron. A neutron has no charge. In an atom of any element, there are equal numbers of protons and electrons and so an atom is neutral. The *nucleus* of an atom consists of protons and (with the exception of *protium*, see Section 10.3) neutrons, and is positively charged; the nucleus of protium consists of a single proton. The electrons occupy a region of space around the nucleus. Nearly all the mass of an atom is concentrated in the nucleus, but the volume of the nucleus is only a tiny fraction of that of the

	Proton	Electron	Neutron
Charge / C	$+1.602 \times 10^{-19}$	$-1.602 \times 10^{-19}$	0
Charge number (relative charge)	1	-1	0
Rest mass/kg	$1.673 \times 10^{-27}$	$9.109  imes 10^{-31}$	$1.675  imes 10^{-27}$
Relative mass	1837	1	1839

 Table 1.1
 Properties of the proton, electron and neutron.

atom; the radius of the nucleus is about  $10^{-15}$  m while the atom itself is about  $10^5$  times larger than this. It follows that the density of the nucleus is enormous, more than  $10^{12}$  times that of the metal Pb.

Although chemists tend to consider the electron, proton and neutron as the fundamental (or elementary) particles of an atom, particle physicists deal with yet smaller particles.<sup> $\dagger$ </sup>

## 1.3 Atomic number, mass number and isotopes

## Nuclides, atomic number and mass number

A *nuclide* is a particular type of atom and possesses a characteristic *atomic number*, Z, which is equal to the number of protons in the nucleus. Because the atom is electrically neutral, Z also equals the number of electrons. The *mass number*, A, of a nuclide is the number of protons *and* neutrons in the nucleus. A shorthand method of showing the atomic number and mass number of a nuclide along with its symbol, E, is:

Mass number 
$$\longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{A} E \xrightarrow{}$$
 Element symbol e.g.  ${}^{20}_{10}$ Ne Atomic number  $\longrightarrow Z$ 

Atomic number = Z = number of protons in the nucleus = number of electrons Mass number = A = number of protons + number of neutrons Number of neutrons = A - Z

### Self-study exercise

How many protons, electrons and neutrons does an atom of (a)  ${}^{12}_{6}$ C, (b)  ${}^{19}_{9}$ F, (c)  ${}^{35}_{17}$ Cl contain?

[Ans. (a) 6p, 6e, 6n; (b) 9p, 9e, 10n; (c) 17p, 17e, 18n]

## **Relative atomic mass**

Since the electrons are of minute mass, the mass of an atom essentially depends upon the number of protons and neutrons in the nucleus. As Table 1.1 shows, the mass of a single atom is a very small, non-integral number, and for convenience a system of *relative atomic masses* is adopted. The atomic mass unit is defined as 1/12th of the mass of a  ${}^{12}_{6}$ C atom so that it has the value  $1.660 \times 10^{-27}$  kg. *Relative atomic masses* ( $A_r$ ) are therefore all stated relative to  ${}^{12}_{6}$ C = 12.0000. The masses of the proton and neutron can be considered to be  $\approx 1$  u where u is the *atomic mass unit* (1 u  $\approx 1.660 \times 10^{-27}$  kg).

## Isotopes

Nuclides of the same element possess the same number of protons and electrons but may have different mass numbers. The number of protons and electrons defines the element but the number of neutrons may vary. Nuclides of a particular element that differ in the number of neutrons and, therefore, their mass number, are called *isotopes* (see Appendix 5). Isotopes of some elements occur naturally while others may be produced artificially.

Elements that occur naturally with only one nuclide are *monotopic* and include phosphorus,  ${}^{31}_{15}P$ , and fluorine,  ${}^{19}_{9}F$ . Elements that exist as mixtures of isotopes include C ( ${}^{12}_{6}C$  and  ${}^{13}_{6}C$ ) and O ( ${}^{16}_{8}O$ ,  ${}^{17}_{8}O$  and  ${}^{18}_{8}O$ ). Since the atomic number is constant for a given element, isotopes are often distinguished only by stating the atomic masses, e.g.  ${}^{12}C$  and  ${}^{13}C$ .

#### Worked example 1.1 Relative atomic mass

Calculate the value of  $A_r$  for naturally occurring chlorine if the distribution of isotopes is 75.76%  $^{35}_{17}$ Cl and 24.24%  $^{37}_{17}$ Cl. Accurate masses for  $^{35}$ Cl and  $^{37}$ Cl are 34.97 and 36.97.

The relative atomic mass of chlorine is the weighted mean of the mass numbers of the two isotopes:

Relative atomic mass,

$$A_{\rm r} = \left(\frac{75.76}{100} \times 34.97\right) + \left(\frac{24.24}{100} \times 36.97\right) = 35.45$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> See: www.symmetrymagazine.org/standard-model/

## THEORY

## Box 1.1 Isotopes and allotropes

**Do not confuse** *isotope* **and** *allotrope*! Sulfur has both isotopes and allotropes. Isotopes of sulfur (with percentage naturally occurring abundances) are  ${}^{32}_{16}$ S (94.99%),  ${}^{33}_{16}$ S (0.75%),  ${}^{34}_{16}$ S (4.25%),  ${}^{36}_{16}$ S (0.01%).

Allotropes of an element are different structural modifications of that element. Allotropes of sulfur include cyclic structures, e.g.  $S_6$  (see below) and  $S_8$  (Fig. 1.1c), and chains of various lengths (poly*catenas*ulfur).

Further examples of isotopes and allotropes appear throughout the book.



## Worked example 1.2

If  $A_r$  for Cl is 35.45, what is the ratio of  ${}^{35}$ Cl :  ${}^{37}$ Cl present in a sample of Cl atoms containing naturally occurring Cl? Accurate masses of  ${}^{35}$ Cl and  ${}^{37}$ Cl are 34.97 and 36.97.

The relative atomic mass is 35.45 and this is the weighted mean of the mass numbers of the isotopes. Let x be the percentage of <sup>35</sup>Cl present in naturally occurring Cl:

$$35.45 = \left(\frac{x}{100} \times 34.97\right) + \left(\frac{100 - x}{100} \times 36.97\right)$$
$$3545 = 34.97x + 3697 - 36.97x$$
$$2x = 152$$
$$x = 76$$

Therefore, naturally occurring Cl contains 76% <sup>35</sup>Cl and 24% <sup>37</sup>Cl.

Ratio  ${}^{35}Cl : {}^{37}Cl = 76 : 24 = 3.2 : 1$ 

This worked example illustrates a problem of significant figures. If the percentage contributions given to four significant figures in worked example 1.1 are used, then:

Ratio  ${}^{35}Cl : {}^{37}Cl = 75.76 : 24.24 = 3.125 : 1$ 

## **Self-study exercises**

1. Calculate the value of  $A_r$  for naturally occurring Cu if the distribution of isotopes is 69.15% <sup>63</sup>Cu and 30.85% <sup>65</sup>Cu; accurate masses are 62.93 and 64.93, respectively. [*Ans.* 63.45]

- 2. Why in question 1 is it adequate to write  ${}^{63}$ Cu rather than  ${}^{63}_{29}$ Cu?
- 3. Calculate  $A_r$  for naturally occurring Mg if the isotope distribution is 78.99% <sup>24</sup>Mg, 10.00% <sup>25</sup>Mg and 11.01% <sup>26</sup>Mg; accurate masses are 23.99, 24.99 and 25.98. [*Ans.* 24.31]

Isotopes can be separated by *mass spectrometry* and Fig. 1.1a shows the isotopic distribution in naturally occurring Ru. Compare this plot (in which the most abundant isotope is set to 100) with the values listed in Appendix 5. Figure 1.1b shows a mass spectrometric trace for molecular  $S_8$ , the structure of which is shown in Fig. 1.1c; five peaks are observed due to combinations of the isotopes of sulfur. (See end-of-chapter problem 1.5.)

*Isotopes* of an element have the same atomic number, *Z*, but different atomic masses.

The IUPAC Commission on Isotopic Abundances and Atomic Weights (www.ciaaw.org) is responsible for the critical evaluation of the isotope compositions of elements and of atomic weights. The atomic weights of a number of elements have been revised<sup>†</sup> since the last edition of this book and the values of  $A_r$  given in the periodic table (see inside the front cover of the book) and listed in the accompanying table, reflect updates. The most significant changes are to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> J. Meija *et al.* (2016) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol 88, p. 293 – 'Isotopic compositions of the elements 2013'.



Fig. 1.1. Mass spectrometric traces for (a) atomic Ru and (b) molecular  $S_8$ ; the mass : charge ratio is m/z and in these traces z = 1. (c) The molecular structure of  $S_8$ .

values of  $A_r$  for Zn (changed from 65.409 to 65.38, reversing a change made in 2001) and Ti (updated from 47.90 to 47.87).

## **1.4 Successes in early quantum theory**

We saw in Section 1.2 that electrons in an atom occupy a region of space around the nucleus. The importance of electrons in determining the properties of atoms, ions and molecules, including the bonding between or within them, means that we must have an understanding of the electronic structures of each species. No adequate discussion of electronic structure is possible without reference to *quantum theory* and *wave mechanics*. In this and the next few sections, we review some crucial concepts. The treatment is mainly qualitative, and you should consult the further reading given at the end of Chapter 1 for greater detail and more rigorous derivations of mathematical relationships.

The development of quantum theory took place in two stages. In older theories (1900–1925), the electron was treated as a particle, and the achievements of greatest significance to inorganic chemistry were the interpretation of atomic spectra and assignment of electronic configurations. In more recent models, the electron is treated as a wave (hence the name *wave mechanics*) and the main successes in chemistry are the elucidation of the basis of stereochemistry and methods for calculating the properties of molecules (exact *only* for species involving light atoms).

Since all the results obtained by using the older quantum theory may also be obtained from wave mechanics, it may seem unnecessary to refer to the former; indeed, sophisticated treatments of theoretical chemistry seldom do. However, most chemists often find it easier and more convenient to consider the electron as a particle rather than a wave.

## Some important successes of classical quantum theory

Historical discussions of the developments of quantum theory are dealt with adequately elsewhere, and so we focus only on some key points of *classical* quantum theory (in which the electron is considered to be a particle).

At low temperatures, the radiation emitted by a hot body is mainly of low energy and occurs in the infrared, but as the temperature increases, the radiation becomes successively dull red, bright red and white. Attempts to account for this observation failed until, in 1901, Planck suggested that energy could be absorbed or emitted only in *quanta* of magnitude  $\Delta E$  related to the frequency of the radiation, v, by eq. 1.1. The proportionality constant is *h*, the Planck constant ( $h = 6.626 \times 10^{-34}$  J s).

$$\Delta E = hv \qquad \text{Units: } E \text{ in } J; v \text{ in } s^{-1} \text{ or } Hz \qquad (1.1)$$

 $c = \lambda v$  Units:  $\lambda$  in m; v in s<sup>-1</sup> or Hz (1.2)

The hertz, Hz, is the SI unit of frequency.

The frequency of radiation is related to the wavelength,  $\lambda$ , by eq. 1.2, in which *c* is the speed of light in a vacuum ( $c = 2.998 \times 10^8 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$ ). Therefore, eq. 1.1 can be rewritten in the form of eq. 1.3. This relates the energy of radiation to its wavelength.

$$\Delta E = \frac{hc}{\lambda} \tag{1.3}$$

On the basis of this relationship, Planck derived a relative intensity/wavelength/temperature relationship which was in good agreement with experimental data. This derivation is not straightforward and we shall not reproduce it here.

When energy is provided (e.g. as heat or light) to an atom or other species, one or more electrons may be promoted from a ground state level to a higher energy state. This excited state is transient and the electron falls back to the ground state. This produces an *emission spectrum*.

One of the most important applications of early quantum theory was the interpretation of the atomic spectrum of hydrogen on the basis of the Rutherford-Bohr model of the atom. When an electric discharge is passed through a sample of dihydrogen, the H<sub>2</sub> molecules dissociate into atoms, and the electron in a particular excited H atom may be *promoted* to one of many high energy levels. These states are transient and the electron falls back to a lower energy state, emitting energy as it does so. The consequence is the observation of spectral lines in the emission spectrum of hydrogen. The spectrum (a part of which is shown in Fig. 1.2) consists of groups of discrete lines corresponding to electronic transitions, each of discrete energy. In 1885, Balmer pointed out that the wavelengths of the spectral lines observed in the visible region of the atomic spectrum of hydrogen obeyed eq. 1.4, in which R is the Rydberg constant for hydrogen,  $\bar{v}$  is the wavenumber in  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ , and *n* is an integer 3, 4, 5.... This series of spectral lines is known as the Balmer series.

*Wavenumber* is the reciprocal of wavelength; convenient (non-SI) units are 'reciprocal centimetres',  $cm^{-1}$ .

$$\bar{\upsilon} = \frac{1}{\lambda} = R\left(\frac{1}{2^2} - \frac{1}{n^2}\right) \tag{1.4}$$

R = Rydberg constant for hydrogen

$$= 1.097 \times 10^7 \,\mathrm{m}^{-1} = 1.097 \times 10^5 \,\mathrm{cm}^{-1}$$

Other series of spectral lines occur in the ultraviolet (Lyman series) and infrared (Paschen, Brackett and Pfund series). All lines in all the series obey the general expression given in eq. 1.5 where n' > n. For the Lyman series, n = 1, for the

Balmer series, n = 2, and for the Paschen, Brackett and Pfund series, n = 3, 4 and 5 respectively. Figure 1.3 shows some of the allowed transitions of the Lyman and Balmer series in the emission spectrum of atomic H. Note the use of the word *allowed*; the transitions must obey *selection rules*, to which we return in Section 20.7.

$$\overline{v} = \frac{1}{\lambda} = R\left(\frac{1}{n^2} - \frac{1}{n'^2}\right) \tag{1.5}$$

# Bohr's theory of the atomic spectrum of hydrogen

In 1913, Niels Bohr combined elements of quantum theory and classical physics in a treatment of the hydrogen atom. He stated two postulates for an electron in an atom:

• *Stationary states* exist in which the energy of the electron is constant; such states are characterized by *circular orbits* about the nucleus in which the electron has an angular momentum *mvr* given by eq. 1.6. The integer, *n*, is the *principal quantum number*.

$$m\upsilon r = n\left(\frac{h}{2\pi}\right) \tag{1.6}$$

where m = mass of electron; v = velocity of electron; r = radius of the orbit; h = the Planck constant;  $h/2\pi$  may be written as  $\hbar$ .

• Energy is absorbed or emitted only when an electron moves from one stationary state to another and the energy change is given by eq. 1.7 where  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are the principal quantum numbers referring to the energy levels  $E_{n_1}$  and  $E_{n_2}$  respectively.



**Fig. 1.2.** A schematic representation of part of the emission spectrum of hydrogen showing the Lyman, Balmer and Paschen series of emission lines. The photograph shows the predominant lines in the observed, visible part of the spectrum of hydrogen which appear at 656.3 (red), 486.1 (cyan) and 434.0 nm (blue). Other fainter lines are not visible in this photograph.



Fig. 1.3. Some of the transitions that make up the Lyman and Balmer series in the emission spectrum of atomic hydrogen.

$$\Delta E = E_{n_2} - E_{n_1} = h\upsilon \tag{1.7}$$

If we apply the Bohr model to the H atom, the radius of each allowed circular orbit can be determined from eq. 1.8. The origin of this expression lies in the centrifugal force acting on the electron as it moves in its circular orbit. For the orbit to be maintained, the centrifugal force must equal the force of attraction between the negatively charged electron and the positively charged nucleus.

$$r_n = \frac{\varepsilon_0 h^2 n^2}{\pi m_e e^2} \tag{1.8}$$

where  $\varepsilon_0 = \text{permittivity of a vacuum}$ 

=  $8.854 \times 10^{-12} \,\mathrm{F \,m^{-1}}$   $h = \mathrm{Planck \ constant} = 6.626 \times 10^{-34} \,\mathrm{J \,s}$   $n = 1, 2, 3 \dots \mathrm{describing} \ a \ given \ orbit$   $m_e = \mathrm{electron \ rest \ mass} = 9.109 \times 10^{-31} \,\mathrm{kg}$   $e = \mathrm{charge \ on \ an \ electron \ (elementary \ charge)}$  $= 1.602 \times 10^{-19} \,\mathrm{C}$ 

From eq. 1.8, substitution of n = 1 gives a radius for the first orbit of the H atom of  $5.293 \times 10^{-11}$  m, or 52.93 pm. This value is called the *Bohr radius* of the H atom and is given the symbol  $a_0$ .

An increase in the principal quantum number from n = 1 to  $n = \infty$  has a special significance. It corresponds to the ionization of the atom (eq. 1.9) and the ionization energy,

*IE*, can be determined by combining eqs. 1.5 and 1.7, as shown in eq. 1.10. Values of *IE*s are quoted *per mole of atoms*.

One mole of a substance contains the *Avogadro number*, *L*, of particles:

 $L = 6.022 \times 10^{23} \,\mathrm{mol}^{-1}$ 

$$H(g) \longrightarrow H^+(g) + e^-$$
(1.9)

$$E = E_{\infty} - E_1 = \frac{hc}{\lambda} = hcR\left(\frac{1}{1^2} - \frac{1}{\infty^2}\right)$$
(1.10)

 $= 2.179 \times 10^{-18} \,\mathrm{J}$ 

Per mole:

I

$$IE = 2.179 \times 10^{-18} \times 6.022 \times 10^{23} \,\mathrm{J}\,\mathrm{mol}^{-1}$$
  
= 1.312 × 10<sup>6</sup> J mol<sup>-1</sup>  
= 1312 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>

Although the SI unit of energy is the joule, ionization energies are often expressed in electron volts (eV)  $(1 \text{ eV} = 96.4853 \approx 96.5 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$ . Therefore, the ionization energy of hydrogen can also be given as 13.60 eV.

Impressive as the success of the Bohr model was when applied to the H atom, extensive modifications were required to cope with species containing more than one electron. We shall not pursue this topic further here.

## 1.5 An introduction to wave mechanics

## The wave-nature of electrons

The quantum theory of radiation introduced by Max Planck and Albert Einstein implies a particle theory of light, in addition to the wave theory of light required by the phenomena of interference and diffraction. In 1924, Louis de Broglie argued that if light were composed of particles and yet showed wave-like properties, the same should be true of electrons and other particles. This phenomenon is referred to as *wave-particle duality*. The de Broglie relationship (eq. 1.11) combines the concepts of classical mechanics with the idea of wave-like properties by showing that a particle with momentum mv (m = mass and v = velocity of the particle) possesses an associated wave of wavelength  $\lambda$ .

$$\lambda = \frac{h}{m\upsilon} \quad \text{where } h \text{ is the Planck constant}$$
(1.11)

An important physical observation which is a consequence of the de Broglie relationship is that electrons accelerated to a velocity of  $6 \times 10^6 \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-1}}$  (by a potential of 100 V) have an associated wavelength of  $\approx 120 \,\mathrm{pm}$  and such electrons are diffracted as they pass through a crystal. This phenomenon is the basis of electron diffraction techniques used to determine structures of chemical compounds (see Section 4.10).

## The uncertainty principle

If an electron has wave-like properties, there is an important and difficult consequence: it becomes impossible to know exactly both the momentum and position of the electron *at the same instant in time*. This is a statement of Heisenberg's *uncertainty principle*. In order to get around this problem, rather than trying to define its exact position and momentum, we use the *probability of finding the electron* in a given volume of space. The probability of finding an electron at a given point in space is determined from the function  $\psi^2$  where  $\psi$  is a mathematical function called the *wavefunction* which describes the behaviour of an electron-wave.

The probability of finding an electron at a given point in space is determined from the function  $\psi^2$  where  $\psi$  is the *wavefunction*.

## The Schrödinger wave equation

Information about the wavefunction is obtained from the Schrödinger wave equation, which can be set up and solved either exactly or approximately. The Schrödinger equation can be solved *exactly only* for a species

containing a nucleus and *only one* electron (e.g.  ${}^{1}\text{H}, {}^{4}_{2}\text{He}^{+}$ ), i.e. a *hydrogen-like* system.

## A hydrogen-like atom or hydrogen-like ion contains a nucleus and only one electron.

The Schrödinger wave equation may be represented in several forms and in Box 1.2 we examine its application to the motion of a particle in a 1-dimensional box. Equation 1.12 gives the form of the Schrödinger wave equation that is appropriate for motion in the x direction.

$$\frac{d^2\psi}{dx^2} + \frac{8\pi^2 m}{h^2} (E - V)\psi = 0$$
(1.12)

where m = mass

E = total energy V = potential energy of the particle

Of course, in reality, electrons move in 3-dimensional space and an appropriate form of the Schrödinger wave equation is given in eq. 1.13.

$$\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial z^2} + \frac{8\pi^2 m}{h^2} (E - V)\psi = 0$$
(1.13)

Solving this equation will not concern us, although it is useful to note that it is advantageous to work in spherical polar coordinates (Fig. 1.4). When we look at the results obtained from the Schrödinger wave equation, we talk in terms of the *radial and angular parts of the wavefunction*, and this is represented in eq. 1.14 where R(r) and  $A(\theta, \phi)$ are radial and angular wavefunctions respectively.<sup>†</sup>

$$\psi_{\text{Cartesian}}(x, y, z) \equiv \psi_{\text{radial}}(r)\psi_{\text{angular}}(\theta, \phi) = R(r)A(\theta, \phi)$$
(1.14)

Having solved the wave equation, what are the results?

- The wavefunction  $\psi$  is a solution of the Schrödinger equation and describes the behaviour of an electron in a region of space called the *atomic orbital*.
- We can find energy values that are associated with particular wavefunctions.
- The quantization of energy levels arises naturally from the Schrödinger equation (see Box 1.2).

A *wavefunction*  $\psi$  is a mathematical function that contains detailed information about the behaviour of an electron. An atomic wavefunction  $\psi$  consists of a *radial component*, R(r), and an *angular component*,  $A(\theta,\phi)$ . The region of space defined by a wavefunction is called an *atomic orbital*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> The radial component in eq. 1.14 depends on the quantum numbers *n* and *l*, whereas the angular component depends on *l* and *m<sub>l</sub>*, and the components should really be written as  $R_{n,l}(r)$  and  $A_{l,m_l}(\theta, \phi)$ .

THEORY

# A.

## Box 1.2 Particle in a box

The following discussion illustrates the so-called *particle in a 1-dimensional box* and illustrates quantization arising from the Schrödinger wave equation.

The *Schrödinger wave equation* for the motion of a particle in one dimension is given by:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\psi}{\mathrm{d}x^2} + \frac{8\pi^2 m}{h^2}(E-V)\psi = 0$$

where *m* is the mass, *E* is the total energy and *V* is the potential energy of the particle. The derivation of this equation is considered in the set of exercises on p. 9. For a given system for which *V* and *m* are known, Schrödinger's equation is used to obtain values of *E* (the *allowed energies of the particle*) and  $\psi$  (the *wavefunction*). The wavefunction itself has no physical meaning, but  $\psi^2$  is a probability (see main text) and for this to be the case,  $\psi$  must have certain properties:

- $\psi$  must be finite for all values of x;
- $\psi$  can only have one value for any value of x;
- $\psi$  and  $\frac{d\psi}{dx}$  must vary continuously as x varies.

Now, consider a particle that is undergoing simple-harmonic wave-like motion in one dimension, i.e. we can fix the direction of wave propagation to be along the *x* axis (the choice of *x* is arbitrary). Let the motion be further constrained such that the particle cannot go outside the fixed, vertical walls of a box of width *a*. There is no force acting on the particle *within* the box and so the potential energy, *V*, is zero. If we take V = 0, we are placing limits on *x* such that  $0 \le x \le a$ , i.e. the particle cannot move outside the box. The only restriction that we place on the total energy *E* is that it must be positive and cannot be infinite. There is one further restriction that we shall simply state: the *boundary condition* for the particle in the box is that  $\psi$  must be zero when x = 0 and x = a.

Now rewrite the Schrödinger equation for the specific case of the particle in the 1-dimensional box where V = 0:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\psi}{\mathrm{d}x^2} = -\frac{8\pi^2 mE}{h^2}\psi$$

which may be written in the simpler form:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\psi}{\mathrm{d}x^2} = -k^2\psi \qquad \text{where} \quad k^2 = \frac{8\pi^2 mE}{h^2}$$

The solution to this (a known general equation) is:

 $\psi = A\sin kx + B\cos kx$ 

where *A* and *B* are integration constants. When x = 0,  $\sin kx = 0$  and  $\cos kx = 1$ ; hence,  $\psi = B$  when x = 0. However, the boundary condition above stated that  $\psi = 0$  when x = 0, and this is only true if B = 0. Also from the boundary condition, we see that  $\psi = 0$  when x = a, and hence we can rewrite the above equation in the form:

 $\psi = A\sin ka = 0$ 

Since the probability,  $\psi^2$ , that the particle will be at points between x = 0 and x = a cannot be zero (i.e. the particle must be somewhere inside the box), A cannot be zero and the last equation is only valid if:

 $ka = n\pi$ 

where  $n = 1, 2, 3 \dots; n$  cannot be zero as this would make the probability,  $\psi^2$ , zero meaning that the particle would no longer be in the box.

Combining the last two equations gives:

$$\psi = A \sin \frac{n\pi x}{a}$$

and, from earlier:

$$E = \frac{k^2 h^2}{8\pi^2 m} = \frac{n^2 h^2}{8ma^2}$$

where n = 1, 2, 3 ...; n is the *quantum number* determining the energy of a particle of mass *m* confined within a 1-dimensional box of width *a*. So, the limitations placed on the value of  $\psi$  have led to *quantized energy levels*, the spacing of which is determined by *m* and *a*.

The resultant motion of the particle is described by a series of standing sine waves, three of which are illustrated below. The wavefunction  $\psi_2$  has a wavelength of a, while wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_3$  possess wavelengths of  $\frac{a}{2}$  and  $\frac{3a}{2}$  respectively. Each of the waves in the diagram has an amplitude of zero at the origin (i.e. at the point a = 0); points at which  $\psi = 0$  are called *nodes*. For a given particle of mass m, the separations of the energy levels vary according to  $n^2$ , i.e. the spacings are not equal.





**Fig. 1.4.** Definition of the polar coordinates  $(r, \theta, \phi)$  for a point shown here in pink; *r* is the radial coordinate and  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  are angular coordinates.  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  are measured in radians (rad). Cartesian axes (x, y and z) are also shown.

## **Self-study exercises**

Consider a particle that is undergoing simple-harmonic wave-like motion in one dimension, with the wave propagation along the x axis. The general equation for the wave is:

$$\psi = A\sin\frac{2\pi x}{\lambda}$$

where A is the amplitude of the wave.

1. If 
$$\psi = A \sin \frac{2\pi x}{\lambda}$$
, find  $\frac{d\psi}{dx}$  and hence show that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\psi}{\mathrm{d}x^2} = -\frac{4\pi^2}{\lambda^2}\psi$$

- 2. If the particle in the box is of mass *m* and moves with velocity v, what is its kinetic energy, *KE*? Using the de Broglie equation (1.11), write an expression for *KE* in terms of *m*, *h* and  $\lambda$ .
- 3. The equation you derived in part (2) applies only to a particle moving in a space in which the potential energy, V, is constant, and the particle can be regarded as possessing only kinetic energy, *KE*. If the potential energy of the particle does vary, the total energy, E = KE + V. Using this information and your answers to parts (1) and (2), derive the Schrödinger equation (stated on p. 8) for a particle in a 1-dimensional box.

## **1.6 Atomic orbitals**

## The quantum numbers n, l and $m_l$

An atomic orbital is usually described in terms of three integral *quantum numbers*. We have already encountered the *principal quantum number*, *n*, in the Bohr model of the hydrogen atom. The principal quantum number is a positive integer with values lying between the limits  $1 \le n \le \infty$ . Allowed values of *n* arise when the radial part of the wavefunction is solved.

Two more quantum numbers, l and  $m_l$ , appear when the angular part of the wavefunction is solved. The quantum number l is called the *orbital quantum number* and has allowed values of 0, 1, 2...(n-1). The value of l determines the shape of the atomic orbital, and the *orbital angular momentum* of the electron. The value of the *magnetic quantum number*,  $m_l$ , gives information about the directionality of an atomic orbital and has integral values between +l and -l.

Each atomic orbital may be uniquely labelled by a set of three *quantum numbers*: n, l and  $m_l$ .

The distinction among the *types* of atomic orbital arises from their *shapes* and *symmetries*. The four types of atomic orbital most commonly encountered are the *s*, *p*, *d* and *f* orbitals, and the corresponding values of *l* are 0, 1, 2 and 3 respectively. Each atomic orbital is labelled with values of n and l, and hence we speak of 1s, 2s, 2p, 3s, 3p, 3d, 4s, 4p, 4d, 4f etc. orbitals.

```
For an s orbital, l = 0. For a p orbital, l = 1.
For a d orbital, l = 2. For an f orbital, l = 3.
```

# Worked example 1.3 Quantum numbers: atomic orbitals

Given that the principal quantum number, n, is 2, write down the allowed values of l and  $m_l$ , and determine the number of atomic orbitals possible for n = 2.

For a given value of *n*, the allowed values of *l* are 0,1,2...(n-1), and those of  $m_l$  are -l...0...+l.

For n = 2, allowed values of l = 0 or 1.

For l = 0, the allowed value of  $m_l = 0$ .

For l = 1, allowed values of  $m_l = -1, 0, +1$ 

Each set of three quantum numbers defines a particular atomic orbital, and, therefore, for n = 2, there are four atomic orbitals with the sets of quantum numbers:

 $n = 2, \quad l = 0, \quad m_l = 0$   $n = 2, \quad l = 1, \quad m_l = -1$   $n = 2, \quad l = 1, \quad m_l = 0$  $n = 2, \quad l = 1, \quad m_l = +1$ 

## **Self-study exercises**

- 1. If  $m_l$  has values of -1, 0, +1, write down the corresponding value of l. [*Ans.* l = 1]
- 2. If *l* has values 0, 1, 2 and 3, deduce the corresponding value of *n*. [Ans. n = 4]
- 3. For n = 1, what are the allowed values of l and  $m_l$ ? [Ans. l = 0;  $m_l = 0$ ]
- 4. Complete the following sets of quantum numbers: (a)  $n=4, l=0, m_l=...$ ; (b)  $n=3, l=1, m_l=...$ [Ans. (a) 0; (b) -1, 0, +1]

# Worked example 1.4 Quantum numbers: types of orbital

Using the rules that govern the values of the quantum numbers n and l, write down the possible types of atomic orbital for n = 1, 2 and 3.

The allowed values of *l* are integers between 0 and (n - 1). For n = 1, l = 0.

The only atomic orbital for n = 1 is the 1s orbital.

For n = 2, l = 0 or 1.

The allowed atomic orbitals for n = 2 are the 2s and 2p orbitals.

For n = 3, l = 0, 1 or 2.

The allowed atomic orbitals for n = 3 are the 3s, 3p and 3d orbitals.

## Self-study exercises

- 1. Write down the possible types of atomic orbital for n = 4. [Ans. 4s, 4p, 4d, 4f]
- 2. Which atomic orbital has values of n = 4 and l = 2? [*Ans*. 4*d*]
- 3. Give the three quantum numbers that describe a 2s atomic orbital. [*Ans.* n = 2, l = 0,  $m_l = 0$ ]
- 4. Which quantum number distinguishes the 3s and 5s atomic orbitals? [Ans. n]

#### Degenerate orbitals possess the same energy.

Now consider the consequence on these orbital types of the quantum number  $m_l$ . For an *s* orbital, l = 0 and  $m_l$ can only equal 0. This means that for any value of *n*, there is only one *s* orbital; it is said to be singly degenerate. For a *p* orbital, l = 1, and there are three possible  $m_l$  values: +1, 0, -1. This means that there are three *p* orbitals for a given value of *n* when  $n \ge 2$ ; the set of *p* orbitals is said to be triply or three-fold degenerate. For a *d* orbital, l = 2, and there are five possible values of  $m_l$ : +2, +1, 0, -1, -2, meaning that for a given value of *n* ( $n \ge 3$ ), there are five *d* orbitals; the set is said to be five-fold degenerate. As an exercise, you should show that there are seven *f* orbitals in a degenerate set for a given value of *n* ( $n \ge 4$ ).

For a given value of n ( $n \ge 1$ ) there is one s atomic orbital. For a given value of n ( $n \ge 2$ ) there are three p atomic orbitals. For a given value of n ( $n \ge 3$ ) there are five d atomic orbitals. For a given value of n ( $n \ge 4$ ) there are seven f atomic orbitals.

## The radial part of the wavefunction, *R*(*r*)

The mathematical forms of some of the wavefunctions for the H atom are listed in Table 1.2. Figure 1.5 shows plots of the radial parts of the wavefunction, R(r), against distance, r, from the nucleus for the 1s and 2s atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom, and Fig. 1.6 shows plots of R(r) against r for the 2p, 3p, 4p and 3d atomic orbitals; the nucleus is at r = 0.

From Table 1.2, we see that the radial parts of the wavefunctions decay exponentially as r increases, but the decay is slower for n = 2 than for n = 1. This means that

Atomic orbital	n	l	$m_l$	Radial part of the wavefunction, $R(r)^{\dagger}$	Angular part of wavefunction, $A(\theta,\phi)$
1 <i>s</i>	1	0	0	$2e^{-r}$	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$
2 <i>s</i>	2	0	0	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}(2-r)\mathrm{e}^{-r/2}$	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$
$2p_x$	2	1	+1	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}}r\mathrm{e}^{-r/2}$	$\frac{\sqrt{3}(\sin\theta\cos\phi)}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$
2 <i>p</i> <sub>z</sub>	2	1	0	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}}r\mathrm{e}^{-r/2}$	$\frac{\sqrt{3}(\cos\theta)}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$
$2p_y$	2	1	-1	$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}}r\mathrm{e}^{-r/2}$	$\frac{\sqrt{3}(\sin\theta\sin\phi)}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$

**Table 1.2** Solutions of the Schrödinger equation for the hydrogen atom which define the 1s, 2s and 2p atomic orbitals. For these forms of the solutions, the distance r from the nucleus is measured in atomic units.

<sup>†</sup> For the 1s atomic orbital, the formula for R(r) is actually  $2(\frac{Z}{a_0})^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{-Zr/a_0}$  but for the hydrogen atom, Z = 1 and  $a_0 = 1$  atomic unit. Other functions are similarly simplified.



**Fig. 1.5.** Plots of the radial parts of the wavefunction, R(r), against distance, r, from the nucleus for (a) the 1s and (b) the 2s atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom; the nucleus is at r = 0. The vertical scales for the two plots are different but the horizontal scales are the same.

the likelihood of the electron being further from the nucleus increases as n increases. This pattern continues for higher values of n. The exponential decay can be seen clearly in Fig. 1.5a. Several points should be noted from the plots of the radial parts of wavefunctions in Figs. 1.5 and 1.6:

- *s* atomic orbitals have a finite value of *R*(*r*) at the nucleus;
- for all orbitals other than s, R(r) = 0 at the nucleus;
- for the 1s orbital, R(r) is always positive; for the first orbital of other types (i.e. 2p, 3d, 4f), R(r) is positive everywhere except at the origin;
- for the second orbital of a given type (i.e. 2s, 3p, 4d, 5f),
   *R*(*r*) may be positive or negative but the wavefunction has only one sign change; the point at which *R*(*r*) = 0 (not including the origin) is called a radial node;
- for the third orbital of a given type (i.e. 3*s*, 4*p*, 5*d*, 6*f*), *R*(*r*) has two sign changes, i.e. it possesses two radial nodes.

#### Radial nodes:

*ns* orbitals have (n - 1) radial nodes. *np* orbitals have (n - 2) radial nodes. *nd* orbitals have (n - 3) radial nodes. *nf* orbitals have (n - 4) radial nodes.



Distance r from nucleus/atomic units

Fig. 1.6. Plots of radial parts of the wavefunction R(r) against r for the 2p, 3p, 4p and 3d atomic orbitals; the nucleus is at r = 0.

## The radial distribution function, $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$

Let us now consider how we might represent atomic orbitals in 3-dimensional space. We said earlier that a useful description of an electron in an atom is the *probability of finding the electron* in a given volume of space. The function  $\psi^2$  (see Box 1.3) is proportional to the *probability density* of the electron at a point in space. By considering values of  $\psi^2$  at points around the nucleus, we can define a *surface boundary* which encloses the volume of space in which the electron will spend, say, 95% of its time. This effectively gives us a physical representation of the atomic orbital, since  $\psi^2$  may be described in terms of the radial and angular components  $R(r)^2$  and  $A(\theta, \phi)^2$ .

First consider the radial components. A useful way of depicting the probability density is to plot a *radial distribution function* (eq. 1.15) and this allows us to envisage the region in space in which the electron is found.

Radial distribution function =  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  (1.15)

The radial distribution functions for the 1s, 2s and 3s atomic orbitals of hydrogen are shown in Fig. 1.7, and

Fig. 1.8 shows those of the 3*s*, 3*p* and 3*d* orbitals. *Each* function is zero at the nucleus, following from the  $r^2$  term and the fact that at the nucleus r = 0. Since the function depends on  $R(r)^2$ , it is always positive in contrast to R(r), plots for which are shown in Figs. 1.5 and 1.6. Each plot of  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  shows at least one maximum value for the function, corresponding to a distance from the nucleus at which the electron has the highest probability of being found. Points at which  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2 = 0$  (ignoring r = 0) correspond to radial nodes where R(r) = 0.

## The angular part of the wavefunction, $A(\theta, \phi)$

Now let us consider the angular parts of the wavefunctions,  $A(\theta, \phi)$ , for different types of atomic orbitals. These are *independent* of the principal quantum number as Table 1.2 illustrates for n = 1 and 2. Moreover, for *s* orbitals,  $A(\theta, \phi)$  is independent of the angles  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  and is of a constant value. Thus, an *s* orbital is spherically symmetric about the nucleus. We noted above that a set of



## THEORY

## Box 1.3 Notation for $\psi^2$ and its normalization

Although we use  $\psi^2$  in the text, it should strictly be written as  $\psi\psi^*$  where  $\psi^*$  is the complex conjugate of  $\psi$ . In the *x*-direction, the probability of finding the electron between the limits *x* and (x + dx) is proportional to  $\psi(x)\psi^*(x) dx$ . In 3-dimensional space this is expressed as  $\psi\psi^* d\tau$  in which we are considering the probability of finding the electron in a volume element  $d\tau$ . For just the radial part of the wavefunction, the function is  $R(r)R^*(r)$ .

In all of our mathematical manipulations, we must ensure that the result shows that the electron is *somewhere* (i.e. it has not vanished!) and this is done by *normalizing* the wavefunction to unity. This means that the probability of finding the electron somewhere in space is taken to be 1. Mathematically, the normalization is represented as follows:

$$\int \psi^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau = 1 \qquad \text{or more correctly} \qquad \int \psi \psi^* \, \mathrm{d}\tau = 1$$

and this effectively states that the integral  $(\int)$  is over all space  $(d\tau)$  and that the total integral of  $\psi^2$  (or  $\psi\psi^*$ ) must be unity.



**Fig. 1.7.** Radial distribution functions,  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$ , for the 1s, 2s and 3s atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom.



**Fig. 1.8.** Radial distribution functions,  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$ , for the 3s, 3p and 3d atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom.

*p* orbitals is triply degenerate; by convention the three orbitals that make up the degenerate set are given the labels  $p_x$ ,  $p_y$  and  $p_z$ . From Table 1.2, we see that the angular part of the  $p_z$  wavefunction is independent of  $\phi$ . The orbital can be represented as two spheres (touching at the origin)<sup>†</sup>, the centres of which lie on the *z* axis. For the  $p_x$  and  $p_y$  orbitals,  $A(\theta, \phi)$  depends on both the angles  $\theta$  and  $\phi$ ; these orbitals are similar to  $p_z$  but are oriented along the *x* and *y* axes.

Although we must not lose sight of the fact that wavefunctions are mathematical in origin, most chemists find such functions hard to visualize and prefer pictorial representations of orbitals. The boundary surfaces of the *s* and three *p* atomic orbitals are shown in Fig. 1.9. The different colours of the *lobes* are significant. The boundary surface of an *s* orbital has a constant *phase*, i.e. the amplitude of the wavefunction associated with the boundary surface of the *s* orbital has a constant sign. For a *p* orbital, there is *one* phase change with respect to the boundary surface and this occurs at a *nodal plane* as is shown for the  $p_z$  orbital in Fig. 1.9. The amplitude of a wavefunction may be positive or negative; this is shown using + and - signs, or by shading the lobes in different colours as in Fig. 1.9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> In order to emphasize that  $\phi$  is a continuous function we have extended boundary surfaces in representations of orbitals to the nucleus, but for *p* orbitals, this is strictly not true if we are considering  $\approx$ 95% of the electronic charge.



**Fig. 1.9.** Boundary surfaces for the angular parts of the 1*s* and 2*p* atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom. The nodal plane shown in grey for the  $2p_z$  atomic orbital lies in the *xy* plane. This type of orbital picture is often called a 'cartoon' diagram because it is easily drawn, but is oversimplified; see Fig. 1.10.



**Fig. 1.10.** Representations of an *s* and a set of three degenerate *p* atomic orbitals. The lobes of the  $p_x$  orbital are elongated like those of the  $p_y$  and  $p_z$  but are directed along the axis that passes through the plane of the paper. The figure shows 'cartoon' diagrams of the orbitals alongside more realistic representations generated using the program *Orbital Viewer* (David Manthey, www.orbitals.com/orb/ov.htm).

Just as the function  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  represents the probability of finding an electron at a distance *r* from the nucleus, we use a function dependent upon  $A(\theta, \phi)^2$  to represent the probability in terms of  $\theta$  and  $\phi$ . For an *s* orbital, squaring

 $A(\theta, \phi)$  causes no change in the spherical symmetry, and the surface boundary for the *s* atomic orbital shown in Fig. 1.10 looks similar to that in Fig. 1.9. For the *p* orbitals, however, going from  $A(\theta, \phi)$  to  $A(\theta, \phi)^2$  has the effect



**Fig. 1.11.** Cross-sections through the (a) 1*s* (no radial nodes), (b) 2*s* (one radial node), (c) 3*s* (two radial nodes), (d) 2*p* (no radial nodes) and (e) 3*p* (one radial node) atomic orbitals of hydrogen. The orbitals have been generated using the program *Orbital Viewer* (David Manthey, www.orbitals.com/orb/ov.htm).



**Fig. 1.12.** Representations of a set of five degenerate *d* atomic orbitals. The orbitals have been generated using the program *Orbital Viewer* (David Manthey, www.orbitals.com/orb/ov.htm).

of altering the shapes of the lobes as illustrated in Fig. 1.10. Squaring  $A(\theta, \phi)$  necessarily means that the signs (+ or -) disappear, but in practice chemists often indicate the amplitude by a sign or the use of different colours (as in Fig. 1.10) because of the importance of the signs of the wavefunctions with respect to their overlap during bond formation (see Section 2.3). The consequence of the radial nodes that were introduced in Figs. 1.7 and 1.8 can be seen by looking at cross-sections through the atomic orbitals (Fig. 1.11).

Figure 1.12 shows the boundary surfaces for five hydrogen-like d orbitals. We shall not consider the mathematical forms of these wavefunctions, but merely represent the orbitals in the conventional manner. Each d orbital possesses *two* nodal planes and as an exercise you should recognize where these planes lie for each orbital. We consider d orbitals in more detail in Chapters 19 and 20, and f orbitals in Chapter 27.

## Orbital energies in a hydrogen-like species

Besides providing information about the wavefunctions, solutions of the Schrödinger equation give orbital energies, E (energy levels), and eq. 1.16 shows the dependence of E on the principal quantum number for *hydrogen-like species* where Z is the atomic number. For the hydrogen atom, Z = 1, but for the hydrogen-like He<sup>+</sup> ion, Z = 2. The dependence of E on  $Z^2$  therefore leads to a significant lowering of the orbitals on going from H to He<sup>+</sup>.

$$E = -\frac{kZ^2}{n^2}$$
  $k = a \text{ constant} = 1.312 \times 10^3 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ 
(1.16)

By comparing eq. 1.16 with eq. 1.10, we can see that the constant k in eq. 1.16 is equal to the ionization energy of the H atom, i.e. k = hcR where h, c and R are the Planck constant, the speed of light and the Rydberg constant, respectively.

For each value of n there is only one energy solution and for *hydrogen-like species*, all atomic orbitals with the same principal quantum number (e.g. 3s, 3p and 3d) are degenerate. It follows from eq. 1.16 that the orbital energy levels get closer together as the value of n increases. This result is a general one for all other atoms.

## **Self-study exercises**

 $1 \text{ eV} = 96.485 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ 

- 1. Show that the energy of both the 2s and 2p orbitals for a hydrogen atom is  $-328 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ .
- 2. For a hydrogen atom, confirm that the energy of the 3s orbital is -1.51 eV.
- 3. The energy of a hydrogen *ns* orbital is -13.6 eV. Show that n = 1.
- 4. Determine the energy (in kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>) of the 1*s* orbital of an He<sup>+</sup> ion and compare it with that of the 1*s* orbital of an H atom.

 $[Ans. -5248 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1} \text{ for He}^+; -1312 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1} \text{ for H}]$ 

## Size of orbitals

For a given atom, a series of orbitals with different values of n but the same values of l and  $m_l$  (e.g. 1s, 2s, 3s, 4s, ...) differ in their relative size (spatial extent). The larger the value of n, the larger the orbital, although this relationship is not linear. The relative spatial extents of the 1s, 2s and 3s orbitals, and of the 2p and 3p orbitals, are shown in Fig. 1.11. An increase in size also corresponds to an orbital being more *diffuse*.

# The spin quantum number and the magnetic spin quantum number

Before we place electrons into atomic orbitals, we must define two more quantum numbers. In a classical model, an electron is considered to spin about an axis passing through it and to have *spin angular momentum* in addition to orbital angular momentum (see Box 1.4). The *spin quantum number*, *s*, determines the magnitude of the spin angular momentum of an electron and has a value of  $\frac{1}{2}$ . Since angular momentum is a vector quantity, it must have direction, and this is determined by the *magnetic spin quantum number*,  $m_s$ , which has a value of  $\frac{1}{2}$  or  $-\frac{1}{2}$ .

Whereas an atomic orbital is defined by a unique set of *three* quantum numbers, an electron in an atomic orbital is defined by a unique set of *four* quantum numbers: n, l,  $m_l$  and  $m_s$ . As there are only two values of  $m_s$ , an orbital can accommodate only two electrons.

An *orbital is fully occupied* when it contains two *spin-paired electrons*; one electron has  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$  and the other has  $m_s = -\frac{1}{2}$ .

## Self-study exercises

For help with these exercises, refer to Box 1.4.

- 1. What do you understand by the term 'the orbital angular momentum of an electron in an orbital'?
- 2. Explain why it is incorrect to write that 'the quantum number  $s = \pm \frac{1}{2}$ '.
- 3. For an *s* orbital, l=0. Explain why this leads to a classical picture of an electron in an *s* orbital *not* moving around the nucleus.
- 4. By considering a 2*p* orbital with values of  $m_l = +1$ , 0 and -1, explain the physical significance of the quantum number  $m_l$ .
- 5. Show that for an electron in a 2*s* orbital, the quantum number *j* can only take the value  $\frac{1}{2}$ .
- 6. Show that for an electron in a 2p orbital, the quantum number *j* can take the value of  $\frac{3}{2}$  or  $\frac{1}{2}$ .
- 7. For a *p* electron circulating clockwise or counter-clockwise about an axis, the value of  $m_l$  is +1 or -1. What can you say about a *p* electron for which  $m_l = 0$ ?

Worked example 1.5 Quantum numbers: an electron in an atomic orbital

Write down two possible sets of quantum numbers that describe an electron in a 2*s* atomic orbital. What is the physical significance of these unique sets?

The 2s atomic orbital is defined by the set of quantum numbers n = 2, l = 0,  $m_l = 0$ .

An electron in a 2*s* atomic orbital may have one of two sets of four quantum numbers:

$$n=2, \quad l=0, \quad m_l=0, \quad m_s=+\frac{1}{2}$$

or

 $n = 2, \quad l = 0, \quad m_l = 0, \quad m_s = -\frac{1}{2}$ 

If the orbital were fully occupied with two electrons, one electron would have  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$ , and the other electron would have  $m_s = -\frac{1}{2}$ , i.e. the two electrons would be spin-paired.

## Self-study exercises

1. Write down two possible sets of quantum numbers to describe an electron in a 3*s* atomic orbital.

[Ans. 
$$n = 3$$
,  $l = 0$ ,  $m_l = 0$ ,  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$ ;  $n = 3$ ,  $l = 0$ ,  
 $m_l = 0$ ,  $m_s = -\frac{1}{2}$ ]

2. If an electron has the quantum numbers n = 2, l = 1,  $m_l = -1$  and  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$  which type of atomic orbital is it occupying? [*Ans.* 2*p*]



## THEORY

## Box 1.4 Angular momentum, the inner quantum number, *j*, and spin–orbit coupling

The value of l determines not only the shape of an orbital but also the amount of orbital angular momentum associated with an electron in the orbital:

Orbital angular momentum =  $\left[\sqrt{l(l+1)}\right]\frac{h}{2\pi}$ 

The axis through the nucleus about which the electron (considered classically) can be thought to rotate defines the direction of the orbital angular momentum. The latter gives rise to a magnetic moment the direction of which is in the same sense as the angular vector and the magnitude of which is proportional to the magnitude of the vector.



In a classical model, an electron moving in a circular orbit has an angular momentum defined by the resultant vector shown in red.

Because the electron is a charged particle, there is an associated magnetic moment, the direction of which is represented in the diagram by the blue arrow.

An electron in an *s* orbital (l = 0) has no orbital angular momentum, an electron in a *p* orbital (l = 1) has angular momentum  $\sqrt{2}(h/2\pi)$ , and so on. The orbital angular momentum vector has (2l + 1) possible directions in space corresponding to the (2l + 1) possible values of  $m_l$  for a given value of *l*. Consider the component of the angular momentum vector along the *z* axis; this has a different value for each of the possible orientations that this vector can take up. The actual magnitude of the *z* component is given by  $m_l(h/2\pi)$ . Thus, for an electron in a *d* orbital (l = 2), the orbital angular momentum is  $\sqrt{6}(h/2\pi)$ , and the *z* component of this may have values of  $+2(h/2\pi)$ ,  $+(h/2\pi)$ , 0,  $-(h/2\pi)$  or  $-2(h/2\pi)$  as shown in the figure opposite.

The orbitals in a sub-shell of given n and l, are degenerate. If, however, the atom is placed in a magnetic field, this degeneracy is removed. If we arbitrarily define the direction of the magnetic field as the z axis, electrons in the various d orbitals will interact to different extents with the magnetic field because of their different values of the z components of their angular momentum vectors (and, hence, orbital magnetic moment vectors).

An electron also has spin angular momentum which can be regarded as originating in the rotation of the electron about its own axis. The magnitude of this is given by:

Spin angular momentum = 
$$\left[\sqrt{s(s+1)}\right] \frac{h}{2\pi}$$

where s = spin quantum number. The axis defines the direction of the spin angular momentum vector, but again it is the orientation of this vector with respect to the *z* direction in which we are interested. The *z* component is given by  $m_s(h/2\pi)$ ; since  $m_s$  can only equal  $+\frac{1}{2}$  or  $-\frac{1}{2}$ , there are only two possible orientations of the spin angular momentum vector, and these give rise to *z* components of magnitude  $+\frac{1}{2}(h/2\pi)$ and  $-\frac{1}{2}(h/2\pi)$ .



For an electron having both orbital and spin angular momentum, the total angular momentum vector is given by:

## Total angular momentum = $\left[\sqrt{j(j+1)}\right] \frac{h}{2\pi}$

where *j* is the *inner quantum number*; *j* may take values of |l + s|or |l - s|, i.e.  $|l + \frac{1}{2}|$  or  $|l - \frac{1}{2}|$ . The symbol '| 'i is a modulus sign and signifies that the quantities (l + s) and (l - s) must have *positive* values. Thus, when l = 0, *j* can only be  $\frac{1}{2}$  because  $|0 + \frac{1}{2}| = |0 - \frac{1}{2}| = \frac{1}{2}$ . (When l = 0 and the electron has no orbital angular momentum, the total angular momentum is  $[\sqrt{s(s+1)}] \frac{h}{2\pi}$  because j = s.) The *z* component of the total angular momentum vector is now  $j(h/2\pi)$  and there are (2j + 1) possible orientations in space.

For an electron in an *ns* orbital (l = 0), *j* can only be  $\frac{1}{2}$ . When the electron is promoted to an *np* orbital, *j* may be  $\frac{3}{2}$  or  $\frac{1}{2}$ , and the energies corresponding to the different *j* values are not equal. In the emission spectrum of sodium, for example, transitions from the  $3p_{3/2}$  and  $3p_{1/2}$  levels to the  $3s_{1/2}$  level correspond to slightly different amounts of energy, and this spin-orbit coupling is the origin of the doublet structure of the strong yellow line in the spectrum of atomic sodium (see Fig. 1.18 p. 31). The fine structure of many other spectral lines arises in analogous ways, though the number of lines observed depends on the difference in energy between states differing only in *j* value and on the resolving power of the spectrometer. The difference in energy between levels for which  $\Delta i = 1$  (the spin-orbit coupling constant,  $\lambda$ ) increases with the atomic number of the element; e.g. that between the  $np_{3/2}$  and  $np_{1/2}$  levels for Li, Na and Cs is 0.23, 11.4 and  $370 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  respectively.

- 3. An electron has the quantum numbers n = 4, l = 1,  $m_l = 0$ and  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$ . Is the electron in a 4s, 4p or 4d atomic orbital? [Ans. 4p]
- 4. Write down a set of quantum numbers that describes an electron in a 5*s* atomic orbital. How does this set of quantum numbers differ if you are describing the second electron in the same orbital?

[Ans. n = 5, l = 0,  $m_l = 0$ ,  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$  or  $-\frac{1}{2}$ ]

## The ground state of the hydrogen atom

So far we have focused on the atomic orbitals of hydrogen and have talked about the probability of finding an electron in different atomic orbitals. The most energetically favourable (stable) state of the H atom is its *ground state* in which the single electron occupies the 1s (lowest energy) atomic orbital. The electron can be promoted to higher energy orbitals (see Section 1.4) to give *excited states*.

The notation for the *ground state electronic configuration* of an H atom is  $1s^1$ , signifying that one electron occupies the 1s atomic orbital.

## 1.7 Many-electron atoms

## The helium atom: two electrons

The preceding sections have been devoted mainly to hydrogen-like species containing one electron, the energy of which depends on n and Z (eq. 1.16). The atomic spectra of such species contain only a few lines associated with changes in the value of n (Fig. 1.3). It is *only* for such species that the Schrödinger equation has been solved exactly.

The next simplest atom is He (Z = 2), and for its two electrons, three electrostatic interactions must be considered:

- attraction between electron (1) and the nucleus;
- attraction between electron (2) and the nucleus;
- repulsion between electrons (1) and (2).

The *net* interaction determines the energy of the system.

In the ground state of the He atom, two electrons with  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$  and  $-\frac{1}{2}$  occupy the 1s atomic orbital, i.e. the electronic configuration is  $1s^2$ . For all atoms except hydrogen-like species, orbitals of the same principal quantum number but differing *l* are *not* degenerate. If one of the  $1s^2$  electrons is promoted to an orbital with n = 2, the energy of the system depends upon whether the electron goes into a 2s or 2p atomic orbital, because each situation gives rise to different electrostatic interactions involving the two electrons and the nucleus. However, there is no energy distinction among the three different 2p atomic orbitals. If promotion is to an orbital with n = 3, different

amounts of energy are needed depending upon whether 3s, 3p or 3d orbitals are involved, although there is no energy difference among the three 3p atomic orbitals, or among the five 3d atomic orbitals. The emission spectrum of He arises as the electrons fall back to lower energy states or to the ground state and it follows that the spectrum contains more lines than that of atomic H.

In terms of obtaining wavefunctions and energies for the atomic orbitals of He, it has not been possible to solve the Schrödinger equation exactly and only approximate solutions are available. For atoms containing more than two electrons, it is even more difficult to obtain accurate solutions to the wave equation.

In a *multi-electron atom*, orbitals with the same value of n but different values of l are *not* degenerate.

# Ground state electronic configurations: experimental data

Now consider the ground state electronic configurations of isolated atoms of all the elements (Table 1.3). These are experimental data, and are nearly always obtained by analysing atomic spectra. Most atomic spectra are too complex for discussion here and we take their interpretation on trust.

We have already seen that the ground state electronic configurations of H and He are  $1s^1$  and  $1s^2$  respectively. The 1s atomic orbital is fully occupied in He and its configuration is often written as [He]. In the next two elements, Li and Be, the electrons go into the 2s orbital, and then from B to Ne, the 2p orbitals are occupied to give the electronic configurations [He] $2s^22p^m$  (m = 1-6). When m = 6, the energy level (or *shell*) with n = 2 is fully occupied, and the configuration for Ne can be written as [Ne]. The filling of the 3s and 3p atomic orbitals takes place in an analogous sequence from Na to Ar, the last element in the series having the electronic configuration [Ne] $3s^23p^6$  or [Ar].

With K and Ca, successive electrons go into the 4s orbital, and Ca has the electronic configuration  $[Ar]4s^2$ . At this point, the pattern changes. To a first approximation, the 10 electrons for the next 10 elements (Sc to Zn) enter the 3d orbitals, giving Zn the electronic configuration  $4s^23d^{10}$ . There are some irregularities (see Table 1.3) to which we return later. From Ga to Kr, the 4p orbitals are filled, and the electronic configuration for Kr is  $[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4p^6$  or [Kr].

From Rb to Xe, the general sequence of filling orbitals is the same as that from K to Kr although there are once again irregularities in the distribution of electrons between s and datomic orbitals (see Table 1.3).

From Cs to Rn, electrons enter f orbitals for the first time; Cs, Ba and La have configurations analogous to those of Rb, Sr and Y, but after that the configurations change as we

Atomic number	Element	Ground state electronic configuration	Atomic number	Element	Ground state electronic configuration
1	Н	$1s^1$	53	Ι	$[Kr]5s^24d^{10}5p^5$
2	He	$1s^2 = [He]$	54	Xe	$[Kr]5s^24d^{10}5p^6 = [Xe]$
3	Li	[He]2 <i>s</i> <sup>1</sup>	55	Cs	$[Xe]6s^1$
4	Be	$[He]2s^2$	56	Ва	$[Xe]6s^2$
5	В	$[\text{He}]2s^22p^1$	57	La	$[Xe]6s^25d^1$
6	С	$[He]2s^22p^2$	58	Ce	$[Xe]4f^{1}6s^{2}5d^{1}$
7	Ν	$[He]2s^22p^3$	59	Pr	$[Xe]4f^36s^2$
8	0	$[He]2s^22p^4$	60	Nd	$[Xe]4f^46s^2$
9	F	$[He]2s^22p^5$	61	Pm	$[Xe]4f^56s^2$
10	Ne	$[\text{He}]2s^22p^6 = [\text{Ne}]$	62	Sm	$[Xe]4f^{6}6s^{2}$
11	Na	$[Ne]3s^1$	63	Eu	$[Xe]4f^{7}6s^{2}$
12	Mg	$[Ne]3s^2$	64	Gd	$[Xe]4f^{7}6s^{2}5d^{1}$
13	Al	$[Ne]3s^23p^1$	65	Tb	$[Xe]4f^96s^2$
14	Si	$[Ne]3s^23p^2$	66	Dy	$[Xe]4f^{10}6s^2$
15	Р	$[Ne]3s^23p^3$	67	Но	$[Xe]4f^{11}6s^2$
16	S	$[Ne]3s^23p^4$	68	Er	$[Xe]4f^{12}6s^2$
17	Cl	$[Ne]3s^23p^5$	69	Tm	$[Xe]4f^{13}6s^2$
18	Ar	$[Ne]3s^23p^6 = [Ar]$	70	Yb	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^2$
19	К	$[Ar]4s^1$	71	Lu	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^1$
20	Ca	$[Ar]4s^2$	72	Hf	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^2$
21	Sc	$[Ar]4s^23d^1$	73	Та	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^3$
22	Ti	$[Ar]4s^23d^2$	74	W	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^4$
23	V	$[Ar]4s^23d^3$	75	Re	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^5$
24	Cr	$[Ar]4s^{1}3d^{5}$	76	Os	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^6$
25	Mn	$[Ar]4s^23d^5$	77	Ir	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^7$
26	Fe	$[Ar]4s^23d^6$	78	Pt	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^{1}5d^{9}$
27	Co	$[Ar]4s^23d^7$	79	Au	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^{1}5d^{10}$
28	Ni	$[Ar]4s^23d^8$	80	Hø	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}$
29	Cu	$[Ar]4s^{1}3d^{10}$	81	TI	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6p^1$
30	Zn	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}$	82	Pb	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6p^2$
31	Ga	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4n^1$	83	Bi	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6n^3$
32	Ge	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4p^2$	84	Po	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6n^4$
33	As	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4n^3$	85	At	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6p^5$
34	Se	$[Ar]4s^2 3d^{10}4n^4$	86	Rn	$[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6n^6 = [Rn]$
35	Br	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4p^5$	87	Fr	$[\mathbf{Rn}]\mathbf{7s}^{1}$
36	Kr	$[Ar]4s^23d^{10}4n^6 = [Kr]$	88	Ra	$[\mathbf{R}\mathbf{n}]7\mathbf{s}^2$
37	Rb	$[Kr]5s^1$	89	Ac	$[\mathbf{Rn}]6d^{1}7s^{2}$
38	Sr	$[Kr]5s^2$	90	Th	$[\mathbf{R}\mathbf{n}]6d^27s^2$
39	Y	$[Kr]5s^24d^1$	91	Pa	$[\operatorname{Rn}]5t^27s^26d^1$
40	Zr	$[Kr]5s^24d^2$	92	II	$[\mathbf{Rn}]5f^37s^26d^1$
41	Nh	$[Kr]5s^{1}4d^{4}$	93	Nn	$[\operatorname{Rn}]5f^{4}7s^{2}6d^{1}$
42	Mo	$[Kr]5s^{1}4d^{5}$	94	Pu	$[\mathbf{Rn}]5f^{6}7s^{2}$
43	Tc	$[Kr]5s^24d^5$	95	Am	$[\mathbf{Rn}]5f^77s^2$
44	Ru	$[Kr]5s^{1}4d^{7}$	96	Cm	$[\mathbf{Rn}]5f^7 r_s^2 6d^1$
45	Rh	$[Kr]_{5s}^{-1}4d^{8}$	97	Rk	$[Rn]5f^97s^2$
46	Pd	$[Kr]5s^{0}4d^{10}$	08	Cf	$[\mathbf{R}\mathbf{n}]5f^{10}7s^2$
40	Δσ	$[Kr]5s^{1}4d^{10}$	00	Fs	$[\mathbf{R}\mathbf{n}]5f^{11}7s^2$
48	Cd	$[Kr]5s^24d^{10}$	100	Em	$[\mathbf{D}_{n}]5f^{12}7s^{2}$
40	In	$[Kr]5s^24d^{10}5n^1$	101	Md	$[\mathbf{R} \mathbf{n}] 5 f^{13} 7 s^2$
50	Sn	$[Kr]5s^{2}4d^{10}5r^{2}$	101	No	$[\mathbf{P}\mathbf{n}]_{5f}^{14}7_{5}^{2}$
51	Sh	$[Kr]5s^{2}4d^{10}5r^{3}$	102	Ino	$[\mathbf{Rn}]_{5f}^{14}7s^{2}6d^{1}$
52	Те	$[Kr]5s^{2}4d^{10}5p^{4}$	105	1.1	

**Table 1.3** Ground state electronic configurations of the elements up to Z = 103.



**Fig. 1.13.** Radial distribution functions,  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$ , for the 1*s*, 2*s* and 2*p* atomic orbitals of the hydrogen atom.

begin the sequence of the *lanthanoid* elements (see Chapter 27).<sup>†</sup> Cerium has the configuration  $[Xe]4f^16s^25d^1$  and the filling of the seven 4f orbitals follows until an electronic configuration of  $[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^1$  is reached for Lu. Table 1.3 shows that the 5*d* orbital is not usually occupied for a lanthanoid element. After Lu, successive electrons occupy the remaining 5*d* orbitals (Hf to Hg) and then the 6*p* orbitals to Rn which has the configuration  $[Xe]4f^{14}6s^25d^{10}6p^6$  or [Rn]. Table 1.3 shows some irregularities along the series of *d*-block elements.

For the remaining elements in Table 1.3 beginning at francium (Fr), filling of the orbitals follows a similar sequence as that from Cs but the sequence is incomplete and some of the heaviest elements are too unstable for detailed investigations to be possible. The metals from Th to Lr are the *actinoid* elements, and in discussing their chemistry, Ac is generally considered with the actinoids (see Chapter 27).

A detailed inspection of Table 1.3 makes it obvious that there is no one sequence that represents accurately the occupation of different sets of orbitals with increasing atomic number. The following sequence is *approximately* true for the relative energies (lowest energy first) of orbitals in *neutral atoms*:

$$1s < 2s < 2p < 3s < 3p < 4s < 3d < 4p < 5s < 4d < 5p < 6s < 5d \approx 4f < 6p < 7s < 6d \approx 5f$$

The energies of different orbitals are close together for high values of n and their relative energies can change significantly on forming an ion (see Section 19.2).

## Penetration and shielding

Although it is not possible to calculate the dependence of the energies of orbitals on atomic number with the degree of accuracy that is required to obtain agreement with all the electronic configurations listed in Table 1.3, some useful information can be gained by considering the different *screening effects* that electrons in different atomic orbitals have on one another. Figure 1.13 shows the radial distribution functions for the 1*s*, 2*s* and 2*p* atomic orbitals of the H atom. (It is a common approximation to assume hydrogen-like wavefunctions for multi-electron atoms.) Although values of  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  for the 1*s* orbital are much greater than those of the 2*s* and 2*p* orbitals at distances relatively close to the nucleus, the values for the 2*s* and 2*p* orbitals are still significant. We say that the 2*s* and 2*p* atomic orbitals *penetrate* the 1*s* atomic orbital. Calculations show that the 2*s* atomic orbital is more penetrating than the 2*p* orbital.

Now let us consider the arrangement of the electrons in Li (Z = 3). In the ground state, the 1s atomic orbital is fully occupied and the third electron could occupy either a 2s or 2p orbital. Which arrangement will possess the lower energy? An electron in a 2s or 2p atomic orbital experiences the *effective nuclear charge*, Z<sub>eff</sub>, of a nucleus partly *shielded* by the 1s electrons. Since the 2p orbital penetrates the 1s orbital less than a 2s orbital does (Fig. 1.13), a 2p electron is shielded more than a 2s electron. Thus, occupation of the 2s rather than the 2p atomic orbital gives a lower energy system. Although we should consider the energies of the *electrons* in atomic orbitals, it is common practice to think in terms of the orbital energies themselves: E(2s) < E(2p). Similar arguments lead to the sequence E(3s) < E(3p) < E(3d) and E(4s) < E(4p) < E(4d) <E(4f). As we move to atoms of elements of higher atomic number, the energy differences between orbitals with the same value of n become smaller, the validity of assuming hydrogen-like wavefunctions becomes more doubtful, and predictions of ground states become less reliable. The treatment above also ignores electron-electron interactions within the same principal quantum shell.

A set of empirical rules (Slater's rules) for estimating the effective nuclear charges experienced by electrons in different atomic orbitals is described in Box 1.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> The IUPAC recommends the names lanthanoid and actinoid in preference to lanthanide and actinide; the ending '-ide' usually implies a negatively charged ion. However, lanthanide and actinide are still widely used.

## THEORY

## Box 1.5 Effective nuclear charge and Slater's rules

## Slater's rules

Effective nuclear charges,  $Z_{\rm eff}$ , experienced by electrons in different atomic orbitals may be estimated using *Slater's rules*. These rules are based on experimental data for electron promotion and ionization energies, and  $Z_{\rm eff}$  is determined from the equation:

 $Z_{\rm eff} = Z - S$ 

where Z = nuclear charge,  $Z_{\text{eff}} =$  effective nuclear charge, S = screening (or shielding) constant.

Values of *S* may be estimated as follows:

- 1. Write out the electronic configuration of the element in the following order and groupings: (1s), (2s, 2p), (3s, 3p), (3d), (4s, 4p), (4d), (4f), (5s, 5p) etc.
- 2. Electrons in any group higher in this sequence than the electron under consideration contribute nothing to *S*.
- 3. Consider a particular electron in an *ns* or *np* orbital:
  - (i) Each of the other electrons in the (ns, np) group contributes S = 0.35.
  - (ii) Each of the electrons in the (n-1) shell contributes S = 0.85.
  - (iii) Each of the electrons in the (n 2) or lower shells contributes S = 1.00.
- 4. Consider a particular electron in an *nd* or *nf* orbital:
  - (i) Each of the other electrons in the (*nd*, *nf*) group contributes S = 0.35.
  - (ii) Each of the electrons in a lower group than the one being considered contributes S = 1.00.

#### An example of how to apply Slater's rules

Question: Confirm that the experimentally observed electronic configuration of K,  $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^64s^1$ , is energetically more stable than the configuration  $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^63d^1$ .

For K, Z = 19.

Applying Slater's rules, the effective nuclear charge experienced by the 4*s* electron for the configuration  $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^64s^1$  is:

 $Z_{\rm eff} = Z - S$ 

The nuclear charge, Z = 19

The screening constant,  $S = (8 \times 0.85) + (10 \times 1.00)$ = 16.8

 $Z_{\rm eff} = 19 - 16.8 = 2.2$ 

The effective nuclear charge experienced by the 3*d* electron for the configuration  $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^63d^1$  is:

$$Z_{\rm eff} = Z - S$$

The nuclear charge, Z = 19

The screening constant, 
$$S = (18 \times 1.00)$$

$$= 18.0$$

 $Z_{\rm eff} = 19 - 18.0 = 1.0$ 

Thus, an electron in the 4s (rather than the 3d) atomic orbital is under the influence of a greater effective nuclear charge and in the ground state of potassium, it is the 4s atomic orbital that is occupied.

## Slater versus Clementi and Raimondi values of Z<sub>eff</sub>

Slater's rules have been used to estimate ionization energies, ionic radii and electronegativities. More accurate effective nuclear charges have been calculated by Clementi and Raimondi by using *self-consistent field* (SCF) methods, and indicate much higher  $Z_{eff}$  values for the *d* electrons. However, the simplicity of Slater's approach makes this an attractive method for 'back-of-the-envelope' estimations of  $Z_{eff}$ .

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that Slater's rules give a value of  $Z_{\text{eff}} = 1.95$  for a 2s electron in a Be atom.
- 2. Show that Slater's rules give a value of  $Z_{\text{eff}} = 5.20$  for a 2p electron of F.
- 3. Use Slater's rules to estimate values of Z<sub>eff</sub> for (a) a 4s and (b) a 3d electron in a V atom.

[Ans. (a) 3.30; (b) 4.30]

4. Using your answer to question 3, explain why the valence configuration of the ground state of a V<sup>+</sup> ion is likely to be  $3d^34s^1$  rather than  $3d^24s^2$ .

## Further reading

- J.L. Reed (1999) *J. Chem. Educ.*, vol. 76, p. 802 'The genius of Slater's rules'.
- D. Tudela (1993) *J. Chem. Educ.*, vol. 70, p. 956 'Slater's rules and electronic configurations'.
- G. Wulfsberg (2000) *Inorganic Chemistry*, University Science Books, Sausalito, CA – Contains a fuller treatment of Slater's rules and illustrates their application, particularly to the assessment of electronegativity.

## 1.8 The periodic table

In 1869 and 1870 respectively, Dmitri Mendeléev and Lothar Meyer stated that the *properties of the elements can be represented as periodic functions of their atomic weights*, and set out their ideas in the form of a *periodic table*. As new elements have been discovered, the original form of the periodic table has been extensively modified, and it is now recognized that *periodicity* is a consequence of the variation in ground state electronic configurations. A modern periodic table (Fig. 1.14) emphasizes the blocks of 2, 6, 10 and 14 elements which result from the filling of the *s*, *p*, *d* and *f* atomic orbitals respectively. An exception is He, which, for reasons of its chemistry, is placed in a *group* with Ne, Ar, Kr, Xe and Rn. A more detailed periodic table is given inside the front cover of the book.

The IUPAC (International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry) has produced guidelines<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> for naming blocks and groups of elements in the periodic table. In summary,

- blocks of elements may be designated by use of the letters *s*, *p*, *d* or *f* (Fig. 1.14);
- elements (except H) in groups 1, 2 and 13–18 are called *main group elements*;
- with the exception of group 18, the first two elements of each main group are called *typical elements*;
- elements in groups 3–12 (the *d*-block elements) are also commonly called the *transition elements*, although elements in group 12 are not always included;
- the *f*-block elements are sometimes called the *inner transition elements*.

Collective names for some of the groups of elements in the periodic table are given in Table 1.4.

At the end of 2016, the number of elements in the periodic table stood at 118. At the end of 2015, the IUPAC verified the discovery of elements with atomic numbers 113, 115, 117 and 118 (see Section 27.5).<sup>‡</sup>

 Table 1.4
 IUPAC recommended names for groups of elements in the periodic table.

Group number	Recommended name
1	Alkali metals
2	Alkaline earth metals
15	Pnictogens
16	Chalcogens
17	Halogens
18	Noble gases

## 1.9 The aufbau principle

## Ground state electronic configurations

In the previous two sections, we have considered experimental electronic configurations and have seen that the organization of the elements in the periodic table depends on the number, and arrangement, of electrons that each element possesses. Establishing the ground state electronic configuration of an atom is the key to understanding its chemistry, and we now discuss the *aufbau* principle (*aufbau* means 'building up' in German) which is used in conjunction with Hund's rules and the Pauli exclusion principle to determine electronic ground state configurations:

- Orbitals are filled in order of energy, the lowest energy orbitals being filled first.
- Hund's first rule (often referred to simply as Hund's rule): in a set of degenerate orbitals, electrons may not be spin-paired in an orbital until *each* orbital in the set contains one electron; electrons singly occupying orbitals in a degenerate set have parallel spins, i.e. they have the same values of  $m_s$ .
- Pauli exclusion principle: no two electrons in the same atom may have the same set of n, l,  $m_l$  and  $m_s$  quantum numbers; it follows that each orbital can accommodate a maximum of two electrons with different  $m_s$  values (different spins = spin-paired).

## Worked example 1.6 Using the *aufbau* principle

Determine (with reasoning) the ground state electronic configurations of (a) Be (Z = 4) and (b) P (Z = 15).

The value of Z gives the number of electrons to be accommodated in atomic orbitals in the ground state of the atom.

Assume an order of atomic orbitals (lowest energy first) as follows: 1s < 2s < 2p < 3s < 3p

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> IUPAC: Nomenclature of Inorganic Chemistry (Recommendations 2005), senior eds N.G. Connelly and T. Damhus, RSC Publishing, Cambridge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> P.J. Karol *et al.* (2003) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 75, p. 1601 – 'On the claims for the discovery of elements 110, 111, 112, 114, 116 and 118'; K. Tatsumi and J. Corish (2010) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 82, p. 753 – 'Name and symbol of the element with atomic number 112'; R.C. Barber *et al.* (2011) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 83, p. 1485; errata: vol. 83, p. 1801 – 'Discovery of the elements with atomic numbers greater than or equal to 113'; R.D. Loss and J. Corish (2012) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 84, p. 1669 – 'Names and symbols of the elements with atomic numbers 114 and 116'; P.J. Karol *et al.* (2016) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 88, p. 139 – 'Discovery of the elements with atomic numbers Z = 113, 115 and 117'; P.J. Karol *et al.* (2016) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 88, p. 115 – 'Discovery of the element with atomic number Z = 118 completing the 7th row of the periodic table'; L. Öhrström and J.Reedijk (2016) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 88, p. 115 – *Marce Appl. Chem.*, vol. 88, p. 125 – 'Names and symbols of the elements with atomic number Z = 118 completing the 7th row of the periodic table'; L. Öhrström and J.Reedijk (2016) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 88, p. 115, 117 and 118'.

s-block (	element:	s			Ċ	d-block (	element	s					I	p-block	element	s	
Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group	Group
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
1	]																2
Н																	He
3	4											5	6	7	8	9	10
Li	Be											В	С	N	0	F	Ne
11	12											13	14	15	16	17	18
Na	Mg											Al	Si	Р	S	CI	Ar
19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
К	Ca	Sc	Ti	V	Cr	Mn	Fe	Co	Ni	Cu	Zn	Ga	Ge	As	Se	Br	Kr
37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50	51	52	53	54
Rb	Sr	Y	Zr	Nb	Мо	Tc	Ru	Rh	Pd	Ag	Cd	In	Sn	Sb	Te	I	Xe
55	56	57–71	72	73	74	75	76	77	78	79	80	81	82	83	84	85	86
Cs	Ва	La–Lu	Hf	Та	W	Re	Os	lr	Pt	Au	Hg	TI	Pb	Bi	Ро	At	Rn
87	88	89–103	104	105	106	107	108	109	110	111	112	113	114	115	116	117	118
Fr	Ra	Ac–Lr	Rf	Db	Sg	Bh	Hs	Mt	Ds	Rg	Cn	Nh	Fl	Mc	Lv	Ts	Og

#### f-block elements 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 Lanthanoids Pr Nd Gd Τb Dy Fr Yb Ce Pm Sm Eu Но Tm Lu 90 91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 Actinoids Th Pa U Pu Cm Bk Cf Es Md No Np Am Fm Lr

**Fig. 1.14.** The modern periodic table in which the elements are arranged in numerical order according to the number of protons (and electrons) they possess. The division into *groups* places elements with the same number of valence electrons into vertical columns within the table. Under IUPAC recommendations, the groups are labelled from 1 to 18 (Arabic numbers). Rows in the periodic table are called *periods*. The first period contains H and He, but the row from Li to Ne is usually referred to as the first period. Strictly, the lanthanoids include the 14 elements Ce–Lu, and the actinoids include Th–Lr; however, common usage places La with the lanthanoids, and Ac with the actinoids (see Chapter 27).

(a) Be Z = 4

Two electrons (spin-paired) are accommodated in the lowest energy 1s atomic orbital.

The next two electrons (spin-paired) are accommodated in the 2s atomic orbital.

The ground state electronic configuration of Be is therefore  $1s^2 2s^2$ .

(b) P Z = 15

Two electrons (spin-paired) are accommodated in the lowest energy 1s atomic orbital.

The next two electrons (spin-paired) are accommodated in the 2s atomic orbital.

The next six electrons are accommodated in the three degenerate 2p atomic orbitals, two spin-paired electrons per orbital.

The next two electrons (spin-paired) are accommodated in the 3s atomic orbital.

Three electrons remain and, applying Hund's rule, these singly occupy each of the three degenerate 3p atomic orbitals.

The ground state electronic configuration of P is therefore  $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^3$ .

## **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Where, in the worked example above, is the Pauli exclusion principle applied?
- 2. Will the three electrons in the P 3*p* atomic orbitals possess the same or different values of the spin quantum number? [*Ans.* Same; parallel spins]
- 3. Show, with reasoning, that the ground state electronic configuration of O (Z = 8) is  $1s^2 2s^2 2p^4$ .
- 4. Determine (with reasoning) how many unpaired electrons are present in a ground state Al atom (Z = 13). [*Ans.* 1]

# Worked example 1.7 The ground state electronic configurations of the noble gases

The atomic numbers of He, Ne, Ar and Kr are 2, 10, 18 and 36 respectively. Write down the ground state electronic configurations of these elements and comment upon their similarities or differences.

Apply the *aufbau* principle using the atomic orbital energy sequence:

1s < 2s < 2p < 3s < 3p < 4s < 3d < 4p

The ground state electronic configurations are:

He	Z = 2	$1s^2$
Ne	Z = 10	$1s^2 2s^2 2p^6$
Ar	Z = 18	$1s^2 2s^2 2p^6 3s^2 3p^6$
Kr	Z = 36	$1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^64s^23d^{10}4p^6$

Each element Ne, Ar and Kr has a ground state electronic configuration  $\dots ns^2 np^6$ . Helium is the odd one out, but still possesses a filled quantum level; this is a characteristic property of a noble gas.

### **Self-study exercises**

1. Values of Z for Li, Na, K and Rb are 3, 11, 19 and 37 respectively. Write down their ground state configurations and comment on the result.

[*Ans*. All are of the form [X]*ns*<sup>1</sup> where X is a noble gas]

2. How are the ground state electronic configurations of O, S and Se (Z = 8, 16, 34 respectively) alike? Give another element related in the same way.

[Ans. All are of the form  $[X]ns^2np^4$  where X is a noble gas; Te or Po]

3. State two elements that have ground state electronic configurations of the general type  $[X]ns^2np^1$ .

[Ans. Any two elements from group 13]

#### Valence and core electrons

*Core electrons* occupy lower energy quantum levels than *valence electrons*. The *valence electrons* of an element determine its chemical properties.

The configuration of the outer or *valence electrons* is of particular significance. These electrons determine the chemical properties of an element. Electrons that occupy lower energy quantum levels are called *core electrons*. The core electrons shield the valence electrons from the nuclear charge, resulting in the valence electrons experiencing only the effective nuclear charge,  $Z_{\text{eff}}$ . For an element of low atomic number, the core and valence electrons are readily recognized by looking at the ground state electronic configuration. That of oxygen is  $1s^22s^22p^4$ . The core electrons of oxygen are those in the 1s atomic orbital; the six electrons with n = 2 are the valence electrons.

# Diagrammatic representations of electronic configurations

The notation we have used to represent electronic configurations is convenient and is commonly adopted, but sometimes it is also useful to indicate the relative energies of the electrons. In this case, the electrons are represented by arrows  $\uparrow$  or  $\downarrow$  with the direction of the arrow corresponding to  $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$  or  $-\frac{1}{2}$ . Figure 1.15 gives qualitative energy level diagrams which describe the ground state electronic configurations of O and Si.

## Worked example 1.8 Quantum numbers for electrons

Confirm that the ground state configuration shown for oxygen in Fig. 1.15 is consistent with each electron possessing a unique set of four quantum numbers.

Each atomic orbital is designated by a unique set of three quantum numbers:

1 <i>s</i>	n = 1	l = 0	$m_{l} = 0$
2 <i>s</i>	n = 2	l = 0	$m_l = 0$
2 <i>p</i>	n = 2	l = 1	$m_l = -1$
	n = 2	l = 1	$m_l = 0$
	n = 2	l = 1	$m_l = +1$

If an atomic orbital contains two electrons, they must have opposite spins so that the sets of quantum numbers for the two electrons are different: e.g. in the 1*s* atomic orbital:

one electron has n = 1 l = 0  $m_l = 0$   $m_s = +\frac{1}{2}$ the other electron has n = 1 l = 0  $m_l = 0$   $m_s = -\frac{1}{2}$ 

[This discussion is extended in Section 20.6.]



**Fig. 1.15.** Diagrammatic representations of the ground state electronic configurations of O and Si. The complete configurations are shown here, but it is common to simply indicate the valence electrons. For O, this consists of the 2s and 2p levels, and for Si, the 3s and 3p levels.

## THEORY

## Box 1.6 The relationship between $\Delta U$ and $\Delta H$

The relationship between the change in internal energy,  $\Delta U$ , and change in enthalpy,  $\Delta H$ , of the system for a reaction at a given temperature is given by the equation:

$$\Delta U = \Delta H - P \Delta V$$

where *P* is the pressure and  $\Delta V$  is the change in volume. The  $P\Delta V$  term corresponds to the work done, e.g. in expanding the system against the surroundings as a gas is liberated during a reaction. Often in a chemical reaction, the pressure *P* corresponds to atmospheric pressure (1 atm = 101 300 Pa, or 1 bar = 10<sup>5</sup> Pa).

In general, the work done by or on the system is much smaller than the enthalpy change, making the  $P\Delta V$  term negligible with respect to the values of  $\Delta U$  and  $\Delta H$ . Thus:

$$\Delta U(T \mathbf{K}) \approx \Delta H(T \mathbf{K})$$

However, in Section 1.10, we are considering two different temperatures and state that:

$$\Delta U(0 \,\mathrm{K}) \approx \Delta H(298 \,\mathrm{K})$$

In order to assess the variation in  $\Delta H$  with temperature, we apply Kirchhoff's equation where  $C_P =$  molar heat capacity at constant pressure:

$$\Delta C_P = \left(\frac{\partial \Delta H}{\partial T}\right)_P$$

## **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Show that the ground state electronic configuration  $1s^22s^22p^1$  for B corresponds to each electron having a unique set of four quantum numbers.
- 2. The ground state of N is  $1s^22s^22p^3$ . Show that each electron in the 2p level possesses a unique set of four quantum numbers.
- 3. Explain why it is *not* possible for C to possess a ground state electronic configuration of  $1s^22s^22p^2$  with the 2p electrons having paired spins.

# 1.10 Ionization energies and electron affinities

## **Ionization energies**

The ionization energy of hydrogen (eqs. 1.9 and 1.10) was discussed in Section 1.4. Since the H atom has only one electron, no additional ionization processes can occur. For multi-electron atoms, successive ionizations are possible.

The first ionization energy,  $IE_1$ , of an atom is the internal energy change at 0 K,  $\Delta U(0 \text{ K})$ , associated with the removal

the integrated form of which (integrating between the limits of the temperatures 0 and 298 K) is:

$$\int_{0}^{298} \mathrm{d}(\Delta H) = \int_{0}^{298} \Delta C_P \,\mathrm{d}T$$

Integrating the left-hand side gives:

$$\Delta H(298 \mathrm{K}) - \Delta H(0 \mathrm{K}) = \int_0^{298} \Delta C_P \,\mathrm{d}T$$

Consider the ionization of an atom X:

$$X(g) \longrightarrow X^+(g) + e^-(g)$$

If X, X<sup>+</sup> and e<sup>-</sup> are all ideal monatomic gases, then the value of  $C_P$  for each is  $\frac{5}{2}R$  (where R is the molar gas constant = 8.314 × 10<sup>-3</sup> kJ K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>), giving for the reaction a value of  $\Delta C_P$  of  $\frac{5}{2}R$ . Therefore:

$$\Delta H(298 \text{ K}) - \Delta H(0 \text{ K}) = \int_0^{298} \frac{5}{2} R \, \mathrm{d}T$$
$$= \left(\frac{5 \times 8.314 \times 10^{-3}}{2}\right) [T]_0^{298}$$
$$= 6.2 \, \text{k Lmol}^{-1}$$

Inspection of typical values of ionization energies in Appendix 8 shows that a correction of this magnitude is relatively insignificant because values of *IE* are so large.

of the first valence electron (eq. 1.17). The energy change is defined for a *gas-phase* process. The units are kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> or electron volts (eV).<sup>†</sup>

$$\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{g}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{X}^+(\mathbf{g}) + \mathbf{e}^- \tag{1.17}$$

It is often necessary to incorporate ionization energies into thermochemical calculations (e.g. Born–Haber or Hess cycles) and it is convenient to define an associated *enthalpy change*,  $\Delta H(298 \text{ K})$ . Since the difference between  $\Delta H(298 \text{ K})$  and  $\Delta U(0 \text{ K})$  is very small (see Box 1.6), values of *IE* can be used in thermochemical cycles so long as extremely accurate answers are not required.

The *first ionization energy*  $(IE_1)$  of a gaseous atom is the internal energy change,  $\Delta U$ , at 0 K associated with the removal of the first valence electron:

 $X(g) \longrightarrow X^+(g) + e^-$ 

For thermochemical cycles, an associated change in enthalpy,  $\Delta H$ , at 298 K is used:

 $\Delta H(298 \,\mathrm{K}) \approx \Delta U(0 \,\mathrm{K})$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> An electron volt is a non-SI unit with a value of  $\approx 1.60218 \times 10^{-19}$  J; to compare eV and kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> units, it is necessary to multiply by the Avogadro number. 1 eV = 96.4853  $\approx$  96.5 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>.



Fig. 1.16. The values of the first ionization energies of the elements up to Rn.

The second ionization energy,  $IE_2$ , of an atom refers to step 1.18; this is equivalent to the first ionization of the ion X<sup>+</sup>. Equation 1.19 describes the step corresponding to the third ionization energy,  $IE_3$ , of X, and successive ionizations are similarly defined, all for gas phase processes.

$$\mathbf{X}^{+}(\mathbf{g}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{X}^{2+}(\mathbf{g}) + \mathbf{e}^{-} \tag{1.18}$$

$$X^{2+}(g) \longrightarrow X^{3+}(g) + e^{-}$$
 (1.19)

Values of ionization energies for the elements are listed in Appendix 8. Figure 1.16 shows the variation in the values of  $IE_1$  as a function of Z. Several repeating patterns are apparent and some features to note are:

- the high values of  $IE_1$  associated with the noble gases;
- the very low values of *IE*<sub>1</sub> associated with the group 1 elements;

- the *general* increase in values of *IE*<sub>1</sub> across a given period;
- the discontinuity in values of  $IE_1$  on going from an element in group 15 to its neighbour in group 16;
- the decrease in values of  $IE_1$  on going from an element in group 2 or 12 to its neighbour in group 13;
- the rather similar values of  $IE_1$  for a given row of *d*-block elements.

Each of these trends can be rationalized in terms of ground state electronic configurations. The noble gases (except for He) possess  $ns^2np^6$  configurations which are particularly stable (see Box 1.7) and removal of an electron requires a great deal of energy. The ionization of a group 1 element involves loss of an electron from a singly occupied *ns* orbital with the resultant X<sup>+</sup> ion possessing a noble gas



## THEORY

## Box 1.7 Exchange energies

Filled and half-filled shells are often referred to as possessing a 'special stability'. However, this is misleading, and we should really consider the *exchange energy* of a given configuration. This can only be justified by an advanced quantum mechanical treatment but we can summarize the idea as follows. Consider two electrons in *different* orbitals. The repulsion between the electrons if they have anti-parallel spins is greater than if they have parallel spins, e.g. for a  $p^2$  configuration:

The difference in energy between these two configurations is the *exchange energy*, *K*, i.e. this is the extra stability that the right-hand configuration has with respect to the left-hand one. The total exchange energy is expressed in terms of K (the actual value of K depends on the atom or ion):

Exchange energy = 
$$\Sigma \frac{N(N-1)}{2}K$$

where N = number of electrons with parallel spins.

#### Further reading

- A.B. Blake (1981) J. Chem. Educ., vol. 58, p. 393.
- B.J. Duke (1978) Educ. Chem., vol. 15, p. 186.
- D.M.P. Mingos (1998) *Essential Trends in Inorganic Chemistry*, OUP, Oxford, p. 14.

configuration. The general increase in  $IE_1$  across a given period is a consequence of an increase in Z<sub>eff</sub>, e.g. Li to Ne, or Na to Ar. On going from Be  $(2s^2)$  to B  $(2s^22p^1)$ , or from Mg  $(3s^2)$  to Al  $(3s^23p^1)$ , there is a decrease in  $IE_1$ . This corresponds to the outer electron in the nporbital being shielded from the nuclear charge by the  $ns^2$ electrons. Similarly, the drop in  $IE_1$  from Zn  $(4s^23d^{10})$  to Ga  $(4s^23d^{10}4p^1)$  is because the electron being removed singly occupies the 4p orbital. A drop in  $IE_1$  is also observed on going from N  $(2s^22p^3)$  to O  $(2s^22p^4)$ . In N, the three p electrons occupy different atomic orbitals, whereas in O, one 2p orbital is doubly occupied. These two electrons repel one another, making it is easier to remove the first electron from the valence shell of O (i.e. from the doubly occupied 2p orbital) than from N. An additional factor to consider is the loss in *exchange energy* (see Box 1.7) when an N atom is ionized. Trends among IE values for *d*-block metals are discussed in Section 19.3.

## Self-study exercises

Refer to Fig. 1.16.

- 1. Why is there a decrease in  $IE_1$  on going from K to Rb?
- 2. Why does  $IE_1$  increase on going from Ga to Kr?
- 3. Suggest why there is a decrease in  $IE_1$  on going from As to Se < P to S < N to O.
- 4. Why does *IE*<sub>1</sub> for the group 1 elements decrease in the order Li > Na > K > Rb > Cs?

## **Electron affinities**

The first electron affinity  $(EA_1)$  is *minus* the internal energy change (eq. 1.20) for the gain of an electron by a *gaseous* atom (eq. 1.21). The second electron affinity of atom Y is defined for process 1.22. Each reaction occurs in the gas phase.

$$EA = -\Delta U(0 \,\mathrm{K}) \tag{1.20}$$

 $Y(g) + e^{-} \longrightarrow Y^{-}(g) \tag{1.21}$ 

$$Y^{-}(g) + e^{-} \rightarrow Y^{2-}(g) \tag{1.22}$$

As we saw for ionization energies, it is convenient to define an enthalpy change,  $\Delta_{EA}H$ , associated with each of the **Table 1.5** Approximate *enthalpy changes*  $\Delta_{\text{EA}}H(298 \text{ K})$  associated with the attachment of an electron to an atom or anion.<sup>†</sup>

Process	$pprox \Delta_{ m EA} H/  m kJ mol^{-1}$
$H(g) + e^{-} \longrightarrow H^{-}(g)$	-73
$Li(g) + e^{-} \longrightarrow Li^{-}(g)$	-60
$Na(g) + e^- \rightarrow Na^-(g)$	-53
$K(g) + e^- \longrightarrow K^-(g)$	-48
$N(g) + e^- \longrightarrow N^-(g)$	$\approx 0$
$P(g) + e^- \longrightarrow P^-(g)$	-72
$O(g) + e^- \longrightarrow O^-(g)$	-141
$O^{-}(g) + e^{-} \rightarrow O^{2-}(g)$	+798
$S(g) + e^- \longrightarrow S^-(g)$	-201
$S^{-}(g) + e^{-} \longrightarrow S^{2-}(g)$	+640
$F(g) + e^- \longrightarrow F^-(g)$	-328
$Cl(g) + e^{-} \longrightarrow Cl^{-}(g)$	-349
$Br(g) + e^- \longrightarrow Br^-(g)$	-325
$I(g) + e^- \longrightarrow I^-(g)$	-295

<sup>†</sup> Tables of data differ in whether they list values of *EA* or  $\Delta_{EA}H$  and it is essential to note which is being used.

reactions 1.21 and 1.22. We approximate  $\Delta_{\text{EA}}H(298 \text{ K})$  to  $\Delta_{\text{EA}}U(0 \text{ K})$ . Selected values of these enthalpy changes are given in Table 1.5.

The *first electron affinity*,  $EA_1$ , of an atom is *minus* the internal energy change at 0 K associated with the gain of one electron by a gaseous atom:

 $\mathbf{Y}(\mathbf{g}) + \mathbf{e}^- \longrightarrow \mathbf{Y}^-(\mathbf{g})$ 

For thermochemical cycles, an associated enthalpy change is used:

 $\Delta_{\rm EA} H(298\,{\rm K}) \approx \Delta_{\rm EA} U(0\,{\rm K}) = -EA$ 

The attachment of an electron to an *atom* is usually exothermic. Two electrostatic forces oppose one another: the repulsion between the valence shell electrons and the additional electron, and the attraction between the nucleus and the incoming electron. In contrast, *repulsive* interactions are dominant when an electron is added to an *anion* and the process is endothermic (Table 1.5).

## **KEY TERMS**

The following terms were introduced in this chapter. Do you know what they mean?

- □ atom
- proton
- □ electron
- □ neutron
- □ nucleus
- **D** protium
- □ nuclide
- □ atomic number
- □ mass number
- □ relative atomic mass
- □ isotope
- □ allotrope
- □ emission spectrum
- $\hfill\square$  ground state
- excited state
- **q**uanta

## FURTHER READING

## First-year chemistry: basic principles

- C.E. Housecroft and E.C. Constable (2010) *Chemistry*, 4th edn, Prentice Hall, Harlow A readable text covering fundamental aspects of inorganic, organic and physical chemistry which gives detailed background of all material that is taken as assumed knowledge in this book. An accompanying multiple-choice test bank and Solutions Manual can be found through www. pearsoned.co.uk/housecroft.
- P. Atkins and J. de Paula (2012) *The Elements of Physical Chemistry*, 6th edn, OUP, Oxford An excellent introductory text which covers important areas of physical chemistry.

## **Basic quantum mechanics**

P. Atkins and J. de Paula (2014) *Atkins' Physical Chemistry*, 10th edn, OUP, Oxford – This text gives a solid and well-tested background in physical chemistry.

D.O. Hayward (2002) *Quantum Mechanics for Chemists*, RSC Publishing, Cambridge – An undergraduate student text that covers the basic principles of quantum mechanics.

## Ionization energies and electron affinities

- P.F. Lang and B.C. Smith (2003) J. Chem. Educ., vol. 80,
  p. 938 'Ionization energies of atoms and atomic ions'.
- D.M.P. Mingos (1998) *Essential Trends in Inorganic Chemistry*, OUP, Oxford – This text includes detailed discussions of trends in ionization energies and electron attachment enthalpies within the periodic table.
- J.C. Wheeler (1997) *J. Chem. Educ.*, vol. 74, p. 123 'Electron affinities of the alkaline earth metals and the sign convention for electron affinity'.

#### PROBLEMS

- 1.1 Chromium has four isotopes,  ${}^{50}_{24}$ Cr,  ${}^{52}_{24}$ Cr,  ${}^{53}_{24}$ Cr and  ${}^{54}_{24}$ Cr. How many electrons, protons and neutrons does each isotope possess?
- 1.2 'Arsenic is monotopic.' What does this statement mean? Using Appendix 5, write down three other elements that are monotopic.
- 1.3 Using the list of naturally occurring isotopes in Appendix 5, determine the number of electrons, protons and neutrons present in an atom of each

isotope of (a) Al, (b) Br and (c) Fe, and give appropriate notation to show these data for each isotope.

1.4 Hydrogen possesses three isotopes, but tritium (<sup>3</sup>H), which is radioactive, occurs as less than 1 in  $10^{17}$  atoms in a sample of natural hydrogen. If the value of  $A_r$  for hydrogen is 1.008, estimate the percentage abundance of protium, <sup>1</sup>H, and deuterium, <sup>2</sup>H (or D) present in a sample of natural hydrogen. Point out any

- *m<sub>s</sub>* □ degenerate □ radial distribution function
- □ radial part of a wavefunction
- $\Box$  angular part of a wavefunction
- □ atomic orbital

• wavenumber

□ Avogadro number

□ hydrogen-like species

 $\Box$  principal quantum number, *n* 

 $\Box$  magnetic quantum number,  $m_l$ 

□ magnetic spin quantum number,

 $\Box$  orbital quantum number, *l* 

 $\Box$  wavefunction,  $\psi$ 

- nodal plane
- radial node

- ground state electronic configuration
- □ effective nuclear charge
- □ screening effects of electrons
- penetration
- □ shielding
- □ Slater's rules
- periodic table
- □ *aufbau* principle
- □ Hund's rules
- □ Pauli exclusion principle
- □ valence electrons
- □ core electrons
- □ ionization energy
- □ electron affinity
assumptions that you make. Explain why your answers are not the same as those quoted in Appendix 5.

- 1.5 (a) By using the data in Appendix 5, account for the isotopic distribution shown in Fig. 1.1b. (b) The mass spectrum of  $S_8$  shows other peaks at lower values of m/z. By considering the structure of  $S_8$  shown in Fig. 1.1c, suggest the origin of these lower-mass peaks.
- 1.6 Calculate the corresponding wavelengths of electromagnetic radiation with frequencies of (a)  $3.0 \times 10^{12}$  Hz, (b)  $1.0 \times 10^{18}$  Hz and (c)  $5.0 \times 10^{14}$  Hz. By referring to Appendix 4, assign each wavelength or frequency to a particular type of radiation (e.g. microwave).
- 1.7 State which of the following n' → n transitions in the emission spectrum of atomic hydrogen belong to the Balmer, Lyman or Paschen series: (a) 3 → 1; (b) 3 → 2; (c) 4 → 3; (d) 4 → 2; (e) 5 → 1.
- 1.8 Calculate the energy (in kJ per mole of photons) of a spectroscopic transition, the corresponding wavelength of which is 450 nm.
- 1.9 Four of the lines in the Balmer series are at 656.28, 486.13, 434.05 and 410.17 nm. Show that these wavelengths are consistent with eq. 1.4.
- 1.10 Using the Bohr model, determine the values of the radii of the second and third orbits of the hydrogen atom.
- 1.11 How is the (a) energy and (b) size of an *ns* atomic orbital affected by an increase in *n*?
- 1.12 Write down a set of quantum numbers that uniquely defines each of the following atomic orbitals: (a) 6s, (b) each of the five 4d orbitals.
- 1.13 Do the three 4p atomic orbitals possess the same or different values of (a) principal quantum number, (b) the orbital quantum number and (c) the magnetic quantum number? Write down a set of quantum numbers for each 4p atomic orbital to illustrate your answer.
- 1.14 How many radial nodes does each of the following orbitals possess: (a) 2s; (b) 4s; (c) 3p; (d) 5d; (e) 1s; (f) 4p?
- 1.15 Comment on differences between plots of R(r) against r, and  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  against r for each of the following atomic orbitals of an H atom: (a) 1*s*; (b) 4*s*; (c) 3*p*.
- 1.16 Write down the sets of quantum numbers that define the (a) 1*s*, (b) 4*s*, (c) 5*s* atomic orbitals.
- 1.17 Write down the three sets of quantum numbers that define the three 3*p* atomic orbitals.

- 1.18 How many atomic orbitals make up the set with n = 4 and l = 3? What label is given to this set of orbitals? Write down a set of quantum numbers that defines each orbital in the set.
- 1.19 Which of the following species are hydrogen-like:
  (a) H<sup>+</sup>; (b) He<sup>+</sup>; (c) He<sup>-</sup>; (d) Li<sup>+</sup>; (e) Li<sup>2+</sup>?
- 1.20 (a) Will a plot of R(r) for the 1*s* atomic orbital of He<sup>+</sup> be identical to that of the H atom (Fig. 1.5a)? [*Hint:* look at Table 1.2.] (b) On the *same axis set*, sketch approximate representations of the function  $4\pi r^2 R(r)^2$  for H and He<sup>+</sup>.
- 1.21 Calculate the energy of the 3*s* atomic orbital of an H atom. [*Hint*: see eq. 1.16.] Is the energy of the hydrogen 3*p* atomic orbital the same as or different from that of the 3*s* orbital?
- 1.22 Using eq. 1.16, determine the energies of atomic orbitals of hydrogen with n = 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. What can you say about the relative spacings of the energy levels?
- 1.23 Write down the six sets of quantum numbers that describe the electrons in a degenerate set of 5p atomic orbitals. Which pairs of sets of quantum numbers refer to spin-paired electrons?
- 1.24 For a neutral atom, X, arrange the following atomic orbitals in an approximate order of their relative energies (not all orbitals are listed): 2*s*, 3*s*, 6*s*, 4*p*, 3*p*, 3*d*, 6*p*, 1*s*.
- 1.25 Using the concepts of shielding and penetration, explain why a ground state configuration of  $1s^22s^1$  for an Li atom is energetically preferred over  $1s^22p^1$ .
- 1.26 For each of the following atoms, write down a ground state electronic configuration and indicate which electrons are core and which are valence: (a) Na, (b) F, (c) N, (d) Sc.
- 1.27 Draw energy level diagrams (see Fig. 1.15) to represent the ground state electronic configurations of the atoms in problem 1.26.
- 1.28 Write down the ground state electronic configuration of boron, and give a set of quantum numbers that uniquely defines each electron.
- 1.29 Write down (with reasoning) the ground state electronic configurations of (a) Li, (b) O, (c) S, (d) Ca, (e) Ti, (f) Al.
- 1.30 Draw energy level diagrams to show the ground state electronic configurations of only the *valence* electrons in an atom of (a) F, (b) Al and (c) Mg.

- 1.31 The ground state electronic configuration of a group 16 element is of the type  $[X]ns^2np^4$  where X is a group 18 element. How are the outer four electrons arranged, and what rules are you using to work out this arrangement?
- 1.32 (a) Write down an equation that defines the process to which the value of  $IE_4$  of Sn refers. Is this process exothermic or endothermic? (b) To what overall process does a value of  $(IE_1 + IE_2 + IE_3)$  for Al refer?
- 1.33 The first four ionization energies of an atom X are 403, 2633, 3900 and 5080 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>. Suggest to what periodic group X belongs and give reasons for your choice.
- 1.34 In Fig. 1.16, identify the trends in the first ionization energies of the elements in (a) descending group 1, (b) descending group 13, (c) crossing the first row of the *d*-block, (d) crossing the row of elements from B to Ne, (e) going from Xe to Cs, and (f) going from P to S. Rationalize each of the trends you have described.
- 1.35 Figure 1.17 shows the values of  $IE_1$  for the first 10 elements. (a) Label each point with the symbol of the appropriate element. (b) Give detailed reasons for the observed trend in values.

1.36 (a) Using the data in Table 1.5, determine a value for  $\Delta H$  for the process:

$$O(g) + 2e^- \rightarrow O^{2-}(g)$$

(b) Comment on the relevance of the sign and magnitude of your answer to part (a) in the light of the fact that many metal oxides with ionic lattices are thermodynamically stable.





#### **OVERVIEW PROBLEMS**

1.37 How do you account for the fact that, although potassium is placed after argon in the periodic table, it has a lower relative atomic mass?

List 1	List 2
S <sub>6</sub> and S <sub>8</sub>	electron
<sup>19</sup> F and <sup>31</sup> P	proton
isotope of hydrogen	pnictogens
<sup>12</sup> C and <sup>13</sup> C	d-block elements
hydrogen ion	protium
group 1 elements	fundamental particles
same energy	$m_s = \pm \frac{1}{2}$
negatively charged particle	allotropes
spin-paired electrons	degenerate
electron, proton and neutron	monotopic elements
group 15 elements	alkali metals
Cr, Mn, Fe	isotopes of an element

- 1.38 What is the evidence that the *aufbau* principle is only approximately true?
- 1.39 The first list in the table on the left contains symbols or phrases, each of which has a 'partner' in the second list. Match the 'partners'; there is only one match for each pair of symbols or phrases.
- 1.40 Suggest explanations for the following.

(a) High values of ionization energies are associated with the noble gases.

(b) The enthalpy changes associated with the attachment of the first and second electrons to an O atom are exothermic and endothermic, respectively.

(c) In an Li atom in its ground state, the outer electron occupies a 2s rather than a 2p orbital.

1.41 Using data from Appendix 8, construct a graph to show the trend in the third ionization energies of the elements from Li to Kr. Compare the graph with that shown in Fig. 1.16, and rationalize what you observe.

- 1.42 The sign convention for electron affinity can often cause confusion for students. In this textbook, why have we referred to 'an enthalpy change for the attachment of an electron' rather than to an 'electron affinity'?
- 1.43 (a) How would Fig. 1.9 have to be modified to show boundary surfaces for the 2*s* and the 3*p* wavefunctions of a one-electron species?

#### **INORGANIC CHEMISTRY MATTERS**

1.44 Ruthenium, osmium, rhodium, iridium, palladium and platinum (Fig. 1.14) are called the platinum group metals. Most of the world's reserves of these metals are in mineral deposits in Russia, Canada and South Africa. The platinum group metals are important as catalysts for air pollution control (e.g. in catalytic converters) and in the manufacture of organic and inorganic chemicals, and they have applications in the electronics industry. Thus, countries such as the US depend upon importing the metals and upon their recycling. The table below gives import data for the US for 2013:

Metal	Ru	Os	Rh	Ir	Pd	Pt
Imported amount/kg	15 300	77	11 100	1720	83 100	116000

Plot bar charts to illustrate these data, first using mass on the vertical axis, and then using a logarithmic scale. Comment on the advantages or disadvantages of the two plots.

1.45 Figure 1.18 shows the emission spectrum of sodium. Low-pressure sodium street lamps depend upon this bright yellow emission from sodium atoms excited by an electrical discharge. Figure 1.18 shows a proton is at a maximum when r = 52.9 pm.' Why is this statement compatible with the maximum in the value of R(r) at r = 0?

(b) 'The probability of finding the electron of a

ground-state hydrogen atom at a distance r from the



Fig. 1.18. The emission spectrum of sodium. The apparent single line consists of two very close emissions at 589.0 and 589.6 nm.

simple spectrum (see figure caption), but the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) atomic spectra database lists 5888 lines in the emission spectrum of sodium. (a) Suggest *three* reasons why no other lines are visible in Fig. 1.18. (b) The wavelengths of the yellow lines in Fig. 1.18 are close to 589 nm. To what frequency does this correspond? (c) Give a *general* explanation of how a series of spectral lines such as those in Fig. 1.18 arises.

### **Topics**

Lewis structures Valence bond theory Molecular orbital theory: diatomics Octet rule Isoelectronic species Electronegativity Dipole moments VSEPR model Stereoisomerism

# Basic concepts: molecules

#### 2.1 Bonding models: an introduction

In Sections 2.1–2.3 we summarize valence bond (VB) and molecular orbital (MO) theories of homonuclear bond formation, and include practice in generating *Lewis structures*.

#### A historical overview

The foundations of modern chemical bonding theory were laid in 1916–1920 by G.N. Lewis and I. Langmuir. They suggested that ionic species were formed by electron transfer while electron sharing was important in covalent molecules. In some cases, it was suggested that the shared electrons in a bond were provided by one of the atoms but that once the bond (sometimes called a *coordinate bond*) is formed, it *is indistinguishable from a 'normal' covalent bond*.

In a *covalent* species, electrons are shared between atoms. In an *ionic* species, one or more electrons are transferred between atoms to form ions.

Modern views of atomic structure are, as we have seen, based largely on the applications of wave mechanics to atomic systems. Modern views of *molecular structure* are based on applying wave mechanics to molecules; such studies provide answers as to how and why atoms combine. The Schrödinger equation can be written to describe the behaviour of electrons in molecules, but it can be solved only approximately. Two methods of doing this are the valence bond approach, developed by Heitler and Pauling, and the molecular orbital approach associated with Hund and Mulliken:

- *Valence bond* (*VB*) *theory* treats the formation of a molecule as arising from the bringing together of complete atoms which, when they interact, to a large extent retain their original character.
- *Molecular orbital (MO) theory* allocates electrons to molecular orbitals formed by the overlap (interaction) of atomic orbitals.

Although familiarity with both VB and MO concepts is necessary, it is often the case that a given situation is more conveniently approached by using one or other of these models. We begin with the conceptually simple approach of Lewis for representing the bonding in covalent molecules.

#### Lewis structures

Lewis presented a simple, but useful, method of describing the arrangement of valence electrons in molecules. The approach uses dots (or dots and crosses) to represent the number of *valence electrons*, and the nuclei are indicated by appropriate elemental symbols. A basic principle of the theory is that electrons in a molecule should be paired; the presence of a single (odd) electron indicates that the species is a *radical*.

Diagram 2.1 shows the Lewis structure for  $H_2O$  with the O–H bonds designated by pairs of dots (electrons). An alternative representation is given in structure 2.2 where each line stands for *one pair* of electrons, i.e. a *single covalent bond*. Pairs of valence electrons which are not involved in bonding are *lone pairs*.



The Lewis structure for  $N_2$  shows that the N–N bond is composed of three pairs of electrons and is a *triple bond* (structures **2.3** and **2.4**). Each N atom has one lone pair of electrons. The Lewis structures **2.5** and **2.6** for  $O_2$  indicate the presence of a *double bond*, with each O atom bearing two lone pairs of electrons.



Lewis structures give the connectivity of an atom in a molecule, the bond order and the number of lone pairs, and these may be used to derive structures using the valence-shell electron-pair repulsion model (see Section 2.8).

## 2.2 Homonuclear diatomic molecules: valence bond (VB) theory

#### Uses of the term homonuclear

The word *homonuclear* is used in two ways:

- A *homonuclear covalent bond* is one formed between two atoms of the same element, e.g. the H–H bond in H<sub>2</sub>, the O=O bond in O<sub>2</sub>, and the O–O bond in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 2.1).
- A *homonuclear molecule* contains one type of element. Homonuclear diatomic molecules include  $H_2$ ,  $N_2$  and  $F_2$ , homonuclear triatomics include  $O_3$  (ozone) and examples of larger homonuclear molecules are  $P_4$ ,  $S_8$  (Fig. 2.2) and  $C_{60}$ .

### Covalent bond distance, covalent radius and van der Waals radius

Three important definitions are needed before we discuss covalent bonding.

The length of a covalent bond (*bond distance*), *d*, is the *internuclear separation* and may be determined experimentally by microwave spectroscopy or diffraction methods



Fig. 2.1. The structure of hydrogen peroxide,  $H_2O_2$ ; O atoms are shown in red.



Fig. 2.2. The structures of the homonuclear molecules (a)  $P_4$  and (b)  $S_8$ .

(see Chapter 4). It is convenient to define the covalent radius,  $r_{cov}$ , of an atom: for an atom X,  $r_{cov}$  is half of the covalent bond length of a homonuclear X–X *single* bond. Thus,  $r_{cov}(S)$  can be determined from the solid state structure of S<sub>8</sub> (Fig. 2.2) determined by X-ray diffraction methods or, better still, by averaging the values of the bond distances of S–S single bonds found for all the allotropes of sulfur.

For an atom X, the value of the single bond *covalent radius*,  $r_{cov}$ , is half of the internuclear separation in a homonuclear X-X single bond.

The  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -forms of sulfur (orthorhombic and monoclinic sulfur, respectively) both crystallize with S<sub>8</sub> molecules stacked in a regular arrangement. The packing in the  $\alpha$ -form (Fig. 2.3, density = 2.07 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) is more efficient than that in the  $\beta$ -form (density = 1.94 g cm<sup>-3</sup>). Van der Waals forces operate between the molecules, and half of the distance of closest approach of two sulfur atoms belonging to *different* S<sub>8</sub> rings is defined as the van der Waals radius,  $r_v$ , of sulfur. The *intermolecular* bonding is much weaker than the *intramolecular* S–S bonds, and this is evidenced by the fact that when S<sub>8</sub> vaporizes, the ring structure is retained. The van der Waals radius of an



**Fig. 2.3.** The packing of  $S_8$  rings in the  $\alpha$ -allotrope of sulfur. The black box defines the unit cell (see Section 4.11). [Data: S. J. Rettig *et al.* (1987) *Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C*, vol. 43, p. 2260.]

element is necessarily larger than its covalent radius, e.g.  $r_v$ and  $r_{cov}$  for S are 185 and 103 pm, respectively. Van der Waals forces include dispersion and dipole–dipole interactions; dispersion forces are discussed in the latter part of Section 6.13 and dipole moments in Section 2.6. Because van der Waals forces operate *between* molecules, they are crucial in controlling the way in which molecules pack in the solid state. Values of  $r_v$  and  $r_{cov}$  for *s*-block, *p*-block and first row *d*-block elements are listed in Appendix 6.

The *van der Waals radius*,  $r_v$ , of an atom X is half of the distance of closest approach of two non-bonded atoms of X.

#### The valence bond (VB) model of bonding in H<sub>2</sub>

Valence bond theory considers the interactions between separate atoms as they are brought together to form molecules. We begin by considering the formation of  $H_2$ from two H atoms, the nuclei of which are labelled  $H_A$ and  $H_B$ , and the electrons of which are 1 and 2, respectively. When the atoms are so far apart that there is no interaction between them, electron 1 is exclusively associated with  $H_A$ , while electron 2 resides with nucleus  $H_B$ . Let this state be described by a wavefunction  $\psi_1$ .

When the H atoms are close together, we cannot tell which electron is associated with which nucleus since, although *we* gave them labels, the two nuclei are indistinguishable, as are the two electrons. Thus, electron 2 could be with  $H_A$  and electron 1 with  $H_B$ . Let this be described by the wavefunction  $\psi_2$ .

Equation 2.1 gives an overall description of the covalently bonded H<sub>2</sub> molecule;  $\psi_{\text{covalent}}$  is a *linear combination* of wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ .

$$\psi_{\text{covalent}} = \psi_+ = N(\psi_1 + \psi_2) \tag{2.1}$$

Equation 2.1 contains a *normalization factor*, N (see Box 1.3). In the general case where:

$$\psi_{\text{covalent}} = c_1 \psi_1 + c_2 \psi_2 + c_3 \psi_3 + \cdots$$
$$N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c_1^2 + c_2^2 + c_3^2 + \cdots}}$$

Another linear combination of  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  can be written as shown in eq. 2.2.

$$\psi_{-} = N(\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}) \tag{2.2}$$

In terms of the spins of electrons 1 and 2,  $\psi_+$  corresponds to spin-pairing, and  $\psi_-$  corresponds to parallel spins (nonspin-paired). Calculations of the energies associated with these states as a function of the internuclear separation of  $H_A$  and  $H_B$  show that, while  $\psi_-$  represents a repulsive state (high energy), the energy curve for  $\psi_+$  reaches a minimum value when the internuclear separation, *d*, is 87 pm and this corresponds to an H–H bond dissociation energy,  $\Delta U$ , of 303 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>. While these are near enough to the experimental values of d = 74 pm and  $\Delta U = 458 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$  to suggest that the model has some validity, they are far enough away from them to indicate that the expression for  $\psi_+$  needs refining.

The *bond dissociation energy*  $(\Delta U)$  and *enthalpy*  $(\Delta H)$  values for H<sub>2</sub> are defined for the process: H<sub>2</sub>(g)  $\rightarrow$  2H(g)

Improvements to eq. 2.1 can be made by:

- allowing for the fact that each electron screens the other from the nuclei to some extent;
- taking into account the possibility that *both* electrons 1 and 2 may be associated with either  $H_A$  or  $H_B$ , i.e. allowing for the transfer of one electron from one nuclear centre to the other to form a pair of ions  $H_A^+H_B^-$  or  $H_A^-H_B^+$ .

The latter modification is dealt with by writing two additional wavefunctions,  $\psi_3$  and  $\psi_4$  (one for each ionic form), and so eq. 2.1 can be rewritten in the form of eq. 2.3. The coefficient *c* indicates the relative contributions made by the two sets of wavefunctions. For a *homonuclear diatomic* such as H<sub>2</sub>, the situations described by  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are equally probable, as are those described by  $\psi_3$  and  $\psi_4$ .

$$\psi_{+} = N[(\psi_{1} + \psi_{2}) + c(\psi_{3} + \psi_{4})]$$
(2.3)

Since the wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  arise from an internuclear interaction involving the *sharing* of electrons among nuclei, and  $\psi_3$  and  $\psi_4$  arise from electron *transfer*, we can simplify eq. 2.3 to 2.4, in which the overall wavefunction,  $\psi_{\text{molecule}}$ , is composed of covalent and ionic terms.

$$\psi_{\text{molecule}} = N[\psi_{\text{covalent}} + (c \times \psi_{\text{ionic}})]$$
(2.4)

Based on this model of H<sub>2</sub>, calculations with  $c \approx 0.25$  give values of 75 pm for d(H–H) and 398 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> for the bond dissociation energy. Modifying eq. 2.4 still further leads to a value of  $\Delta U$  very close to the experimental value, but details of the procedure are beyond the scope of this book.<sup>†</sup>

Now consider the physical significance of eqs. 2.3 and 2.4. The wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  represent the structures shown in **2.7** and **2.8**, while  $\psi_3$  and  $\psi_4$  represent the ionic forms **2.9** and **2.10**. The notation H<sub>A</sub>(1) stands for 'nucleus H<sub>A</sub> with electron (1)', and so on.

(2.7)	(2.8)	(2.9)	(2.10)
$H_A(1)H_B(2)$	$H_A(2)H_B(1)$	$[H_A(1)(2)]^ H_B^+$	$H_A^+ [H_B(1)(2)]^-$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> For detailed discussion, see: R. McWeeny (1979) *Coulson's Valence*, 3rd edn, OUP, Oxford. See also: A. Simões (2008) *Notes Rec. R. Soc.* vol. 62, p. 259 – 'A quantum chemical dialogue mediated by textbooks: Pauling's *The Nature of the Chemical Bond* and Coulson's *Valence*'.

Dihydrogen is described as a *resonance hybrid* of these contributing *resonance* or *canonical structures*. In the case of  $H_2$ , an example of a homonuclear diatomic molecule which is necessarily symmetrical, we simplify the picture to **2.11**. Each of structures **2.11a**, **2.11b** and **2.11c** is a *resonance structure* and the double-headed arrows indicate the *resonance* between them. The contributions made by **2.11b** and **2.11c** are equal. The term 'resonance hybrid' is somewhat unfortunate but is too firmly established to be eradicated.

н—н	$\longleftrightarrow$	$H^+$ $H^-$	<b>~</b>	$H^ H^+$
(2.11a)		(2.11b)		(2.11c)

The bonding in a molecule is described in terms of contributing *resonance structures*. The *resonance* between these contributing structures results in a *resonance stabilization*. The relationship between resonance structures is indicated by using a double-headed arrow.

A crucial point about resonance structures is that they *do* not exist as separate species. Rather, they indicate extreme bonding pictures, the combination of which gives a description of the molecule overall. In the case of  $H_2$ , the contribution made by resonance structure **2.11a** is significantly greater than that of **2.11b** or **2.11c**.

Notice that **2.11a** describes the bonding in  $H_2$  in terms of a *localized 2-centre 2-electron*, 2c-2e, covalent bond. A particular resonance structure will always indicate a localized bonding picture, although the combination of several resonance structures may result in the description of the bonding in the species as a whole being delocalized (see Section 5.3).

### The valence bond (VB) model applied to $F_2,\,O_2$ and $N_2$

Consider the formation of  $F_2$ . The ground state electronic configuration of F is  $[He]2s^22p^5$ , and the presence of the single unpaired electron indicates the formation of an F–F single bond. We can write down resonance structures **2.12** to describe the bonding in  $F_2$ , with the expectation that the covalent contribution will predominate.



The formation of  $O_2$  involves the combination of two O atoms with ground state electronic configurations of  $1s^22s^22p^4$ . Each O atom has two unpaired electrons and so VB theory predicts the formation of an O=O double bond. Since VB theory works on the premise that electrons are paired wherever possible, the model predicts that  $O_2$  is diamagnetic. One of the notable failures of VB theory is its inability to predict the observed *paramagnetism* of  $O_2$ . As we shall see, molecular orbital theory is fully consistent with  $O_2$  being a diradical. When two N atoms ([He] $2s^22p^3$ ) combine to give N<sub>2</sub>, an N $\equiv$ N triple bond results. Of the possible resonance structures, the predominant form is covalent and this gives a satisfactory picture of the bonding in N<sub>2</sub>.

In a *diamagnetic* species, all electrons are spin-paired; a diamagnetic substance is repelled by a magnetic field. A *paramagnetic* species contains one or more unpaired electrons; a paramagnetic substance is attracted by a magnetic field.

#### Self-study exercises

1. Within VB theory, the wavefunction that describes the bonding region between two H atoms in  $H_2$  can be written in the form:

 $\psi_{\text{molecule}} = N \left[ \psi_{\text{covalent}} + (c \times \psi_{\text{ionic}}) \right]$ 

Explain the meaning of this equation, including the reason why the factor N is included.

- 2. It is *incorrect* to draw an equilibrium symbol between two resonance structures. The correct notation is a double-headed arrow. Explain why the distinction between these notations is so important.
- 3. Although  $O_2$  is paramagnetic, VB theory results in a prediction that it is diamagnetic. Explain why this is the case.

#### 2.3 Homonuclear diatomic molecules: molecular orbital (MO) theory

#### An overview of the MO model

In molecular orbital (MO) theory, we begin by placing the nuclei of a given molecule in their equilibrium positions and then calculate the *molecular orbitals* (i.e. regions of space spread over the entire molecule) that a single electron might occupy. Each MO arises from interactions between orbitals of atomic centres in the molecule, and such interactions are:

- allowed if the *symmetries* of the atomic orbitals are compatible with one another;
- efficient if the region of *overlap* between the two atomic orbitals is significant;
- efficient if the atomic orbitals are relatively close in energy.

An important ground-rule of MO theory is that *the number* of MOs that can be formed must equal the number of atomic orbitals of the constituent atoms.

Each MO has an associated energy and, to derive the electronic ground state of a molecule, the available electrons are placed, according to the *aufbau* principle, in MOs beginning with that of lowest energy. The sum of

the individual energies of the electrons in the orbitals (after correction for electron–electron interactions) gives the total energy of the molecule.

### Molecular orbital theory applied to the bonding in H<sub>2</sub>

An approximate description of the MOs in H<sub>2</sub> can be obtained by considering them as *linear combinations of atomic orbitals* (LCAOs). Each of the H atoms has one 1s atomic orbital; let the two associated wavefunctions be  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ . In Section 1.6, we mentioned the importance of the signs of the wavefunctions with respect to their overlap during bond formation. The sign of the wavefunction associated with the 1s atomic orbital may be either + or -. Just as transverse waves interfere in a constructive (in-phase) or destructive (out-of-phase) manner, so too do orbitals. Mathematically, we represent the possible combinations of the two 1s atomic orbitals by eqs. 2.5 and 2.6, where N and N<sup>\*</sup> are the normalization factors. Whereas  $\psi_{MO}$  is an in-phase (*bonding*) interaction,  $\psi^*_{MO}$  is an out-of-phase (*antibonding*) interaction.

$$\psi_{\mathrm{MO(in-phase)}} = \psi_{\mathrm{MO}} = N[\psi_1 + \psi_2]$$
(2.5)

$$\psi_{\text{MO(out-of-phase)}} = \psi^*_{\text{MO}} = N^*[\psi_1 - \psi_2]$$
(2.6)

The values of N and  $N^*$  are determined using eqs. 2.7 and 2.8 where S is the *overlap integral*. This is a measure of the extent to which the regions of space described by the two wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  coincide. Although we mentioned earlier that orbital interaction is efficient if the region of overlap between the two atomic orbitals is significant, the numerical value of S is still much less than unity and is often neglected giving the approximate results shown in eqs. 2.7 and 2.8.

$$N = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1+S)}} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{2.7}$$

$$N^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1-S)}} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$$
(2.8)

The interaction between the H 1s atomic orbitals on forming H<sub>2</sub> may be represented by the energy level diagram in Fig. 2.4. The bonding MO,  $\psi_{MO}$ , is stabilized with respect to the 1s atomic orbitals, while the antibonding MO,  $\psi^*_{MO}$ , is destabilized.<sup>†</sup> Each H atom contributes one electron and, by the *aufbau* principle, the two electrons occupy the lower of the two MOs in the H<sub>2</sub> molecule and are spin-paired (Fig. 2.4). It is important to remember that in MO theory we construct the orbital interaction diagram first and then put in the electrons according to the aufbau principle.



**Fig. 2.4.** An orbital interaction diagram for the formation of  $H_2$  from two hydrogen atoms. By the *aufbau* principle, the two electrons occupy the lowest energy (bonding) molecular orbital.

The bonding and antibonding MOs in H<sub>2</sub> are given the symmetry labels  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$  ('sigma' and 'sigma-star') or, more fully,  $\sigma_g(1s)$  and  $\sigma_u^*(1s)$  to indicate their atomic orbital origins and the *parity* of the MOs (see Box 2.1). In order to define these labels, consider the pictorial representations of the two MOs. Figure 2.5a shows that when the 1s atomic orbitals interact in phase, the two wavefunctions reinforce each other, especially in the region of space between the nuclei. The two electrons occupying this MO will be found predominantly between the two nuclei, and the build-up of electron density reduces internuclear repulsion. Figure 2.5b illustrates that the out-of-phase interaction results in a nodal plane between the two H nuclei. If the antibonding orbital were to be occupied, there would be a zero probability of finding the electrons at any point on the nodal plane. This lack of electron density raises the internuclear repulsion and, as a result, destabilizes the MO.

Now let us return to the  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$  labels. An MO has  $\sigma$ -symmetry if it is symmetrical with respect to a line joining the two nuclei; i.e. if you rotate the orbital about the internuclear axis (the axis joining the two nuclear centres marked in Figs. 2.5a and 2.5b), there is no phase change. A  $\sigma^*$ -orbital must exhibit two properties:

- the  $\sigma$  label means that rotation of the orbital about the internuclear axis generates no phase change, *and*
- the \* label means that there is a nodal plane *between* the nuclei, and this plane is orthogonal to the internuclear axis.

The ground state electronic configuration of H<sub>2</sub> may be written using the notation  $\sigma_g(1s)^2$ , indicating that two electrons occupy the  $\sigma_g(1s)$  MO.

The orbital interaction diagram shown in Fig. 2.4 can be used to predict several properties of the  $H_2$  molecule. Firstly, the electrons are paired and so we expect  $H_2$  to be diamagnetic as is found experimentally. Secondly, the formal bond order can be found using eq. 2.9. For  $H_2$  this gives a bond order of 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> The difference between the energies of the 1*s* atomic orbitals and  $\psi^*_{MO}$  is slightly greater than between those of the 1*s* atomic orbitals and  $\psi_{MO}$ , i.e. an antibonding MO is slightly more antibonding than the corresponding bonding MO is bonding; the origin of this effect is beyond the scope of this book.

# Box 2.1 T

#### Box 2.1 The parity of MOs for a molecule that possesses a centre of inversion

We consider symmetry in Chapter 3, but it is useful at this point to consider the labels that are commonly used to describe the *parity of a molecular orbital*. A *homonuclear* diatomic molecule (e.g.  $H_2$ ,  $Cl_2$ ) possesses a centre of inversion (centre of symmetry), and the parity of an MO describes the way in which the orbital behaves with respect to this centre of inversion.

First find the centre of inversion in the molecule; this is the point through which you can draw an infinite number of straight lines such that each line passes through a pair of similar points, one on each side of the centre of symmetry and at equal distances from it:



Now ask the question: 'Does the wavefunction have the same *sign* at the same distance but in opposite directions from the centre of symmetry?'

If the answer is 'yes', then the orbital is labelled g (from the word *gerade*, German for 'even'). If the answer is 'no',

then the orbital is labelled u (from the word *ungerade*, German for 'odd'). For example, the  $\sigma$ -bonding MO in H<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 2.5a) is labelled  $\sigma_g$ , while the antibonding MO (Fig. 2.5b) is  $\sigma_u^*$ .

Parity labels *only* apply to MOs in molecules that possess a centre of inversion (*centrosymmetric* molecules), e.g. homonuclear  $X_2$ , octahedral  $EX_6$  and square planar  $EX_4$  molecules. Heteronuclear XY, or tetrahedral  $EX_4$  molecules, for example, do not possess a centre of inversion and are called *non-centrosymmetric* species.

#### Self-study exercises

Look at Fig. 2.7 which may be applied to the MOs in the homonuclear diatomic  $O_2$ .

- 1. Why does a  $\sigma$ -MO formed by the overlap of two  $2p_z$  orbitals (Fig. 2.7a) have the label  $\sigma_g$ ?
- 2. Why does a  $\pi$ -MO formed by the overlap of two  $2p_x$  orbitals (Fig. 2.7c) have the label  $\pi_u$ ?
- 3. The antibonding MOs shown at the right-hand sides of Figs. 2.7b and 2.7d carry the labels  $\sigma_u^*$  and  $\pi_g^*$ , respectively. Explain the difference in the parity labels.



**Fig. 2.5.** Schematic representations of (a) the bonding  $(\sigma_g)$  and (b) the antibonding  $(\sigma_u^*)$  molecular orbitals in the H<sub>2</sub> molecule. The H nuclei are represented by black dots. The red orbital lobes could equally well be marked with a + sign, and the blue lobes with a - sign (or vice versa) to indicate the sign of the wavefunction. (c) More realistic representations of the molecular orbitals of H<sub>2</sub>, generated computationally using Spartan '04, © Wavefunction Inc. 2003.



Fig. 2.6. Orbital interaction diagrams for the formation of (a) He<sub>2</sub> from two He atoms and (b) Li<sub>2</sub> from two Li atoms.

Bond order = 
$$\frac{1}{2}$$
 [(Number of bonding electrons)  
- (Number of antibonding electrons)]

(2.9)

We cannot measure the bond order experimentally but we can make some useful correlations between bond order and the experimentally measurable bond distances and bond dissociation energies or enthalpies. Along a series of species related by electron gain (reduction) or loss (oxidation), inspection of the corresponding MO diagram shows how the bond order may change (assuming that there are no major changes to the energy levels of the orbitals). For example, the oxidation of  $H_2$  to  $[H_2]^+$  (a change brought about by the action of an electric discharge on H<sub>2</sub> at low pressures) can be considered in terms of the removal of one electron from the bonding MO shown in Fig. 2.4. The bond order of  $[H_2]^+$ is (eq. 2.9) 0.5, and we expect the H-H bond to be weaker than in H<sub>2</sub>. Experimentally, the bond dissociation energy,  $\Delta U$ , for H<sub>2</sub> is 458 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and for [H<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup> is 269 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>. Similar correlations can be made between bond order and bond length: the lower the bond order, the larger the internuclear separation; the experimentally determined bond lengths of  $H_2$  and  $[H_2]^+$  are 74 and 105 pm. While such correlations are useful, they must be treated with caution<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> and *only* used in series of closely related species.

#### The bonding in He<sub>2</sub>, Li<sub>2</sub> and Be<sub>2</sub>

Molecular orbital theory can be applied to any homonuclear diatomic molecule, but as more valence atomic orbitals become available, the MO diagram becomes more complex. Treatments of the bonding in He<sub>2</sub>, Li<sub>2</sub> and Be<sub>2</sub> are similar to that for H<sub>2</sub>. In practice, He does not form He<sub>2</sub>, and the construction of an MO diagram for He<sub>2</sub> is a useful exercise because it rationalizes this observation. Figure 2.6a shows that when the two 1s atomic orbitals of two He atoms interact,  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$  MOs are formed as in H<sub>2</sub>. However, each He atom contributes two electrons, meaning that in He<sub>2</sub>, both the bonding *and* antibonding MOs are fully occupied. The bond order (eq. 2.9) is zero and so the MO picture of He<sub>2</sub> is consistent with its non-existence. Using the same notation as for H<sub>2</sub>, the ground state electronic configuration of He<sub>2</sub> is  $\sigma_g(1s)^2 \sigma_u^*(1s)^2$ .

The ground state electronic configuration of Li (Z = 3) is  $1s^22s^1$  and when two Li atoms combine, orbital overlap occurs efficiently between the 1s atomic orbitals and between the 2s atomic orbitals. To a first approximation we can ignore 1s-2s overlap since the 1s and 2s orbital energies are poorly matched. An approximate orbital interaction diagram for the formation of Li<sub>2</sub> is given in Fig. 2.6b. Each Li atom provides three electrons, and the six electrons in Li<sub>2</sub> occupy the lowest energy MOs to give a ground state electronic configuration of  $\sigma_g(1s)^2 \sigma_u^*(1s)^2 \sigma_g(2s)^2$ . Effectively, we could ignore the interaction between the core 1s atomic orbitals since the net bonding is determined by the interaction between the valence atomic orbitals, and a simpler, but informative, electronic ground state is  $\sigma_{o}(2s)^{2}$ . Figure 2.6b also shows that Li<sub>2</sub> is predicted to be diamagnetic in keeping with experimental data. By applying eq. 2.9, we see that MO theory gives a bond order in  $Li_2$  of one. Note that the terminology 'core and valence orbitals' is equivalent to that for 'core and valence electrons' (see Section 1.9).

Like Li, Be has available 1s and 2s atomic orbitals for bonding; these atomic orbitals constitute the *basis set of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup> $\dagger$ </sup> See for example: M. Kaupp and S. Riedel (2004) *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, vol. 357, p. 1865 – 'On the lack of correlation between bond lengths, dissociation energies and force constants: the fluorine-substituted ethane homologues'; D. Setiswan, E. Kraka and D. Cremer (2015) *J. Phys. Chem. A*, vol. 119, p. 9541 – 'Hidden bond anomalies: The peculiar case of the fluorinated amine chalcogenides'.



**Fig. 2.7.** The overlap of two 2p atomic orbitals for which the atomic nuclei are defined to lie on the *z* axis: (a) direct overlap along the *z* axis gives a  $\sigma_g(2p_z)$  MO (bonding); (b) the formation of the  $\sigma_u^*(2p_z)$  MO (antibonding); (c) sideways overlap of two  $2p_x$  atomic orbitals gives a  $\pi_u(2p_x)$  MO (bonding); (d) the formation of  $\pi_g^*(2p_x)$  MO (antibonding). Atomic nuclei are marked in black and nodal planes in grey. The diagrams on the right-hand side are more realistic representations of the MOs and have been generated computationally using Spartan '04,  $\mathbb{C}$  Wavefunction Inc. 2003.

orbitals. An orbital interaction diagram similar to that for Li<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 2.6b) is appropriate. The difference between Li<sub>2</sub> and Be<sub>2</sub> is that Be<sub>2</sub> has two more electrons than Li<sub>2</sub> and these occupy the  $\sigma^*(2s)$  MO. The predicted bond order in Be<sub>2</sub> is thus zero. In practice, this prediction is essentially fulfilled, although there is evidence for an extremely unstable Be<sub>2</sub> species with bond length 245 pm and bond energy 10 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>.

A *basis set of orbitals* is composed of those which are available for orbital interactions.

In each of  $Li_2$  and  $Be_2$ , it is unnecessary to include the core (1*s*) atomic orbitals in order to obtain a useful bonding picture. This is true more generally, and throughout this book, MO treatments of bonding focus only on the interactions between the valence orbitals of the atoms concerned.

#### The bonding in F<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>

The valence shell of an F atom contains 2s and 2p atomic orbitals, and the formation of an F<sub>2</sub> molecule involves 2s-2s and 2p-2p orbital interactions. Before we can construct an MO diagram for the formation of F<sub>2</sub>, we must consider what types of interactions are possible between *p* atomic orbitals.

By convention, each p atomic orbital is directed along one of the three Cartesian axes (Fig. 1.10), and, in considering the formation of a diatomic  $X_2$ , it is convenient to fix the positions of the X nuclei on one of the axes. In diagram **2.13**, the nuclei are placed on the z axis, but this choice of axis is arbitrary. Defining these positions also defines the relative orientations of the two sets of p orbitals (Fig. 2.7).





**Fig. 2.8.** A general orbital interaction diagram for the formation of  $X_2$  in which the valence orbitals of atom X are the 2*s* and 2*p*. In constructing this diagram we assume that the *s*-*p* separation is sufficiently large that no orbital mixing occurs. The X nuclei lie on the *z* axis.

Figures 2.7a and 2.7b show the in-phase and out-of-phase combinations of two  $2p_7$  atomic orbitals. In terms of the region between the nuclei, the  $p_z - p_z$  interaction is similar to that of two s atomic orbitals (Fig. 2.5) and the symmetries of the resultant MOs are consistent with the  $\sigma_g$  and  $\sigma_u^*$ labels. Thus, the direct interaction of two p atomic orbitals (i.e. when the orbitals lie along a common axis) leads to  $\sigma_q(2p)$  and  $\sigma_u^*(2p)$  MOs. The  $p_x$  orbitals of the two atoms X can overlap only in a sideways manner, an interaction which has a smaller overlap integral than the direct overlap of the  $p_z$  atomic orbitals. The in-phase and out-of-phase combinations of two  $2p_x$  atomic orbitals are shown in Figs. 2.7c and 2.7d. The bonding MO is called a  $\pi$ -orbital ('*pi-orbital*'), and its antibonding counterpart is a  $\pi^*$ -orbital ('*pi-star-orbital*'). Note the positions of the nodal planes in each MO. A  $\pi$  molecular orbital is asymmetrical with respect to rotation about the internuclear axis, i.e. if you rotate the orbital about the internuclear axis (the z axis in Fig. 2.7), there is a phase change. A  $\pi^*$ -orbital must exhibit two properties:

- the  $\pi$  label means that rotation of the orbital about the internuclear axis generates a phase change, *and*
- the \* label means that there must be a nodal plane *between* the nuclei.

The parity (see Box 2.1) of a  $\pi$ -orbital is u, and that of a  $\pi^*$ -orbital is g. These labels are the reverse of those for  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$ -orbitals, respectively (Fig. 2.7). The overlap between two  $p_y$  atomic orbitals generates an MO which has the same symmetry properties as that derived from the combination

of the two  $p_x$  atomic orbitals, but the  $\pi_u(p_y)$  MO lies in a plane perpendicular to that of the  $\pi_u(p_x)$  MO. The  $\pi_u(p_x)$  and  $\pi_u(p_y)$  MOs lie at the same energy: they are *degenerate*. The  $\pi_g^*(p_y)$  and  $\pi_g^*(p_x)$  MOs are similarly related.

Now let us return to the formation of  $F_2$ . The valence orbitals of F are the 2s and 2p, and Fig. 2.8 shows a general orbital interaction diagram for the overlap of these orbitals. We may assume to a first approximation that the energy separation of the fluorine 2s and 2p atomic orbitals (the *s*-*p* separation) is sufficiently great that only 2s-2s and 2p-2p orbital interactions occur. Notice that the stabilization of the  $\pi_u(2p_x)$  and  $\pi_u(2p_y)$  MOs relative to the 2p atomic orbitals is less than that of the  $\sigma_g(2p_z)$ MO, consistent with the relative efficiencies of orbital overlap discussed above. In F<sub>2</sub> there are 14 electrons to be accommodated and, according to the *aufbau* principle, this gives a ground state electronic configuration of  $\sigma_g(2s)^2 \sigma_u^*(2s)^2 \sigma_g(2p_z)^2 \pi_u(2p_x)^2 \pi_u(2p_y)^2 \pi_g^*(2p_x)^2 \pi_g^*(2p_y)^2.$ The MO picture for F<sub>2</sub> is consistent with its observed diamagnetism. The predicted bond order is 1, in keeping with the result of the VB treatment (see Section 2.2).

Figure 2.8 can also be used to describe the bonding in O<sub>2</sub>. Each O atom has six valence electrons  $(2s^22p^4)$  and the total of 12 electrons in O<sub>2</sub> gives an electronic ground state of  $\sigma_g(2s)^2 \sigma_u^*(2s)^2 \sigma_g(2p_z)^2 \pi_u(2p_x)^2 \pi_u(2p_y)^2 \pi_g^*(2p_x)^1 \pi_g^*(2p_y)^1$ . This result is one of the triumphs of early MO theory: the model correctly predicts that O<sub>2</sub> possesses two unpaired electrons and is paramagnetic. From eq. 2.9, the bond order in O<sub>2</sub> is 2.



Fig. 2.9. In crossing the period from Li to F, the energies of the 2s and 2p atomic orbitals decrease owing to the increased effective nuclear charge.



Fig. 2.10. Changes in the energy levels of the MOs and the ground state electronic configurations of homonuclear diatomic molecules involving first-row *p*-block elements.

#### What happens if the s-p separation is small?

A comparison of theoretical with experimental data for  $F_2$  and  $O_2$  indicates that the approximations we have made above are appropriate. However, this is not the case if the *s*-*p* energy difference is relatively small. In going from Li to F, the effective nuclear charge experienced by an electron in a 2*s* or 2*p* atomic orbital increases and the orbital energy decreases. This is shown in Fig. 2.9: the trend is non-linear and the *s*-*p* separation increases significantly from B to F. The relatively small *s*-*p* separation observed for B and C means that the approximation made when constructing the orbital interaction diagram in Fig. 2.8 is no longer valid when we construct similar diagrams for the formation of B<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>2</sub>. Here, *orbital mixing* may occur<sup>†</sup> between orbitals of similar symmetry and energy, with the result that the ordering of the MOs in

B<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> differs from that in F<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>. Figure 2.10 compares the energy levels of the MOs and the ground state electronic configurations of the diatomics X<sub>2</sub> for X = B, C, N, O and F. Notice the so-called  $\sigma$ - $\pi$  crossover that occurs between N<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>.

Since the MO approach is a theoretical model, what experimental evidence is there for this  $\sigma-\pi$  crossover? The actual electronic configurations of molecules are nearly always determined spectroscopically, particularly by *photoelectron spectroscopy*, a technique in which electrons in different orbitals are distinguished by their ionization energies (see Section 4.12). Experimental data support the orbital orderings shown in Fig. 2.10. Table 2.1 lists experimental bond distances and bond dissociation enthalpies for diatomics of the second period including Li<sub>2</sub> and Be<sub>2</sub>, and also gives their bond orders calculated from MO theory. Since the nuclear charges change along the series, we should not expect all bonds of order 1 to have the same bond dissociation enthalpy. However, the general relationship between the bond order, dissociation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> This effect is dealt with in detail but at a relatively simple level in Chapter 4 of C.E. Housecroft and E.C. Constable (2010) *Chemistry*, 4th edn, Prentice Hall, Harlow.

Diatomic	Bond distance/pm	Bond dissociation enthalpy / kJ mol <sup>-1</sup>	Bond order	Magnetic properties
Li <sub>2</sub>	267	110	1	Diamagnetic
$\mathrm{Be_2}^\dagger$	-	-	0	-
<b>B</b> <sub>2</sub>	159	297	1	Paramagnetic
C <sub>2</sub>	124	607	2	Diamagnetic
$N_2$	110	945	3	Diamagnetic
O <sub>2</sub>	121	498	2	Paramagnetic
F <sub>2</sub>	141	159	1	Diamagnetic

**Table 2.1** Experimental data and bond orders for homonuclear diatomic molecules  $X_2$  in which X is an atom in the period Li to F.

<sup>†</sup> See text on p. 39.

enthalpy and distance is unmistakable. Table 2.1 also states whether a given molecule is diamagnetic or paramagnetic. We have already seen that MO theory correctly predicts (as does VB theory) that Li<sub>2</sub> is diamagnetic. Similarly, both the MO and VB models are consistent with the diamagnetism of C<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> and F<sub>2</sub>. The paramagnetism of O<sub>2</sub> is predicted by MO theory as we have already seen, and this result is independent of whether the crossover of the  $\sigma_g(2p)$  and  $\pi_u(2p)$  occurs or not (Fig. 2.10). However, the MO model is only consistent with B<sub>2</sub> being paramagnetic *if* the  $\pi_u(2p)$  level is at a lower energy than the  $\sigma_g(2p)$ . Consider in Fig. 2.10 what would happen if the relative orbital energies of the  $\sigma_g(2p)$  and  $\pi_u(2p)$  were reversed.

### Worked example 2.1 Molecular orbital theory: properties of diatomics

The bond dissociation enthalpies for the nitrogennitrogen bond in N<sub>2</sub> and  $[N_2]^-$  are 945 and 765 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Account for this difference in terms of MO theory, and state whether  $[N_2]^-$  is expected to be diamagnetic or paramagnetic.

Each N atom has the ground state configuration of  $[\text{He}]2s^22p^3$ .

An MO diagram for  $N_2$ , assuming only 2s-2s and 2p-2p orbital interactions, can be constructed, the result being as shown in Fig. 2.10. From this diagram, the bond order in  $N_2$  is 3.0.

The change from N<sub>2</sub> to  $[N_2]^-$  is a one-electron reduction and, assuming that Fig. 2.10 is still applicable, an electron is added to a  $\pi_g^*(2p)$  orbital. The calculated bond order in  $[N_2]^-$  is therefore 2.5.

The lower bond order of  $[N_2]^-$  compared with  $N_2$  is consistent with a lower bond dissociation enthalpy.

The electron in the  $\pi_g^*(2p)$  orbital is unpaired and  $[N_2]^-$  is expected to be paramagnetic.

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Using Fig. 2.10 as a basis, account for the fact that  $[N_2]^+$  is paramagnetic.
- 2. Using MO theory, rationalize why the N–N bond distance in  $[N_2]^+$  is greater (112 pm) than in N<sub>2</sub> (110 pm). [*Ans*. Loss of electron from  $\sigma_g(2p)$  MO]
- 3. Use Fig. 2.10 to rationalize why the bond orders in  $[N_2]^+$  and  $[N_2]^-$  are *both* 2.5.
- 4. Classify the changes from (a) N<sub>2</sub> to [N<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup>, (b) from [N<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup> to N<sub>2</sub> and (c) from [N<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup> to [N<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup> as 1- or 2-electron, oxidation or reduction steps.
  [*Ans.* (a) 1e oxidation; (b) 1e oxidation; (c) 2e reduction]
- 5. Use MO theory to show that  $B_2$  has a bond order of one, and that  $B_2$  is paramagnetic.

[Ans. Check answer against Fig. 2.10]

6. Starting from Fig. 2.10: explain why (a)  $[O_2]^-$  is paramagnetic, but  $[O_2]^{2-}$  is diamagnetic, and (b) the trend in bond orders is  $[O_2]^{2-} < [O_2]^- < O_2$ .

#### 2.4 The octet rule and isoelectronic species

#### The octet rule: first row *p*-block elements

The ground state electronic configurations in Table 1.3 reveal a pattern illustrating that filled quantum levels provide 'building blocks' within the electronic configurations of the heavier elements. Worked example 1.7 emphasized that each noble gas is characterized by having a filled quantum level. With the exception of He, this configuration is of

the form  $ns^2np^6$ , and this gives rise to the concept of the *octet rule*.

An atom obeys the *octet rule* when it gains, loses or shares electrons to give an *outer* shell containing eight electrons (an octet) with a configuration  $ns^2np^6$ .

Ions such as Na<sup>+</sup>  $(2s^22p^6)$ , Mg<sup>2+</sup>  $(2s^22p^6)$ , F<sup>-</sup> $(2s^22p^6)$ , Cl<sup>-</sup>  $(3s^23p^6)$  and O<sup>2-</sup>  $(2s^22p^6)$  obey the octet rule. In the gas phase, formation of Na<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and O<sup>2-</sup> ions from Na, Mg and O atoms is endothermic (Fig. 1.6 and Table 1.5), and the ions typically exist in environments in which electrostatic interaction energies compensate for the energies needed to form the ions (see Chapter 6). In general, the octet rule is most usefully applied in covalently bonded compounds involving *p*-block elements.

In structures 2.14-2.16, Lewis structures are used to illustrate how the octet rule is obeyed by elements from the first row of the *p*-block. A carbon atom has four valence electrons  $(2s^22p^2)$  and if it forms four covalent single bonds, it achieves an octet of electrons in its valence shell (structure **2.14**). A boron atom has three valence electrons  $(2s^22p^1)$ and the formation of three single bonds generates a sextet (six electrons). The BH<sub>3</sub> molecule deals with this problem by dimerizing as we discuss in Section 5.8. In  $[BH_4]^-$ , the negative charge can formally be assigned to the B centre. By forming four single bonds, the B atom achieves an octet of electrons as shown in structure 2.15. Nitrogen is in group 15 and an N atom has five valence electrons  $(2s^22p^3)$ . In  $[NH_4]^+$ , if we formally assign the positive charge to the N atom, this centre then has four valence electrons and the formation of four single bonds provides the N atom with an octet of electrons (structure 2.16).

(2.14)	(2.15)	(2.16)
$CH_4$	$[BH_4]^-$	[NH <sub>4</sub> ] <sup>+</sup>
Н	Н	Н
••	••	••
н : с : н	н :в⁻:н	H : N <sup>+</sup> : H
••	••	••
Н	Н	Н

In these examples, only bonding electrons contribute to the octet of electrons. Lone pairs of electrons may also contribute as illustrated in  $H_2O$  (2.17) and HF (2.18).

(2.17)	(2.18)		
H <sub>2</sub> O	HF		
Н			
••	••		
н:о:	Н <b>:</b> F <b>:</b>		

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that *each* atom in each of the following molecules obeys the octet rule: NF<sub>3</sub>, CF<sub>4</sub>, OF<sub>2</sub>, F<sub>2</sub>. Draw Lewis structures for the molecules and confirm that the bond order of each bond is one.
- 2. Show that *each* atom in the  $[BF_4]^-$  ion obeys the octet rule.
- 3. Show that *each* atom in each of the following molecules obeys the octet rule: CO<sub>2</sub>, OCF<sub>2</sub>, ONF. Draw Lewis structures for the molecules and state the bond order of each bond.

#### **Isoelectronic species**

The series of molecular species shown in structures **2.14–2.16** illustrates the important concept of *isoelectronic species*.

Two species are *isoelectronic* if they possess the same *total* number of electrons.

Boron, carbon and nitrogen are adjacent and in the same row in the periodic table, and atoms of B, C and N contain three, four and five valence electrons, respectively. It follows that each of  $B^-$ , C and N<sup>+</sup> possesses four valence electrons, and  $[BH_4]^-$ , CH<sub>4</sub> and  $[NH_4]^+$  are therefore *isoelectronic*. The word *isoelectronic* is often used in the context of meaning '*same number of valence electrons*', but strictly such usage should always be qualified. For example, HF, HCl and HBr are isoelectronic *with respect to their valence electrons*.

The isoelectronic principle is simple but important. Often, species that are isoelectronic possess the same structure, i.e. they are *isostructural*, e.g.  $[BH_4]^-$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $[NH_4]^+$ .

If two species are *isostructural*, they possess the same structure.

### Worked example 2.2 Isoelectronic molecules and ions

Show that  $N_2$  and  $[NO]^+$  are isoelectronic.

N is in group 15 and has five valence electrons.

O is in group 16 and has six valence electrons.

O<sup>+</sup> has five valence electrons.

Therefore, each of  $N_2$  and  $[NO]^+$  possesses 10 valence electrons and the species are isoelectronic.

#### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Show that  $[SiF_6]^{2-}$  and  $[PF_6]^{-}$  are isoelectronic.
- 2. Confirm that  $[CN]^-$  and  $[NO]^+$  are isoelectronic.
- 3. Are  $I_2$  and  $F_2$  isoelectronic?
- 4. In terms only of valence electrons, which of the following species is not isoelectronic with the remaining three: NH<sub>3</sub>, [H<sub>3</sub>O]<sup>+</sup>, BH<sub>3</sub> and AsH<sub>3</sub>? [*Ans.* BH<sub>3</sub>]
- 5. Are GaCl<sub>3</sub> and BF<sub>3</sub> isoelectronic?
- 6. Show that  $[AlCl_4]^-$ ,  $SiCl_4$  and  $[PCl_4]^+$  are isoelectronic.

#### The octet rule: heavier *p*-block elements

As one descends a given group in the *p*-block, there is a tendency towards increased coordination numbers. Thus for example, a coordination number of 6 is found in  $SF_6$ ,  $[PF_6]^-$  and  $[SiF_6]^{2-}$ , but is not found in simple molecular species for the analogous first row elements O, N and C. Similarly, the heavier group 17 elements form compounds such as ClF<sub>3</sub>, BrF<sub>5</sub> and IF<sub>7</sub> in which F is always a terminal atom and forms only one single bond. The Lewis structures **2.19** and **2.20** for ClF<sub>3</sub> imply that the Cl atom is surrounded by 10 valence electrons, i.e. it has 'expanded its octet'. Such species are referred to as being *hypervalent*.



It is, however, not necessary to exceed a valence octet if we make use of *charge-separated* species as contributing resonance structures. In order to maintain the octet of electrons around the Cl centre in ClF<sub>3</sub>, we have to follow a similar strategy to that adopted in  $[NH_4]^+$  described above (2.16). Whereas a Cl atom  $(3s^23p^5)$  can form only one bond while obeying the octet rule, a Cl<sup>+</sup> centre can form two bonds:



Thus, we can write a Lewis structure for  $ClF_3$  in terms of the charge-separated species **2.21**.



There is, however, a problem: structure **2.21** implies that one Cl–F interaction is ionic, while the other two are covalent. This problem is readily overcome by drawing a set of three resonance structures:



We look again at the bonding in hypervalent species in Sections 5.2, 5.8 and 15.3.

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that As in  $AsF_3$  obeys the octet rule.
- 2. Show that Se in  $H_2$ Se obeys the octet rule.
- 3. In which of the following molecules is it necessary to invoke charge-separated resonance structures in order that the central atom obeys the octet rule: (a) H<sub>2</sub>S; (b) HCN; (c) SO<sub>2</sub>; (d) AsF<sub>5</sub>; (e) [BF<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>; (f) CO<sub>2</sub>; (g) BrF<sub>3</sub>. [*Ans.* (c); (d); (g)]
- 4. Draw Lewis structures for the following ions, ensuring that all atoms obey the octet rule: (a) [NO]<sup>+</sup>; (b) [CN]<sup>-</sup>;
  (c) [AlH<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>; (d) [NO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup>.

#### 2.5 Electronegativity values

In a homonuclear diatomic molecule  $X_2$ , the electron density in the region between the nuclei is symmetrical; each X nucleus has the same effective nuclear charge. On the other hand, the disposition of electron density in the region between the two nuclei of a *heteronuclear* diatomic molecule X–Y may be asymmetrical. If the effective nuclear charge of Y is greater than that of X, the pair of electrons in the X–Y covalent bond will be drawn towards Y and away from X.

#### Pauling electronegativity values, $\chi^{P}$

*Electronegativity*,  $\chi^{P}$ , was defined by Pauling as 'the power of an atom in a molecule to attract electrons to itself'.

In the early 1930s, Linus Pauling established the concept of *electronegativity*. The symbol for electronegativity is  $\chi$  but we distinguish between different electronegativity scales by

use of a superscript, e.g.  $\chi^{\rm P}$  for Pauling. Pauling first developed the idea in response to the observation that experimentally determined bond dissociation enthalpy values for heteronuclear bonds often did not agree with those obtained by simple additivity rules. Equation 2.10 shows the relationship between the bond dissociation enthalpy, *D*, of the gas phase homonuclear diatomic X<sub>2</sub> and the enthalpy change of atomization,  $\Delta_{\rm a}H^{\rm o}$ , of X(g). Effectively, this partitions bond enthalpy into a contribution made by each atom and, in the case of X<sub>2</sub>, the contribution made by each atom is the same.

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{a}}H^{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{X},\mathbf{g}) = \frac{1}{2} \times D(\mathbf{X} - \mathbf{X}) \tag{2.10}$$

In eq. 2.11, the same type of additivity is applied to the bond in the heteronuclear diatomic XY. Estimates obtained for D(X-Y) using this method sometimes agree quite well with experimental data (e.g. ClBr and ClI), but may differ significantly (e.g. HF and HCl) as worked example 2.3 shows.

$$D(X-Y) = \frac{1}{2} \times [D(X-X) + D(Y-Y)]$$
(2.11)

#### Worked example 2.3 Bond enthalpy additivity

Given that D(H-H) and D(F-F) in H<sub>2</sub> and F<sub>2</sub> are 436 and 158 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>, estimate the bond dissociation enthalpy of HF using a simple additivity rule. Compare the answer with the experimental value of 570 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>.

Assume that you can transfer the contribution made to D(H-H) by an H atom to D(H-F), and similarly for F.

$$D(H-F) = \frac{1}{2} \times [D(H-H) + D(F-F)]$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \times [436 + 158]$   
= 297 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>

Clearly, this model is unsatisfactory since it grossly underestimates the value of D(H-F) which, experimentally, is found to be 570 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Self-study exercises

 Given that D(H–H), D(Cl–Cl), D(Br–Br) and D(I–I) in H<sub>2</sub>, Cl<sub>2</sub>, Br<sub>2</sub> and I<sub>2</sub> are 436, 242, 193 and 151 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> respectively, estimate (by the above method) values of D(H–X) in HCl, HBr and HI.

[Ans. 339; 315; 294 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>]

2. Compare your answers to question 1 with experimental values of 432, 366 and  $298 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$  for D(H-X) in HCl, HBr and HI.

Within the framework of the VB approach, Pauling suggested that the difference,  $\Delta D$ , between an experimental value of D(X-Y) and that obtained using eq. 2.11 could be attributed to the ionic contribution to the bond (eq. 2.4). The greater the *difference* in electron attracting powers (the *electronegativities*) of atoms X and Y, the greater the contribution made by  $X^+Y^-$  (or  $X^-Y^+$ ), and the greater the value of  $\Delta D$ . Pauling determined an approximately self-consistent scale of electronegativities,  $\chi^P$ , as follows. He first converted  $\Delta D$  values (obtained from  $D_{\text{experimental}} - D_{\text{calculated}}$ , the calculated value coming from eq. 2.11) from units of kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> to eV in order to obtain a numerically small value of  $\Delta D$ . He then arbitrarily related  $\sqrt{\Delta D}$  to the difference in electronegativity values between atoms X and Y (eq. 2.12).

$$\Delta \chi = \chi^{\mathsf{P}}(\mathsf{Y}) - \chi^{\mathsf{P}}(\mathsf{X}) = \sqrt{\Delta D} \qquad \text{units of } \Delta D = \mathsf{eV}$$
(2.12)

Over the years, the availability of more accurate thermochemical data has allowed Pauling's initial values of  $\chi^P$  to be more finely tuned. Values listed in Table 2.2 are those in current use. Some intuition is required in deciding whether X or Y has the higher electronegativity value and in order to avoid giving an element a negative value of  $\chi^P$ ,  $\chi^P$ (H) has been taken as 2.2. Although eq. 2.12 implies that the units of  $\chi^P$  are  $eV^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , it is not usual to give units to electronegativity values. By virtue of their different definitions, values of  $\chi$  on different electronegativity scales (see below) possess different units.

In Table 2.2, more than one value of  $\chi^{P}$  is listed for some elements. This follows from the fact that the electron withdrawing power of an element varies with its oxidation state (see Section 8.1); remember that the Pauling definition of  $\chi^{P}$  refers to an atom *in a compound*. Electronegativity values also vary with bond order. Thus for C,  $\chi^{P}$  has the values of 2.5 for a C–C bond, 2.75 for a C=C bond and 3.3 for a C≡C bond. For most purposes, the value of  $\chi^{P}(C) = 2.6$  suffices, although the variation underlines the fact that such values must be used with caution.

Following from the original concept of electronegativity, various scales have been devised. We focus on those of Mulliken and of Allred and Rochow;  $\chi$  values from these scales are *not directly comparable* with Pauling values, although *trends* in the values should be similar (Fig. 2.11). Scales may be adjusted so as to be comparable with the Pauling scale.

#### Mulliken electronegativity values, $\chi^{M}$

In one of the simplest approaches to electronegativity, Mulliken took the value of  $\chi^{M}$  for an atom to be the mean of the values of the first ionization energy, *IE*<sub>1</sub>, and the first electron affinity, *EA*<sub>1</sub> (eq. 2.13).

$$\chi^{\rm M} = \frac{IE_1 + EA_1}{2} \qquad \text{where } IE_1 \text{ and } EA_1 \text{ are in eV} \quad (2.13)$$

Group	Group		Group	Group	Group	Group	Group
1	2		13	14	15	16	17
Н							
2.2							
Li	Be		В	C	N	O	F
1.0	1.6		2.0	2.6	3.0	3.4	4.0
Na	Mg		Al(III)	Si	P	S	Cl
0.9	1.3		1.6	1.9	2.2	2.6	3.2
K	Ca		Ga(III)	Ge(IV)	As(III)	Se	Br
0.8	1.0		1.8	2.0	2.2	2.6	3.0
Rb 0.8	Sr 0.9	(d-block elements)	In(III) 1.8	Sn(II) 1.8 Sn(IV) 2.0	Sb 2.1	Te 2.1	I 2.7
Cs 0.8	Ba 0.9		Tl(I) 1.6 Tl(III) 2.0	Pb(II) 1.9 Pb(IV) 2.3	Bi 2.0	Ро 2.0	At 2.2

**Table 2.2** Pauling electronegativity  $(\chi^{P})$  values for the *s*- and *p*-block elements.

#### Allred-Rochow electronegativity values, $\chi^{\rm AR}$

Allred and Rochow chose as a measure of electronegativity of an atom the electrostatic force exerted by the effective nuclear charge  $Z_{eff}$  (estimated from Slater's rules, see Box 1.5) on the valence electrons. The latter are assumed



**Fig. 2.11.** Although electronegativity values for a given element from different scales cannot be expected to be the same, *trends* in values along a series of elements are comparable. This is illustrated with scaled values of  $\chi^{P}$  (Pauling; red),  $\chi^{M}$  (Mulliken; green) and  $\chi^{AR}$  (Allred–Rochow; blue) for first row elements from the *p*-block.

to reside at a distance from the nucleus equal to the covalent radius,  $r_{\rm cov}$ , of the atom. Equation 2.14 gives the method of calculating values of the Allred–Rochow electronegativity,  $\chi^{\rm AR}$ .

$$\chi^{\text{AR}} = \left(3590 \times \frac{Z_{\text{eff}}}{r_{\text{cov}}^2}\right) + 0.744 \quad \text{where } r_{\text{cov}} \text{ is in pm}$$
(2.14)

Since, however, Slater's rules are partly empirical and covalent radii are unavailable for some elements, the Allred–Rochow scale is no more rigid or complete than the Pauling one.

#### **Electronegativity: final remarks**

Despite the very different (and empirical) approaches to  $\chi^{P}$ ,  $\chi^{M}$  and  $\chi^{AR}$ , the trends in electronegativities are roughly in agreement, as Fig. 2.11 exemplifies. The most useful of the scales for application in inorganic chemistry is probably the Pauling scale, which, being based empirically on thermochemical data, can reasonably be used to predict similar data. For example, if the electronegativities of two elements X and Y have been derived from the single covalent bond enthalpies of HX, HY, X<sub>2</sub>, Y<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>, we can estimate the bond dissociation enthalpy of the bond in XY with a fair degree of reliability.

### Worked example 2.4 Estimation of a bond dissociation enthalpy from $\chi^{P}$ values

Using the following data, estimate a value for D(Br-F):  $D(F-F) = 158 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$   $D(Br-Br) = 224 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$  $\chi^{P}(F) = 4.0$   $\chi^{P}(Br) = 3.0$ 

First, use the values of  $\chi^{\rm P}$  to find  $\Delta D$ :

$$\sqrt{\Delta D} = \chi^{\rm P}({\rm F}) - \chi^{\rm P}({\rm Br}) = 4.0 - 3.0 = 1.0$$

$$\Delta D = 1.0^2 = 1.0$$

This gives the value in eV; convert to  $kJ mol^{-1}$ :

$$1.0 \,\mathrm{eV} \approx 96.5 \,\mathrm{kJ \, mol}^{-1}$$

 $\Delta D$  is defined as follows:

$$\Delta D = [D(Br-F)_{\text{experimental}}] - \{\frac{1}{2} \times [D(Br-Br) + D(F-F)]\}$$

So an estimate of D(Br-F) is given by:

$$D(Br-F) = \Delta D + \{\frac{1}{2} \times [D(Br-Br) + D(F-F)]\}$$
  
= 96.5 +  $\{\frac{1}{2} \times [224 + 158]\}$   
= 287.5 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>

[This compares with an experimental value of  $250.2 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ .]

#### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Use the following data to estimate the bond dissociation enthalpy of BrCl:  $D(Br-Br) = 224 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ;  $D(Cl-Cl) = 242 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ;  $\chi^{P}(Br) = 3.0$ ;  $\chi^{P}(Cl) = 3.2$ . [Ans.  $\approx 237 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ; actual experimental value =  $218 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ]
- 2. Use the following data to estimate the bond dissociation enthalpy of HF:  $D(H-H) = 436 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ;  $D(F-F) = 158 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ ;  $\chi^{P}(H) = 2.2$ ;  $\chi^{P}(F) = 4.0$ .

 $[Ans. \approx 610 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}; \text{ actual experimental value} = 570 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}]$ 

3. Estimate the bond dissociation enthalpy of ICl given that  $\chi^{P}(I) = 2.7$ ,  $\chi^{P}(Cl) = 3.2$ , and D(I-I) and D(Cl-Cl) = 151 and 242 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> respectively.

 $[Ans. 221 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}]$ 

In this book, we tend to base the systemization of descriptive inorganic chemistry on rigidly defined and independently measured thermochemical quantities such as ionization energies, electron affinities, bond dissociation enthalpies, lattice energies and hydration enthalpies. Nonetheless, electronegativity values give valuable information about bond and molecular polarities (see below) and allow you to qualitatively assess trends in, for example, acid dissociation constants for families of related oxoacids.

#### 2.6 Dipole moments

#### Polar diatomic molecules

The symmetrical electron distribution in the bond of a homonuclear diatomic renders the bond *non-polar*. In a heteronuclear diatomic, the electron withdrawing powers of the two atoms may be different, and the bonding electrons are drawn closer towards the more electronegative atom. The bond is *polar* and possesses an *electric dipole moment* ( $\mu$ ). Be careful to distinguish between *electric* and *magnetic* dipole moments (see Section 20.10).

The dipole moment of a diatomic XY molecule is given by eq. 2.15 where *d* is the distance between the point electronic charges (i.e. the internuclear separation), *e* is the charge on the electron  $(1.602 \times 10^{-19} \text{ C})$  and *q* is point charge. The SI unit of  $\mu$  is the coulomb metre (C m) but for convenience,  $\mu$  tends to be given in units of debyes (D) where  $1 \text{ D} = 3.336 \times 10^{-30} \text{ C m}$ .

$$u = q \times e \times d \tag{2.15}$$

#### Worked example 2.5 Dipole moments

The dipole moment of a gas phase HBr molecule is 0.827 D. Determine the charge distribution in this diatomic if the bond distance is 141.5 pm.  $(1 D = 3.336 \times 10^{-30} C m)$ 

To find the charge distribution, you need to find q using the expression:

$$\mu = qed$$

Units must be consistent:

12

$$d = 141.5 \times 10^{-12} \text{ m}$$

$$u = 0.827 \times 3.336 \times 10^{-30} = 2.76 \times 10^{-30} \text{ Cm} \text{ (to 3 sig. fig.)}$$

$$q = \frac{\mu}{ed}$$

$$= \frac{2.76 \times 10^{-30}}{1.602 \times 10^{-19} \times 141.5 \times 10^{-12}}$$

$$= 0.12 \text{ (no units)}$$

The charge distribution can be written as  $\stackrel{+0.12}{H}$   $\stackrel{-0.12}{\longrightarrow}$  Br since Br is more electronegative than H.

#### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. The bond length in HF is 92 pm, and the dipole moment is 1.83 D. Determine the charge distribution in the molecule.  $[Ans. H^{-0.41} - F]$
- 2. The bond length in CIF is 163 pm. If the charge distribution is  $CI \longrightarrow F$ , show that the molecular dipole moment is 0.86 D.

In worked example 2.5, the result indicates that the electron distribution in HBr is such that effectively 0.12 electrons have been transferred from H to Br. The partial charge separation in a polar diatomic molecule can be represented by use of the symbols  $\delta^+$  and  $\delta^-$  assigned to the appropriate nuclear centres, and an arrow represents the direction in which the dipole moment acts. By SI convention, the arrow points from the  $\delta^-$  end of the bond to the  $\delta^+$  end, which is contrary to long-established chemical practice. This is shown for HF in structure **2.22.** Keep in mind that a dipole moment is a vector quantity.



A word of caution: attempts to calculate the degree of ionic character of the bonds in heteronuclear diatomics from their observed dipole moments and the moments calculated on the basis of charge separation neglect the effects of any lone pairs of electrons and are therefore of doubtful validity. The significant effects of lone pairs are illustrated below in Example 3.

#### Molecular dipole moments

Polarity is a *molecular property*. For polyatomic species, the net molecular dipole moment depends upon the magnitudes and relative directions of all the bond dipole moments in the molecule. In addition, lone pairs of electrons may contribute significantly to the overall value of  $\mu$ . We consider three examples below, using the Pauling electronegativity values of the atoms involved to give an indication of individual bond polarities. This practice is useful but must be treated with caution as it can lead to spurious results, e.g. when the bond multiplicity is not taken into account when assigning a value of  $\chi^{P}$ . Experimental values of molecular electric dipole moments are determined by microwave spectroscopy or other spectroscopic methods.

Example 1: CF<sub>4</sub>



The values of  $\chi^{P}(C)$  and  $\chi^{P}(F)$  are 2.6 and 4.0, respectively, indicating that each C–F bond is polar in the sense  $C^{\delta^{+}}-F^{\delta^{-}}$ . The CF<sub>4</sub> molecule (**2.23**) is tetrahedral and the four bond moments (each a vector of equivalent magnitude) oppose and cancel one another. The effects of the F lone pairs also cancel out, and the net result is that CF<sub>4</sub> is non-polar.

Example 2: H<sub>2</sub>O





Example 3: NH<sub>3</sub> and NF<sub>3</sub>



The molecules NH<sub>3</sub> and NF<sub>3</sub> have trigonal pyramidal structures (**2.25**), and have dipole moments of 1.47 and 0.24 D respectively. This significant difference may be rationalized by considering the bond dipole moments and the effects of the N lone pair. The values of  $\chi^{P}(N)$  and  $\chi^{P}(H)$  are 3.0 and 2.2, so each bond is polar in the sense N<sup> $\delta^{-}$ </sup> –H<sup> $\delta^{+}$ </sup>. The resultant dipole moment acts in a direction that is reinforced by the lone pair. Ammonia is a polar molecule with N carrying a partial negative charge. In NF<sub>3</sub>, each N–F bond is polar in the sense N<sup> $\delta^{+}$ </sup> –F<sup> $\delta^{-}$ </sup> since F is more electronegative ( $\chi^{P}(F) = 4.0$ ) than N. The resultant dipole moment *opposes* the effects of the lone pair, rendering the NF<sub>3</sub> molecule far less polar than NH<sub>3</sub>.

Clearly, molecular shape is an important factor in determining whether a molecule is polar or not. The examples below and in end-of-chapter problem 2.19 consider this further.

### Worked example 2.6 Molecular dipole moments

Use electronegativity values in Table 2.2 to work out whether or not the following molecule is polar and, if so, in what direction the dipole acts.



First, look up values of  $\chi^{P}$  from Table 2.2:  $\chi^{P}(H) = 2.2$ ,  $\chi^{P}(C) = 2.6$ ,  $\chi^{P}(F) = 4.0$ . The molecule is therefore polar with F atoms  $\delta^{-}$ , and the molecular dipole moment acts as shown below:



#### **Self-study exercises**

1. Use electronegativity values in Table 2.2 to confirm that each of the following molecules is polar. Draw diagrams to show the directions of the molecular dipole moments.



2. Explain why each of the following molecules is non-polar.



### 2.7 MO theory: heteronuclear diatomic molecules

In this section, we return to MO theory and apply it to heteronuclear diatomic molecules. In each of the orbital interaction diagrams constructed in Section 2.3 for *homonuclear* diatomics, the resultant MOs contained *equal* contributions from each atomic orbital involved. This is represented in eq. 2.5 for the bonding MO in H<sub>2</sub> by the fact that each of the wavefunctions  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  contributes equally to  $\psi_{MO}$ , and the representations of the MOs in H<sub>2</sub> (Fig. 2.5) depict *symmetrical* orbitals. Now we look at representative examples of diatomics in which the MOs may contain *different* atomic orbital contributions, a scenario that is typical for heteronuclear diatomics.

First, we must consider likely restrictions when we are faced with the possibility of combining different types of atomic orbitals.

#### Which orbital interactions should be considered?

At the beginning of Section 2.3 we stated some general requirements that should be met for orbital interactions to take place efficiently. We stated that orbital interactions are allowed if the *symmetries* of the atomic orbitals are compatible with one another. In our approach to the bonding in a diatomic, we made the assumption that only the interactions between *like* atomic orbitals, e.g. 2s-2s,  $2p_z-2p_z$ , need be considered. Such interactions are *symmetry-allowed*, and in addition, in a *homonuclear* diatomic the energies of like atomic orbitals on the two atoms are exactly matched.

In a heteronuclear diatomic, we often encounter two atoms that have different basis sets of atomic orbitals, or have sets of similar atomic orbitals lying at different energies. For example, in CO, although both C and O possess valence 2s and 2p atomic orbitals, the greater effective nuclear charge of O means that its atomic orbitals lie at a lower energy than those of C (Fig. 2.9). Before we look more closely at some examples of heteronuclear diatomics, let us briefly consider some symmetry-allowed and -disallowed orbital interactions. It is important to remember that we are looking at these symmetry properties with respect to the internuclear axis. In our earlier discussion of homonuclear diatomics (e.g. Fig. 2.8), we ignored the possibility of overlap between the  $p_x$  and  $p_y$ orbitals. Such an interaction between orthogonal p atomic orbitals (Fig. 2.12a) would give a zero overlap integral. Similarly, for nuclei lying on the z axis, interaction between  $p_x$  and  $p_z$ , or  $p_y$  and  $p_z$ , orbitals gives zero overlap. An interaction between an s and a p atomic orbital may occur depending upon the orientation of the p orbital. In Fig. 2.12b, overlap would be partly bonding and partly antibonding and the net effect is a non-bonding interaction. On the other hand, Fig. 2.12c shows an s-p interaction that is allowed by symmetry. Whether or not this leads to effective overlap depends upon the relative energies of the two atomic orbitals. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.13 for a diatomic XY. Let the interaction between  $\psi_X$  and  $\psi_Y$  be symmetry-allowed; the orbital energies are not the same but are close enough that overlap between the orbitals is efficient. The orbital interaction diagram shows that the energy of the bonding MO is closer to  $E(\psi_{\mathbf{Y}})$  than to  $E(\psi_{\mathbf{X}})$  and the consequence of this is that the bonding orbital possesses greater Y than X



**Fig. 2.12.** Overlap between atomic orbitals is not always allowed by symmetry. Combinations (a) and (b) lead to non-bonding situations but (c) is symmetry-allowed and gives rise to a bonding interaction.



**Fig. 2.13.** The relative energies of atomic orbitals of X and Y will dictate whether an interaction (formally allowed by symmetry) will lead to efficient overlap or not. Here, an interaction occurs but the contribution made by  $\psi_Y$  to  $\psi_{MO}$  is greater than that made by  $\psi_X$ , while  $\psi_X$  contributes more than  $\psi_Y$  to the antibonding MO. The diagrams on the right give pictorial representations of the bonding and antibonding MOs.

*character*. This is expressed in eq. 2.16 in which  $c_2 > c_1$ . For the antibonding MO, the situation is reversed, and  $\psi_X$  contributes more than  $\psi_Y$ ; in eq. 2.17,  $c_3 > c_4$ .

$$\psi_{\rm MO} = N[(c_1 \times \psi_{\rm X}) + (c_2 \times \psi_{\rm Y})] \tag{2.16}$$

$$\psi^*_{MO} = N^*[(c_3 \times \psi_X) + (c_4 \times \psi_Y)]$$
(2.17)

The energy separation  $\Delta E$  in Fig. 2.13 is critical. If it is large, interaction between  $\psi_X$  and  $\psi_Y$  will be poor (the overlap integral is very small). In the extreme case, there is no interaction at all and both  $\psi_X$  and  $\psi_Y$  appear in the XY molecule as unperturbed *non-bonding* atomic orbitals. This is exemplified below.

#### Hydrogen fluoride

The ground state configurations of H and F are  $1s^1$  and [He] $2s^22p^5$  respectively. Since  $Z_{eff}(F) > Z_{eff}(H)$ , the F 2s and 2p atomic orbital energies are significantly lowered with respect to the H 1s atomic orbital (Fig. 2.14).

We now have to consider which atomic orbital interactions are symmetry-allowed and then ask whether the atomic orbitals are sufficiently well energy-matched. First, define the axis set for the orbitals; let the nuclei lie on the z axis. Overlap between the H 1s and F 2s orbitals is allowed by symmetry, but the energy separation is very large (note the break on the energy axis in Fig. 2.14). Overlap between the H 1s and F  $2p_z$  atomic orbitals is also symmetry-allowed and there is a reasonable orbital energy match. As Fig. 2.14 shows, an interaction occurs leading to  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$  MOs; the  $\sigma$ -orbital has greater F than H character. Notice that, because HF is *non-centrosymmetric* (see Box 2.1), the symmetry labels of the orbitals for HF do *not* involve g and u labels. The two F  $2p_x$  and  $2p_y$  atomic orbitals become non-bonding orbitals in HF since no net bonding interaction with the H 1s atomic orbital is possible. Once the orbital interaction



**Fig. 2.14.** An orbital interaction diagram for the formation of HF. Only the valence atomic orbitals and electrons are shown. The break in the vertical (energy) axis indicates that the energy of the F 2s atomic orbital is much lower than is actually shown.



**Fig. 2.15.** (a) A simplified orbital interaction diagram for CO which allows for the effects of some orbital mixing. The labels  $1\sigma$ ,  $2\sigma$ ... rather than  $\sigma(2s)$ ... are used because some orbitals contain both *s* and *p* character. (b) A more rigorous (but still qualitative) orbital interaction diagram for CO. The diagrams on the right-hand side show representations of the MOs and have been generated computationally using Spartan '04, ©Wavefunction Inc. 2003. These diagrams illustrate that the  $1\sigma$  MO has mainly oxygen character, while the  $2\sigma$ ,  $3\sigma$  and  $\pi^*(2p)$  MOs have more carbon than oxygen character.

diagram has been constructed, the eight valence electrons are accommodated as shown in Fig. 2.14, giving a bond order of 1 in HF. The MO picture of HF indicates that the electron density is greater around the F than H nucleus; the model is consistent with a polar H–F bond in the sense  $H^{\delta^+}-F^{\delta^-}$ .

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Sketch pictorial representations of the  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^*$  MOs in HF.
- 2. Why is the lowest MO in Fig. 2.14 non-bonding?
- 3. If the HF molecule lies along the *z* axis, the degenerate level shown in Fig. 2.14 comprises F  $2p_x$  and  $2p_y$ . Why are these MOs non-bonding?
- 4. Explain why the MO treatment of HF shown in Fig. 2.14 is consistent with a bond order of one.

#### Carbon monoxide

In Chapter 24 we discuss the chemistry of compounds containing metal–carbon bonds (*organometallic compounds*) of which *metal carbonyls* of the type  $M_x(CO)_y$  are one group. In order to investigate the way in which CO bonds to metals, we must appreciate the electronic structure of the carbon monoxide molecule.

Before constructing an orbital interaction diagram for CO, we note the following:

- $Z_{\text{eff}}(\mathbf{O}) > Z_{\text{eff}}(\mathbf{C});$
- the energy of the O 2*s* atomic orbital is lower than that of the C 2*s* atomic orbital (Fig. 2.9);
- the 2*p* level in O is at lower energy than that in C (Fig. 2.9);
- the 2*s*-2*p* energy separation in O is greater than that in C (Fig. 2.9).

We could generate an approximate orbital interaction diagram by assuming that only 2s-2s and 2p-2p overlap occurs, but, as a consequence of the relative atomic orbital energies, such a picture is too simplistic. Figure 2.15a gives a more accurate MO picture of the electronic structure of CO obtained computationally, although even this is over-simplified. Figure 2.15b illustrates more fully the extent of orbital mixing, but for our discussion, the simplified picture presented in Fig. 2.15a suffices. Two of the more important features to notice are:

- The highest occupied MO (HOMO) is σ-bonding and possesses predominantly *carbon* character; occupation of this MO effectively creates an outward-pointing lone pair centred on C.
- A degenerate pair of  $\pi^*(2p)$  MOs make up the lowest unoccupied MOs (LUMOs); each MO possesses more C than O character.

Pictorial representations of the HOMO and one of the LUMOs are given in Fig. 2.15; refer to end-of-chapter problem 2.21.

*HOMO* = highest occupied molecular orbital. *LUMO* = lowest unoccupied molecular orbital.

#### 2.8 Molecular shape and the VSEPR model

#### Valence-shell electron-pair repulsion model

The *valence-shell electron-pair repulsion (VSEPR)* model is used to rationalize or predict the shapes of molecular species. It is based on the assumption that electron pairs adopt arrangements that minimize repulsions between them.

The shapes of molecules containing a central *p*-block atom tend to be controlled by the number of electrons in the valence shell of the central atom. The *valence-shell electron-pair repulsion* (VSEPR) model provides a simple model for predicting the shapes of such species. The model combines original ideas of Sidgwick and Powell with extensions developed by Nyholm and Gillespie, and may be summarized as follows:

- Each valence shell electron pair of the central atom E in a molecule EX<sub>n</sub> containing E–X single bonds is stereo-chemically significant, and repulsions between them determine the molecular shape.
- Electron-electron repulsions decrease in the sequence: lone pair-lone pair > lone pair-bonding pair > bonding pair-bonding pair.
- Where the central atom E is involved in multiple bond formation to atoms X, electron–electron repulsions decrease in the order:

triple bond-single bond > double bond-single bond > single bond-single bond.

• Repulsions between the bonding pairs in EX<sub>n</sub> depend on the difference between the electronegativities of E and X; electron–electron repulsions are less the more the E–X bonding electron density is drawn away from the central atom E.

The VSEPR model works best for simple halides of the *p*-block elements, but may also be applied to species with other substituents. However, the model does *not* take *steric factors* (i.e. the relative sizes of substituents) into account.

In a molecule  $EX_n$ , there is a minimum energy arrangement for a given number of electron pairs. In BeCl<sub>2</sub> (Be, group 2), repulsions between the two pairs of electrons in the valence shell of Be are minimized if the Cl–Be–Cl unit is linear. In BCl<sub>3</sub> (B, group 13), electron–electron repulsions are minimized if a trigonal planar arrangement of electron pairs (and thus Cl atoms) is adopted. The structures in the left-hand column of Fig. 2.16 represent the minimum energy structures for  $EX_n$  molecules for n = 2–8 and in which there are no lone pairs of electrons associated with E. Table 2.3



Square antiprismatic

**Fig. 2.16.** Common shapes for molecules of type  $EX_n$  or ions of type  $[EX_n]^{m+/-}$ . The structures in the left-hand column are 'parent' shapes used in the VSEPR model.

Formula EX <sub>n</sub>	Coordination number of atom E	Shape	Spatial representation	Ideal bond angles $(\angle X-E-X)/degrees$
$EX_2$	2	Linear	X—E—X	180
EX <sub>3</sub>	3	Trigonal planar	X—E X	120
EX <sub>4</sub>	4	Tetrahedral		109.5
EX5	5	Trigonal bipyramidal	$\mathbf{X}_{eq} \longrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X}_{ax} \\ \mathbf{X}_{eq} \\ \mathbf{X}_{ax} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{X}_{eq}} \mathbf{X}_{eq}$	$\angle X_{ax}$ -E- $X_{eq}$ = 90 $\angle X_{eq}$ -E- $X_{eq}$ = 120
EX <sub>6</sub>	6	Octahedral	$\begin{array}{c} X_{i_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_{I_$	$\angle X_1 - E - X_2 = 90$
EX <sub>7</sub>	7	Pentagonal bipyramidal	$X_{eq} \xrightarrow{X_{ax}} X_{eq} \xrightarrow{X_{ax}} X_{eq}$ $X_{eq} \xrightarrow{E_{eq}} X_{eq} \xrightarrow{X_{eq}} X_{eq}$ $X_{ax}$	$\angle X_{ax}$ -E- $X_{eq} = 90$ $\angle X_{eq}$ -E- $X_{eq} = 72$
EX <sub>8</sub>	8	Square antiprismatic	$X \xrightarrow{X_{1}} X_{1} \xrightarrow{X_{1}} X_{2}$ $X \xrightarrow{X_{1}} Y \xrightarrow{X_{1}} Y \xrightarrow{X_{1}} X_{3}$ $X^{(1)} \xrightarrow{Y} X \xrightarrow{X_{1}} X_{3}$	$\angle X_1 - E - X_2 = 78$ $\angle X_1 - E - X_3 = 73$

Table 2.3	'Parent'	shapes	for $EX_n$	molecules	(n =	2-8	).
-----------	----------	--------	------------	-----------	------	-----	----

gives further representations of these structures, along with their *ideal* bond angles. Ideal bond angles may be expected when all the X substituents are identical, but in, for example,  $BF_2Cl$  (**2.26**) some distortion occurs because Cl is larger than F, and the shape is only *approximately* trigonal planar.



The presence of lone pairs is taken into account using the guidelines above and the 'parent structures' in Fig. 2.16. In

 $H_2O$  (2.27), repulsions between the two bonding pairs and two lone pairs of electrons lead to a tetrahedral arrangement, but owing to the inequalities between the lone pair–lone pair, lone pair–bonding pair and bonding pair–bonding pair interactions, distortion from an ideal arrangement arises and this is consistent with the observed H–O–H bond angle of 104.5°.

#### Worked example 2.7 The VSEPR model

Predict the structures of (a)  $XeF_2$  and (b)  $[XeF_5]^-$ .

Xe is in group 18 and possesses eight electrons in its valence shell. F is in group 17, has seven valence electrons and forms one covalent single bond. Before applying the VSEPR model, decide which is the central atom in the molecule. In each of  $XeF_2$  and  $[XeF_5]^-$ , Xe is the central atom.

(a)  $XeF_2$ . Two of the eight valence electrons of the Xe atom are used for bonding (two Xe-F single bonds), and so around the Xe centre there are two bonding pairs of electrons and three lone pairs.

The parent shape is a trigonal bipyramid (Fig. 2.16) with the three lone pairs in the equatorial plane to minimize lone pair–lone pair repulsions. The  $XeF_2$  molecule is therefore linear:



(b)  $[XeF_5]^-$ . The electron from the negative charge is conveniently included within the valence shell of the central atom. Five of the nine valence electrons are used for bonding and around the Xe centre there are five bonding pairs and two lone pairs of electrons.

The parent shape is a pentagonal bipyramid (Fig. 2.16) with the two lone pairs opposite to each other to minimize lone pair–lone pair repulsions. The  $[XeF_5]^-$  anion is therefore pentagonal planar:



When structures are determined by diffraction methods, *atom* positions are effectively located. Thus, in terms of a molecular structure,  $XeF_2$  is linear and  $[XeF_5]^-$  is pentagonal planar. In the diagrams above, two representations of each species are shown, one with the lone pairs to emphasize the origin of the prediction from the VSEPR model.

#### Self-study exercise

Show that the VSEPR model is in agreement with the following molecular shapes:

BF <sub>3</sub>	trigonal planar
$[IF_5]^{2-}$	pentagonal planar
$[NH_4]^+$	tetrahedral
SF <sub>6</sub>	octahedral
XeF <sub>4</sub>	square planar
AsF <sub>5</sub>	trigonal bipyramidal
$[AlCl_4]^-$	tetrahedral
$[I_3]^-$	linear
$[I_3]^+$	non-linear (bent)
$[PF_4]^+$	tetrahedral

### Worked example 2.8 VSEPR: molecules with double bonds

### Is the VSEPR model consistent with a linear or bent structure for $[NO_2]^+$ ?

N is in group 15 and has five valence electrons. Allow the positive charge to be localized on the nitrogen centre; an  $N^+$  centre has four valence electrons. O is in group 16 and has six valence electrons; an atom of O requires two electrons to complete its octet. All four electrons in the valence shell of the  $N^+$  centre are involved in bonding, forming two double bonds in [NO]<sup>+</sup>. Since there are no lone pairs on the N atom, the VSEPR model is consistent with a linear structure:

$$\left[ \begin{array}{c} 0 = N = 0 \end{array} \right]^{-1}$$

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that the VSEPR model is consistent with a trigonal planar structure for SO<sub>3</sub>.
- 2. Using the VSEPR model, rationalize why a CO<sub>2</sub> molecule is linear whereas an [NO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup> ion is bent.
- 3. The sulfite ion,  $[SO_3]^{2-}$ , has the following structure:



Show that the VSEPR model is consistent with this structure.

#### Structures derived from a trigonal bipyramid

In this section, we consider the structures of species such as ClF<sub>3</sub> and SF<sub>4</sub> which have five electron pairs in the valence shell of the central atom. The experimentally determined structure of  $ClF_3$  is shown in Fig. 2.17, and the VSEPR model can be used to rationalize this T-shaped arrangement. The valence shell of the Cl atom contains three bonding pairs and two lone pairs of electrons. If both lone pairs occupy equatorial sites (see Table 2.3), then a T-shaped ClF<sub>3</sub> molecule results. The choice of locations for the bonding and lone pairs arises from a consideration of the difference between the  $X_{ax}$ -E- $X_{eq}$  and  $X_{eq}$ -E- $X_{eq}$  bond angles (Table 2.3), coupled with the relative magnitudes of lone pair-lone pair, bonding pair-lone pair and bonding pairbonding pair repulsions. It follows that the chlorine lone pairs in ClF<sub>3</sub> preferentially occupy the equatorial sites where there is greatest space. The small departure of the F–Cl–F bond angle from the ideal value of  $90^{\circ}$  (Table 2.3) may be attributed to lone pair-bonding pair repulsion. Figure 2.17 also shows that there is a significant difference



**Fig. 2.17.** (a) The experimentally determined structure of  $ClF_3$  and (b) the rationalization of this structure using the VSEPR model.

between the axial and equatorial Cl–F bond lengths, and this is a trend that is seen in a range of structures of molecules derived from a trigonal bipyramidal arrangement. In PF<sub>5</sub>, the axial (ax) and equatorial (eq) bond distances are 158 and 153 pm respectively, in SF<sub>4</sub> (**2.28**), they are 165 and 155 pm, and in BrF<sub>3</sub>, they are 181 and 172 pm.<sup>†</sup> Bond distance variation is, however, not restricted to species derived from a trigonal bipyramid. For example, in BrF<sub>5</sub> (**2.29**), the Br atom lies a little below the plane containing the basal F atoms ( $\angle F_{ax}$ -Br-F<sub>bas</sub> = 84.5°) and the Br-F<sub>ax</sub> and Br-F<sub>bas</sub> bond distances are 168 and 178 pm respectively.



Limitations of the VSEPR model

The generalizations of the VSEPR model are useful, but there are limitations to its use. In this section, we give examples that illustrate some problems.

The isoelectronic species  $IF_7$  and  $[TeF_7]^-$  are predicted by the VSEPR model to be pentagonal bipyramidal and this is observed. However, electron diffraction data for  $IF_7$  and X-ray diffraction data for  $[Me_4N][TeF_7]$  reveal that the equatorial F atoms are not coplanar, a result that cannot be predicted by the VSEPR model. Moreover, in  $IF_7$ , the  $I-F_{ax}$ and  $I-F_{eq}$  distances are 179 and 186 pm respectively, and in  $[TeF_7]^-$ , the Te- $F_{ax}$  bond distance is 179 pm and the Te- $F_{eq}$  distances lie in the range 183 to 190 pm.

Among species in which the VSEPR model appears to fail are  $[SeCl_6]^{2-}$ ,  $[TeCl_6]^{2-}$  and  $[BrF_6]^-$  (see also Section 16.7). When characterized as alkali metal salts, these anions are found to possess *regular octahedral* structures *in the solid state*, whereas the VSEPR model suggests shapes based on there being seven electron pairs around the central atom. Although these structures cannot readily be predicted, we can rationalize them in terms of having a *stereochemically inactive* pair of electrons. Stereochemically inactive lone pairs are usually observed for the heaviest members of a periodic group, and the tendency for valence shell *s* electrons to adopt a non-bonding role in a molecule is called the *stereochemical inert pair effect*. Similarly, [SbCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [SbCl<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup> *both* possess regular octahedral structures. Finally, consider [XeF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>, [IF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [TeF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>. As expected from the VSEPR model, [IF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [TeF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> are square antiprismatic (Fig. 2.16); this structure is related to the cube but with one face of the cube rotated through 45°. However, [XeF<sub>8</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> also adopts this structure, indicating that the lone pair of electrons is stereochemically inactive.

It is important to note that whereas the VSEPR model may be applicable to *p*-block species, it is *not* appropriate to apply it to *d*-electron configurations of transition metal compounds.

If the presence of a lone pair of electrons influences the shape of a molecule or ion, the lone pair is *stereochemically active*. If it has no effect, the lone pair is *stereochemically inactive*. The tendency for the pair of *valence s* electrons to adopt a nonbonding role in a molecule or ion is termed the *stereochemical inert pair effect*.

#### 2.9 Molecular shape: stereoisomerism

An *isomer* is one of several species that have the same atomic composition (molecular formula), but have different constitutional formulae (atom connectivities) or different stereochemical formulae. Isomers exhibit different physical and/or chemical properties.

In this section we discuss *stereoisomerism*. Examples are taken from both p- and d-block chemistry. Other types of isomerism are described in Section 19.8.

If two species have the same molecular formula and the same atom connectivity, but differ in the spatial arrangement of different atoms or groups about a central atom or a double bond, then the compounds are *stereoisomers*.

Stereoisomers fall into two categories, *diastereoisomers* and *enantiomers*.

**Diastereoisomers** are stereoisomers that *are not* mirror-images of one another. **Enantiomers** are stereoisomers that *are* mirror-images of one another.

In this section, we shall only be concerned with diastereoisomers. We return to enantiomers in Sections 3.8 and 19.8.

#### Square planar species

In a square planar species such as  $[ICl_4]^-$  or  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$ (2.30), the four Cl atoms are equivalent. Similarly, in  $[PtCl_3(PMe_3)]^-$  (2.31), there is only one possible arrangement of the groups around the square planar Pt(II) centre. (The use of arrows or lines to depict bonds in coordination compounds is discussed in Section 7.11.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> For further discussion of this topic, see: R.J. Gillespie and P.L.A. Popelier (2001) *Chemical Bonding and Molecular Geometry*, OUP, Oxford, Chapter 4.



The introduction of two PMe<sub>3</sub> groups to give  $[PtCl_2(PMe_3)_2]$ leads to the possibility of two *stereoisomers*, i.e. two possible spatial arrangements of the groups around the square planar Pt(II) centre. These are shown in structures **2.32** and **2.33** and the names *cis* and *trans* refer to the positioning of the Cl (or PMe<sub>3</sub>) groups, adjacent to or opposite one another.



*Square planar* species of the general form  $EX_2Y_2$  or  $EX_2YZ$  may possess *cis*- and *trans*-isomers.

#### **Octahedral species**

There are two types of stereoisomerism associated with octahedral species. In  $EX_2Y_4$ , the X groups may be mutually *cis* or *trans* as shown for  $[SnF_4Me_2]^{2-}$  (**2.34** and **2.35**). In the solid state structure of  $[NH_4]_2[SnF_4Me_2]$ , the anion is present as the *trans*-isomer.



If an octahedral species has the general formula  $EX_3Y_3$ , then the X groups (and also the Y groups) may be arranged so as to define one face of the octahedron or may lie in a plane that also contains the central atom E (Fig. 2.18). These stereoisomers are labelled *fac* (facial) and *mer* (meridional) respectively. In [PCl<sub>4</sub>][PCl<sub>3</sub>F<sub>3</sub>], the [PCl<sub>3</sub>F<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> anion exists as both *fac*- and *mer*-isomers (**2.36** and **2.37**).



An *octahedral* species containing two identical groups (e.g. of type  $EX_2Y_4$ ) may possess *cis*- and *trans*-arrangements of these groups. An octahedral species containing three identical groups (e.g. of type  $EX_3Y_3$ ) may possess *fac*- and *mer*-isomers.

#### Trigonal bipyramidal species

In trigonal bipyramidal EX<sub>5</sub>, there are two types of X atom: axial and equatorial. This leads to the possibility of stereoisomerism when more than one type of substituent is attached to the central atom. Iron pentacarbonyl,  $Fe(CO)_5$ , is trigonal bipyramidal and when one CO is exchanged for PPh<sub>3</sub>, two stereoisomers are possible depending on whether the PPh<sub>3</sub> ligand is axially (**2.38**) or equatorially (**2.39**) sited.



For trigonal bipyramidal  $EX_2Y_3$ , three stereoisomers (2.40 to 2.42) are possible depending on the relative positions of the X atoms. Steric factors may dictate which isomer is preferred for a given species; e.g. in the static structure of  $PCl_3F_2$ , the F atoms occupy the two axial sites, and the larger Cl atoms reside in the equatorial plane.



In a *trigonal bipyramidal* species, stereoisomerism arises because of the presence of *axial* and *equatorial* sites.

#### High coordination numbers

The presence of axial and equatorial sites in a pentagonal bipyramidal molecule leads to stereoisomerism in a similar manner to that in a trigonal bipyramidal species. In a square



Fig. 2.18. The origin of the names *fac-* and *mer-*isomers. For clarity, the central atom is not shown.

antiprismatic molecule  $\text{EX}_8$ , each X atom is identical (Fig. 2.16). Once two or more different atoms or groups are present, e.g.  $\text{EX}_6\text{Y}_2$ , stereoisomers are possible. As an exercise, draw out the four possibilities for square antiprismatic  $\text{EX}_6\text{Y}_2$ .

#### Double bonds

In contrast to a single ( $\sigma$ ) bond where free rotation is generally assumed, rotation about a double bond is not a low energy process. The presence of a double bond may therefore lead to stereoisomerism as is observed for N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>. Each N atom carries a lone pair as well as forming one N-F single bond and an N=N double bond. Structures **2.43** and **2.44** show the *trans*- and *cis*-isomers<sup>†</sup> respectively of N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>.



<sup>†</sup> In organic chemistry, IUPAC nomenclature uses the prefix (*E*)- for a *trans*-arrangement of groups and (*Z*)- for a *cis*-arrangement, but for inorganic compounds, the terms *trans*- and *cis*- remain in use.

#### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Draw the structures of the two isomers of octahedral  $[Cr(OH_2)_4Cl_2]^+$  and give labels that distinguish the isomers.
- 2. [PtCl<sub>2</sub>(PEt<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>] possesses two stereoisomers. Is the complex square planar or tetrahedral? Rationalize your answer.
- 3. Draw the structures of *mer* and *fac*-[RhCl<sub>3</sub>(OH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>]. What is the coordination geometry at the metal centre?
- 4. Tetrahydrofuran (THF) has the following structure and coordinates to metal ions through the oxygen atom. Draw the structures of the three possible isomers of trigonal bipyramidal [MnI<sub>2</sub>(THF)<sub>3</sub>].



#### **FURTHER READING**

- P. Atkins and J. de Paula (2014) *Atkins' Physical Chemistry*, 10th edn, OUP, Oxford This text gives a solid and well-tested background in physical chemistry.
- J. Barrett (2002) *Structure and Bonding*, RSC Publishing, Cambridge – An introductory text that includes valence bond, molecular orbital and VSEPR theories.
- R.J. Gillespie (2008) *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, vol. 252, p. 1315 'Fifty years of the VSEPR model'.
- R.J. Gillespie and E.A. Robinson (2005) *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, vol. 34, p. 396 – A 'tutorial review' 'Models of molecular geometry' that considers the VSEPR model and the more recently developed ligand close-packing (LCP) model.
- D.O. Hayward (2002) Quantum Mechanics for Chemists, RSC Publishing, Cambridge – An undergraduate student text that covers the basic principles of quantum mechanics.

- C.E. Housecroft and E.C. Constable (2010) *Chemistry*, 4th edn, Prentice Hall, Harlow This text provides clear discussion of the fundamental principles of bonding in molecules at an introductory level.
- R. McWeeny (1979) *Coulson's Valence*, 3rd edn, OUP, Oxford – A classic book containing a general treatment of chemical bonding with a detailed mathematical approach.
- D.W. Smith (2004) *J. Chem. Educ.*, vol. 81, p. 886 A useful article entitled 'Effects of exchange energy and spin-orbit coupling on bond energies'.
- M.J. Winter (1994) *Chemical Bonding*, OUP, Oxford This 'primer' for first year undergraduates approaches chemical bonding non-mathematically.

#### PROBLEMS

- 2.1 Draw Lewis structures to describe the bonding in the following molecules: (a) F<sub>2</sub>; (b) BF<sub>3</sub>; (c) NH<sub>3</sub>; (d) H<sub>2</sub>Se; (e) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>; (f) BeCl<sub>2</sub>; (g) SiH<sub>4</sub>; (h) PF<sub>5</sub>.
- 2.2 Use the Lewis structure model to deduce the type of nitrogen–nitrogen bond present in (a)  $N_2H_4$ , (b)  $N_2F_4$ , (c)  $N_2F_2$  and (d)  $[N_2H_5]^+$ .
- 2.3 Draw the resonance structures for the O<sub>3</sub> molecule. What can you conclude about the net bonding picture?
- 2.4 Draw Lewis structures for (a)  $CO_2$ , (b)  $SO_2$ , (c)  $OF_2$  and (d)  $H_2CO$ .
- 2.5 Each of the following is a radical. For which does a Lewis structure correctly confirm this property:(a) NO, (b) O<sub>2</sub>, (c) NF<sub>2</sub>?
- 2.6 (a) Use VB theory to describe the bonding in the diatomic molecules  $Li_2$ ,  $B_2$  and  $C_2$ . (b) Experimental data show that  $Li_2$  and  $C_2$  are

diamagnetic whereas  $B_2$  is paramagnetic. Is the VB model consistent with these facts?

- 2.7 Using VB theory and the Lewis structure model, determine the bond order in (a)  $H_2$ , (b)  $Na_2$ , (c)  $S_2$ , (d)  $N_2$  and (e)  $Cl_2$ . Is there any ambiguity with finding the bond orders by this method?
- 2.8 Does VB theory indicate that the diatomic molecule  $He_2$  is a viable species? Rationalize your answer.
- 2.9 (a) Use MO theory to determine the bond order in each of  $[He_2]^+$  and  $[He_2]^{2+}$ . (b) Does the MO picture of the bonding in these ions suggest that they are viable species?
- 2.10 (a) Construct an MO diagram for the formation of O<sub>2</sub>; use only the valence orbitals of the oxygen atoms. (b) Use the diagram to rationalize the following trend in O-O bond distances: O<sub>2</sub>, 121 pm; [O<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup>, 112 pm; [O<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, 134 pm; [O<sub>2</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>, 149 pm. (c) Which of these species are paramagnetic?
- 2.11 Confirm that the octet rule is obeyed by *each* of the atoms in the following molecules: (a)  $CF_4$ , (b)  $O_2$ , (c)  $AsBr_3$ , (d)  $SF_2$ .
- 2.12 Draw charge-separated resonance structures to give a representation of the bonding in  $PF_5$  such that the octet rule is strictly obeyed.
- 2.13 One member of each of the following sets of compounds is not isoelectronic with the others. Which one in each set is the odd one out?
  - (a)  $[NO_2]^+$ , CO<sub>2</sub>,  $[NO_2]^-$  and  $[N_3]^-$
  - (b)  $[CN]^{-}$ , N<sub>2</sub>, CO,  $[NO]^{+}$  and  $[O_2]^{2-}$
  - (c)  $[SiF_6]^{2-}$ ,  $[PF_6]^{-}$ ,  $[AlF_6]^{3-}$  and  $[BrF_6]^{-}$
- 2.14 In the following table, match a species in list 1 with an isoelectronic partner in list 2. Some species may have more than one partner. Qualify how you have interpreted the term *isoelectronic*.

List 1	List 2
$F_2$	$[H_{3}O]^{+}$
NH <sub>3</sub>	$[GaCl_4]^-$
[GaBr <sub>4</sub> ] <sup>-</sup>	$Cl_2$
[SH] <sup>-</sup>	$[NH_4]^+$
$[BH_4]^-$	$[OH]^-$
$[AsF_6]^-$	$[O_2]^{2-}$
$[PBr_4]^+$	$SeF_6$
HF	SiBr <sub>4</sub>

#### **OVERVIEW PROBLEMS**

2.21 (a) Draw resonance structures for CO, choosing only those that you think contribute significantly to the bonding.

- 2.15 Using the data in Table 2.2, determine which of the following covalent single bonds is polar and (if appropriate) in which direction the dipole moment acts. (a) N-H; (b) F-Br; (c) C-H; (d) P-Cl; (e) N-Br.
- 2.16 Pick out *pairs* of isoelectronic species from the following list; not all species have a 'partner': HF; CO<sub>2</sub>; SO<sub>2</sub>; NH<sub>3</sub>; PF<sub>3</sub>; SF<sub>4</sub>; SiF<sub>4</sub>; SiCl<sub>4</sub>; [H<sub>3</sub>O]<sup>+</sup>; [NO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup>; [OH]<sup>-</sup>; [AlCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>.
- 2.17 Use the VSEPR model to predict the structures of (a)  $H_2Se$ , (b)  $[BH_4]^-$ , (c) NF<sub>3</sub>, (d) SbF<sub>5</sub>, (e)  $[H_3O]^+$ , (f) IF<sub>7</sub>, (g)  $[I_3]^-$ , (h)  $[I_3]^+$ , (i) SO<sub>3</sub>.
- 2.18 Use the VSEPR model to rationalize the structure of  $SOF_4$  shown in Fig. 2.19. What are the bond orders of (a) each S-F bond and (b) the S-O bond?
- 2.19 Determine the shapes of each of the following molecules and then, using the data in Table 2.2, state whether each is expected to be polar or not:
  (a) H<sub>2</sub>S; (b) CO<sub>2</sub>; (c) SO<sub>2</sub>; (d) BF<sub>3</sub>; (e) PF<sub>5</sub>; (f) *cis*-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>; (g) *trans*-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>; (h) HCN.
- 2.20 State whether you expect the following species to possess stereoisomers and, if so, draw their structures and give them distinguishing labels:
  (a) BF<sub>2</sub>Cl; (b) POCl<sub>3</sub>; (c) MePF<sub>4</sub>; (d) [PF<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>.



Fig. 2.19. The structure of SOF<sub>4</sub>.

(b) Figure 2.15a shows an MO diagram for CO. Two MOs are illustrated by schematic representations. Draw similar diagrams for the remaining six MOs.

- 2.22 (a) On steric grounds, should *cis* or *trans*-[PtCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>] be favoured?
  - (b) Use the VSEPR model to rationalize why SNF<sub>3</sub> is tetrahedral but SF<sub>4</sub> has a see-saw geometry.
  - (c) Suggest why  $KrF_2$  is a linear rather than bent molecule.
- 2.23 Account for each of the following observations.
  - (a)  $IF_5$  is a polar molecule.
  - (b) The first ionization energy of K is lower than that of Li.
  - (c)  $BI_3$  is trigonal planar while  $PI_3$  is trigonal pyramidal in shape.
- 2.24 Suggest reasons for the following observations.
  - (a) The second ionization energy of He is higher than the first despite the fact that both electrons are removed from the 1*s* atomic orbital.
  - (b) Heating  $N_2F_2$  at 373 K results in a change from a non-polar to polar molecule.
  - (c)  $S_2$  is paramagnetic.
- 2.25 Account for each of the following observations.
  - (a) The mass spectrum of molecular bromine shows three lines for the parent ion  $[Br_2]^+$ .
  - (b) In the structure of solid bromine, each Br atom has one nearest neighbour at a distance of 227 pm, and several other next nearest neighbours at 331 pm.
  - (c) In the salt formed from the reaction of  $Br_2$  and  $SbF_5$ , the Br–Br distance in the  $[Br_2]^+$  ion (215 pm) is shorter than in  $Br_2$ .

2.30 The table below gives the average composition of the

Earth's atmosphere (ppm = parts per million). Water

vapour is also present in small and variable amounts.

#### **INORGANIC CHEMISTRY MATTERS**

Gas Average Gas Average amount/ppm amount/ppm He 5.2  $CH_4$ 1.72 Ne 18 CO 0.12 9340 Ar  $CO_2$ 355 0.31 Kr 1.1  $N_2O$ Xe 0.09 NO < 0.01 $H_2$ 0.58  $O_3$ 0.1 - 0.01 $< 10^{-4}$  $N_2$ 780840  $SO_2$  $< 10^{-3}$  $O_2$ 209460  $NH_3$ 

(a) Draw a Lewis structure for  $N_2O$ , ensuring that each atom obeys the octet rule. (b) Use the VSEPR model to predict the molecular shapes of  $SO_2$ ,  $NH_3$ ,  $N_2O$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$ . (c) Which of the gases in the table are radicals? For each of the gases you have chosen,

- 2.26 (a) Draw possible stereoisomers for the trigonal bipyramidal  $[SiF_3Me_2]^-$  anion (Me = CH<sub>3</sub>). An X-ray diffraction study of a salt of  $[SiF_3Me_2]^-$  shows that two F atoms occupy axial sites. Suggest why this stereoisomer is preferred over the other possible structures that you have drawn.
  - (b) Account for the fact that members of the series of complexes  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$ ,  $[PtCl_3(PMe_3)]^-$ ,  $[PtCl_2(PMe_3)_2]$  and  $[PtCl(PMe_3)_3]^+$  do not possess the same number of stereoisomers.
- 2.27 (a) Write down the ions that are present in the compound [PCl<sub>4</sub>][PCl<sub>3</sub>F<sub>3</sub>]. What shape do you expect each ion to adopt? In theory, does either ion possess stereoisomers?
  - (b) Use the VSEPR model to rationalize why BCl<sub>3</sub> and NCl<sub>3</sub> do not adopt similar structures. Is either molecule expected to be polar? Rationalize your answer.
- 2.28 Assuming that the VSEPR model can be applied successfully to each of the following species, determine how many different fluorine environments are present in each molecule or ion: (a)  $[SiF_6]^{2-}$ , (b)  $XeF_4$ , (c)  $[NF_4]^+$ , (d)  $[PHF_5]^-$ , (e)  $[SbF_5]^{2-}$ .
- 2.29 Critically compare the VB and MO treatments of the bonding in  $O_2$ , paying particular attention to the properties of  $O_2$  that the resulting bonding models imply.

explain how the radical nature arises. (d)  $O_3$  (ozone) is only present in <0.1 ppm. Nonetheless, it is a vital component of the Earth's atmosphere. Why? (e) Draw an MO diagram for the formation of  $N_2$  from two N atoms, using only the valence orbitals. Use the diagram to rationalize why  $N_2$  is chemically very inert. (f) What is the relationship between the monoatomic gases in the Earth's atmosphere?

2.31 Carbon monoxide is a toxic pollutant which arises from the partial combustion of carbon-based fuels. Complete combustion produces  $CO_2$ . The toxicity of CO is a result of its competition for the  $O_2$ -binding sites in blood, i.e. the iron present in haemoglobin (see Chapter 29). When CO binds to the iron, it prevents  $O_2$  from being carried in the bloodstream. The following are resonance structures for CO:

$$: c = o : \longleftrightarrow : \overline{c} \equiv \overset{+}{o} :$$

(a) Comment on these structures in terms of the octet rule. (b) How is the right-hand resonance structure related to a Lewis structure for  $N_2$ ? (c) A primary interaction between CO and iron in haemoglobin involves a lone pair of electrons on the carbon atom. Using MO theory, explain how this lone pair arises. (d) Without treatment, severe CO poisoning is fatal. Explain why a hyperbaric chamber containing pure  $O_2$  at a pressure of 1.4 bar is used to treat a patient with severe CO poisoning. Normal air contains 21%  $O_2$ .

2.32 Volcanoes and deep sea hydrothermal vents are both associated with sulfur-rich environments. Mount Etna is classed as a continuously degassing volcano

and emissions of SO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S are around 1.5 Tg y<sup>-1</sup> and 100 Gg y<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Tg =  $10^{12}$  g; Gg =  $10^9$  g). (a) Draw Lewis structures for H<sub>2</sub>S and SO<sub>2</sub>, ensuring that the octet rule is obeyed by the S and O atoms. Your answer must be consistent with the fact that in SO<sub>2</sub>, the two sulfur–oxygen bonds are the same length. (b) Are H<sub>2</sub>S and SO<sub>2</sub> polar or non-polar molecules? If polar, draw a diagram to show the direction of the molecular dipole moment. (c) In the troposphere, SO<sub>2</sub> reacts with HO<sup>•</sup> radicals. Construct an MO diagram for HO<sup>•</sup> from H and O atoms, and deduce what you can about the bonding in HO<sup>•</sup>.

### **Topics**

Symmetry operators Symmetry elements Point groups Character tables Vibrational modes in molecules Chiral molecules



# Introduction to molecular symmetry

#### 3.1 Introduction

In chemistry, symmetry is important both at a molecular level and within crystalline systems. An understanding of symmetry is essential in discussions of molecular spectroscopy and calculations of molecular properties. A discussion of crystal symmetry is not included in this book, and we introduce only molecular symmetry. For qualitative purposes, it is sufficient to refer to the shape of a molecule using terms such as tetrahedral, octahedral or square planar. However, the common use of these descriptors is not always precise, e.g. consider the structures of BF<sub>3</sub>, 3.1, and  $BF_2H$ , **3.2**, both of which are planar. A molecule of  $BF_3$  is correctly described as being trigonal planar, since its symmetry properties are fully consistent with this description; all the F–B–F bond angles are  $120^{\circ}$  and the B–F bond distances are all identical (131 pm). It is correct to say that the boron centre in  $BF_2H$ , **3.2**, is in a *pseudo-trigonal* planar environment but the molecular symmetry properties are not the same as those of  $BF_3$ . The F-B-F bond angle in  $BF_2H$  is smaller than the two H-B-F angles, and the B-Hbond is shorter (119 pm) than the B–F bonds (131 pm).



The descriptor *symmetrical* implies that a species possesses a number of indistinguishable configurations. When structure 3.1 is rotated in the plane of the paper

through 120°, the resulting structure is indistinguishable from the first; another 120° rotation results in a third indistinguishable molecular orientation (Fig. 3.1). This is *not* true if we carry out the same rotational operations on  $BF_2H$ .

Group theory is the mathematical treatment of symmetry. In this chapter, we introduce the fundamental language of group theory (symmetry operator, symmetry element, point group and character table). The chapter does not set out to give a comprehensive survey of molecular symmetry, but rather to introduce some common terminology and its meaning. We include an introduction to the vibrational spectra of simple inorganic molecules and show how to use this technique to distinguish between possible structures for  $XY_2$ ,  $XY_3$  and  $XY_4$  molecules. Complete normal coordinate analysis of such species is beyond the remit of this book.

## **3.2 Symmetry operations and symmetry elements**

In Fig. 3.1, we applied  $120^{\circ}$  rotations to BF<sub>3</sub> and saw that each rotation generated a representation of the molecule that was indistinguishable from the first. Each rotation is an example of a *symmetry operation*.

A *symmetry operation* is an operation performed on an object which leaves it in a configuration that is indistinguishable from, and superimposable on, the original configuration.

The rotations described in Fig. 3.1 are performed about an axis perpendicular to the plane of the paper and passing through the boron atom; the axis is an example of a *symmetry element*.



**Fig. 3.1.** Rotation of the trigonal planar  $BF_3$  molecule through  $120^\circ$  generates a representation of the structure that is indistinguishable from the first; one F atom is marked in red simply as a label. A second  $120^\circ$  rotation gives another indistinguishable structural representation.

A symmetry operation is carried out with respect to points, lines or planes, the latter being the *symmetry elements*.

#### Rotation about an *n*-fold axis of symmetry

The symmetry operation of rotation about an *n*-fold axis (the symmetry element) is denoted by the symbol  $C_n$ , in which the angle of rotation is  $\frac{360^{\circ}}{n}$ ; *n* is an integer, e.g. 2, 3 or 4. Applying this notation to the BF<sub>3</sub> molecule in Fig. 3.1 gives a value of n = 3 (eq. 3.1), and therefore we say that the BF<sub>3</sub> molecule contains a  $C_3$  rotation axis. In this case, the axis lies perpendicular to the plane containing the molecule.

Angle of rotation = 
$$120^\circ = \frac{360^\circ}{n}$$
 (3.1)

In addition,  $BF_3$  also contains three 2-fold ( $C_2$ ) rotation axes, each coincident with a B–F bond as shown in Fig. 3.2.

If a molecule possesses more than one type of *n*-axis, the axis of highest value of *n* is called the *principal axis*; it is the axis of *highest molecular symmetry*. For example, in BF<sub>3</sub>, the  $C_3$  axis is the principal axis.

In some molecules, rotation axes of lower orders than the principal axis may be coincident with the principal axis. For example, in square planar XeF<sub>4</sub>, the principal axis is a  $C_4$  axis but this also coincides with a  $C_2$  axis (see Fig. 3.4).

Where a molecule contains more than one type of  $C_n$  axis with the same value of n, they are distinguished by using



**Fig. 3.2.** The 3-fold  $(C_3)$  and three 2-fold  $(C_2)$  axes of symmetry possessed by the trigonal planar BF<sub>3</sub> molecule.

prime marks, e.g.  $C_2$ ,  $C_2'$  and  $C_2''$ . We return to this in the discussion of XeF<sub>4</sub> (see Fig. 3.4).

#### Self-study exercises

- 1. Each of the following contains a 6-membered ring: benzene, borazine (see Fig. 13.24), pyridine and  $S_6$  (see Box 1.1). Explain why only benzene contains a 6-fold principal rotation axis.
- 2. Among the following, why does only XeF<sub>4</sub> contain a 4-fold principal rotation axis: CF<sub>4</sub>, SF<sub>4</sub>, [BF<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and XeF<sub>4</sub>?
- 3. Draw the structure of  $[XeF_5]^-$ . On the diagram, mark the  $C_5$  axis. The ion contains five  $C_2$  axes. Where are these axes? [*Ans*. For structure, see worked example 2.7]
- 4. Look at the structure of  $B_5H_9$  in Fig. 13.30. Where is the  $C_4$  axis in this molecule?
- 5.  $ClF_3$  contains a  $C_2$  axis, but does not contain a  $C_3$  axis. Use this information to suggest a structure for  $ClF_3$ . Confirm that your answer is consistent with the VSEPR model.
- 6. Propose structures for the following molecules given that only  $BCl_3$  has  $C_2$  axes:  $BCl_3$ ,  $NH_3$ ,  $CHCl_3$ ,  $PCl_3$ . Confirm that your answers are consistent with the VSEPR model.

### Reflection through a plane of symmetry (mirror plane)

If reflection of all parts of a molecule through a plane produces an indistinguishable configuration, the plane is a *plane of symmetry*; the symmetry operation is one of reflection and the symmetry element is the mirror plane (denoted by  $\sigma$ ). For BF<sub>3</sub>, the plane containing the molecular framework (the brown plane shown in Fig. 3.2) is a *mirror plane*. In this case, the plane lies perpendicular to the vertical principal axis and is denoted by the symbol  $\sigma_{\rm h}$ .

The framework of atoms in a linear, bent or planar molecule can always be drawn in a plane, but this plane can be labelled  $\sigma_h$  only if the molecule possesses a  $C_n$  axis *perpendicular* to the plane. If the plane *contains* the



**Fig. 3.3.** The H<sub>2</sub>O molecule possesses one  $C_2$  axis and two mirror planes. (a) The  $C_2$  axis and the plane of symmetry that contains the H<sub>2</sub>O molecule. (b) The  $C_2$  axis and the plane of symmetry that is perpendicular to the plane of the H<sub>2</sub>O molecule. (c) Planes of symmetry in a molecule are often shown together on one diagram; this representation for H<sub>2</sub>O combines diagrams (a) and (b).

principal axis, it is labelled  $\sigma_v$ . Consider the H<sub>2</sub>O molecule. This possesses a  $C_2$  axis (Fig. 3.3) but it also contains *two* mirror planes, one containing the H<sub>2</sub>O framework, and one perpendicular to it. Each plane contains the principal axis of rotation and so may be denoted as  $\sigma_v$ , but in order to distinguish between them, we use the notations  $\sigma_v$  and  $\sigma_v'$ . The  $\sigma_v$  label refers to the plane that bisects the H–O–H bond angle and the  $\sigma_v'$  label refers to the plane in which the molecule lies.

A special type of  $\sigma$  plane which contains the principal rotation axis, but which bisects the angle between two adjacent 2-fold axes, is labelled  $\sigma_d$ . A square planar molecule such as XeF<sub>4</sub> provides an example. Figure 3.4a shows that XeF<sub>4</sub> contains a  $C_4$  axis (the principal axis) and perpendicular to this is the  $\sigma_h$  plane in which the molecule lies. Coincident with the  $C_4$  axis is a  $C_2$ axis. Within the plane of the molecule, there are two sets of  $C_2$  axes. One type (the  $C_2$ ' axis) coincides with F-Xe-F bonds, while the second type (the  $C_2$ " axis) bisects the F-Xe-F 90° angle (Fig. 3.4). We can now define two sets of mirror planes: one type ( $\sigma_v$ ) contains the principal axis and a  $C_2$ ' axis (Fig. 3.4b), while the second type ( $\sigma_d$ ) contains the principal axis and a  $C_2$ " axis (Fig. 3.4c). Each  $\sigma_d$  plane bisects the angle between two  $C_2'$  axes.

In the notation for planes of symmetry,  $\sigma$ , the subscripts h, v and d stand for horizontal, vertical and dihedral respectively.

#### **Self-study exercises**

- 1.  $N_2O_4$  is planar (Fig. 15.17). Show that it possesses three planes of symmetry.
- 2.  $B_2Br_4$  has the following staggered structure:



Show that  $B_2Br_4$  has one less plane of symmetry than  $B_2F_4$  which is planar.


**Fig. 3.4.** The square planar molecule XeF<sub>4</sub>. (a) One  $C_2$  axis coincides with the principal ( $C_4$ ) axis; the molecule lies in a  $\sigma_h$  plane which contains two  $C_2$ ' and two  $C_2$ " axes. (b) Each of the two  $\sigma_v$  planes contains the  $C_4$  axis and one  $C_2$ ' axis. (c) Each of the two  $\sigma_d$  planes contains the  $C_4$  axis and one  $C_2$ " axis.

3.  $Ga_2H_6$  has the following structure in the gas phase:



Show that it possesses three planes of symmetry.

- 4. Show that the planes of symmetry in benzene are one  $\sigma_h$ , three  $\sigma_v$  and three  $\sigma_d$ .
- 5. Explain why BF<sub>3</sub> does *not* contain  $\sigma_d$  planes.

# Reflection through a centre of symmetry (inversion centre)

If reflection of *all* parts of a molecule through the centre of the molecule produces an indistinguishable configuration, the centre is a *centre of symmetry*. It is also called a *centre of* 

*inversion* (see also Box 2.1) and is designated by the symbol *i*. Each of the molecules  $CO_2$  (**3.3**), *trans*- $N_2F_2$  (see worked example 3.1),  $SF_6$  (**3.4**) and benzene (**3.5**) possesses a centre of symmetry, but  $H_2S$  (**3.6**), *cis*- $N_2F_2$  (**3.7**) and SiH<sub>4</sub> (**3.8**) do not.

A *centrosymmetric* molecule or ion contains a centre of symmetry.







### Self-study exercises

- Draw the structures of each of the following species and confirm that each possesses a centre of symmetry: CS<sub>2</sub>, [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, XeF<sub>4</sub>, I<sub>2</sub>, [ICl<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup>.
- 2. [PtCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> has a centre of symmetry, but [CoCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> does not. One is square planar and the other is tetrahedral. Which is which?
- 3. Why does CO<sub>2</sub> possess an inversion centre, but NO<sub>2</sub> does not?
- 4. CS<sub>2</sub> and HCN are both linear. Explain why CS<sub>2</sub> possesses a centre of symmetry whereas HCN does not.
- 5. Which of the following are centrosymmetric: (a) BF<sub>3</sub>;
  (b) CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>; (c) CCl<sub>4</sub>; (d) [SiF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>; (e) [NO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup>; (f) SO<sub>2</sub>? [*Ans.* (d), (e)]
- 6. Which of the following are non-centrosymmetric: (a)  $[AlCl_4]^-$ ; (b)  $CSe_2$ ; (c)  $[I_3]^-$ ; (d)  $[I_3]^+$ ; (e)  $PF_5$ ; (f)  $XeF_2$ ?

[Ans. (a), (d), (e)]

# Rotation about an axis, followed by reflection through a plane perpendicular to this axis

If rotation through  $\frac{360^{\circ}}{n}$  about an axis, followed by reflection through a plane perpendicular to that axis, yields an indistinguishable configuration, the axis is an *n*-fold rotation-reflection axis, also called an *n*-fold improper rotation axis. It is denoted by the symbol  $S_n$ . Tetrahedral species of the type XY<sub>4</sub> (all Y groups must be equivalent) possess three  $S_4$  axes, and the operation of one  $S_4$  rotation-reflection in the CH<sub>4</sub> molecule is illustrated in Fig. 3.5.

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Explain why  $BF_3$  possesses an  $S_3$  axis, but  $NF_3$  does not.
- 2.  $C_2H_6$  in a staggered conformation possesses an  $S_6$  axis. Show that this axis lies along the C–C bond.
- 3. Figure 3.5 shows one of the *S*<sub>4</sub> axes in CH<sub>4</sub>. On going from CH<sub>4</sub> to CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, are the *S*<sub>4</sub> axes retained?
- 4. Which of the following contain  $S_n$  axes: (a) CHCl<sub>3</sub>; (b) BCl<sub>3</sub>; (c) SF<sub>6</sub>; (d) HCN; (e)  $[PF_4]^+$ ; (f) CO<sub>2</sub>? [*Ans.* (b), (c), (e), (f)]

### **Identity operator**

All objects can be operated upon by the identity operator E. This is the simplest operator (although it may not be easy to appreciate why we identify such an operator!) and effectively identifies the molecular configuration. The operator E leaves the molecule unchanged.



**Fig. 3.5.** An improper rotation (or rotation–reflection),  $S_n$ , involves rotation about  $\frac{360^\circ}{n}$  followed by reflection through a plane that is perpendicular to the rotation axis. The diagram illustrates the operation about one of the  $S_4$  axes in CH<sub>4</sub>; three  $S_4$  operations are possible for the CH<sub>4</sub> molecule. [Exercise: where are the three rotation axes for the three  $S_4$  operations in CH<sub>4</sub>?]

### Worked example 3.1 Symmetry properties of cis- and trans-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>

# How do the rotation axes and planes of symmetry in *cis*- and *trans*- $N_2F_2$ differ?

First draw the structures of *cis*- and *trans*- $N_2F_2$ ; both are planar molecules.



- 1. The identity operator E applies to each isomer.
- 2. Each isomer possesses a plane of symmetry which contains the molecular framework. However, their labels differ (see point 5 below).
- 3. The *cis*-isomer contains a C<sub>2</sub> axis which lies in the plane of the molecule, but the *trans*-isomer contains a C<sub>2</sub> axis which bisects the N–N bond and is perpendicular to the plane of the molecule.



4. The *cis*- (but not the *trans*-) isomer contains a mirror plane,  $\sigma_v$ , lying perpendicular to the plane of the molecule and bisecting the N–N bond:



5. The consequence of the different types of  $C_2$  axes, and the presence of the  $\sigma_v$  plane in the *cis*-isomer, is that the symmetry planes containing the *cis*- and *trans*-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub> molecular frameworks are labelled  $\sigma_v'$ and  $\sigma_h$  respectively.

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. How do the rotation axes and planes of symmetry in *Z* and *E*-CFH=CFH differ?
- 2. How many planes of symmetry do (a) F<sub>2</sub>C=O,
  (b) ClFC=O and (c) [HCO<sub>2</sub>]<sup>-</sup> possess?

[*Ans*. (a) 2; (b) 1; (c) 2]

### Worked example 3.2 Symmetry elements in NH<sub>3</sub>

The symmetry elements for NH<sub>3</sub> are E,  $C_3$  and  $3\sigma_v$ . (a) Draw the structure of NH<sub>3</sub>. (b) What is the meaning of the *E* operator? (c) Draw a diagram to show the symmetry elements.

(a) The molecule is trigonal pyramidal.

$$\mathbf{H}$$

- (b) The *E* operator is the identity operator and it leaves the molecule unchanged.
- (c) The  $C_3$  axis passes through the N atom, perpendicular to a plane containing the three H atoms. Each  $\sigma_v$  plane contains one N–H bond and bisects the opposite H–N–H bond angle.



### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. What symmetry elements are lost in going from NH<sub>3</sub> to NH<sub>2</sub>Cl? [*Ans.*  $C_3$ ; two  $\sigma_v$ ]
- 2. Compare the symmetry elements possessed by NH<sub>3</sub>, NH<sub>2</sub>Cl, NHCl<sub>2</sub> and NCl<sub>3</sub>.
- 3. Draw a diagram to show the symmetry elements of NCIF<sub>2</sub>. [Ans. Show one  $\sigma$  plane; only other operator is E]

### Worked example 3.3 Trigonal planar BCl<sub>3</sub> versus trigonal pyramidal PCl<sub>3</sub>

### What symmetry elements do BCl<sub>3</sub> and PCl<sub>3</sub> (a) have in common and (b) not have in common?

PCl<sub>3</sub> is trigonal pyramidal (use the VSEPR model) and so possesses the same symmetry elements as NH<sub>3</sub> in worked example 3.2. These are E,  $C_3$  and  $3\sigma_v$ .

BCl<sub>3</sub> is trigonal planar (use VSEPR) and possesses all the above symmetry elements:



In addition, BCl<sub>3</sub> contains a  $\sigma_h$  plane and three  $C_2$  axes (see Fig. 3.2).



Rotation through  $120^{\circ}$  about the  $C_3$  axis, followed by reflection through the plane perpendicular to this axis (the  $\sigma_h$  plane), generates a molecular configuration indistinguishable from the first – this is an improper rotation  $S_3$ .

### Conclusion

The symmetry elements that BCl<sub>3</sub> and PCl<sub>3</sub> have in common are E,  $C_3$  and  $3\sigma_v$ . The symmetry elements possessed by BCl<sub>3</sub> but not by PCl<sub>3</sub> are  $\sigma_h$ ,  $3C_2$  and  $S_3$ .

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Show that  $BF_3$  and  $F_2C=O$  have the following symmetry elements in common: *E*, two mirror planes, one  $C_2$ .
- 2. How do the symmetry elements of ClF<sub>3</sub> and BF<sub>3</sub> differ? [*Ans*: BF<sub>3</sub>, as for BCl<sub>3</sub> above; ClF<sub>3</sub>, *E*,  $\sigma_v$ ',  $\sigma_v$ , *C*<sub>2</sub>]

### 3.3 Successive operations

As we have seen in Section 3.2, a particular symbol is used to denote a specific symmetry element. To say that NH<sub>3</sub> possesses a  $C_3$  axis tells us that we can rotate the molecule through 120° and end up with a molecular configuration that is indistinguishable from the first. However, it takes three such operations to give a configuration of the NH<sub>3</sub> molecule that *exactly* coincides with the first. The three separate 120° rotations are identified by using the notation in Fig. 3.6. We cannot distinguish between the three H atoms, but for clarity they are labelled H(1), H(2) and H(3) in the figure. Since the third rotation,  $C_3^3$ , returns the NH<sub>3</sub> molecule to its initial configuration, we can write eq. 3.2, or, in general, eq. 3.3.

$$C_3^3 = E \tag{3.2}$$

$$C_n^n = E \tag{3.3}$$

Similar statements can be written to show the combined effects of successive operations. For example, in planar  $BCl_3$ , the  $S_3$  improper axis of rotation corresponds to rotation



**Fig. 3.6.** Successive  $C_3$  rotations in NH<sub>3</sub> are distinguished using the notation  $C_3$  (or  $C_3^1$ ),  $C_3^2$  and  $C_3^3$ . The effect of the last operation is the same as that of the identity operator acting on NH<sub>3</sub> in the initial configuration.

about the  $C_3$  axis followed by reflection through the  $\sigma_h$  plane. This can be written in the form of eq. 3.4.

$$S_3 = C_3 \times \sigma_{\rm h} \tag{3.4}$$

**Self-study exercises** 

- 1.  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  is square planar; to what rotational operation is  $C_4^2$  equivalent?
- 2. Draw a diagram to illustrate what the notation  $C_6^4$  means with respect to rotational operations in benzene.
- 3. Explain why  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  has an  $S_4$  axis.
- 4. Explain why  $C_6H_6$  (benzene) has both  $S_6$  and  $S_3$  axes.

### 3.4 Point groups

The number and nature of the symmetry elements of a given molecule are conveniently denoted by its *point group*, and give rise to labels such as  $C_2$ ,  $C_{3v}$ ,  $D_{3h}$ ,  $D_{2d}$ ,  $T_d$ ,  $O_h$  or  $I_h$ . These point groups belong to the classes of C groups, D groups and special groups, the latter containing groups that possess special symmetries, i.e. tetrahedral, octahedral and icosahedral. To describe the symmetry of a molecule in terms of one symmetry element (e.g. a rotation axis) provides information only about this property. Each of BF<sub>3</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> possesses a 3-fold axis of symmetry, but their structures and overall symmetries are different: BF<sub>3</sub> is trigonal planar and NH<sub>3</sub> is trigonal pyramidal. On the other hand, if we describe the symmetries of these molecules in terms of their respective point groups ( $D_{3h}$  and  $C_{3v}$ ), we are providing information about *all* their symmetry elements.

Before we look at some representative point groups, we emphasize that it is not essential to memorize the symmetry elements of a particular point group. These are listed in *character tables* (see Sections 3.5, 5.5 and 5.6, and Appendix 3) which are widely available.

Table 3.1 summarizes the most important classes of point group and gives their characteristic types of symmetry elements; E is, of course, common to every group. Some significant points are given below.

### C<sub>1</sub> point group

Molecules that appear to have no symmetry at all, e.g. **3.9**, must possess the symmetry element E and effectively possess at least one  $C_1$  axis of rotation. They therefore belong to the  $C_1$  point group, although since  $C_1 = E$ , the rotational symmetry operation is ignored when we list the symmetry elements of this point group.

Comments Point group Characteristic symmetry elements  $C_{s}$ E, one  $\sigma$  plane  $C_{i}$ E, inversion centre  $C_n$ E, one (principal) n-fold axis  $C_{nv}$ E, one (principal) *n*-fold axis,  $n \sigma_v$  planes The  $S_n$  axis necessarily follows from the  $C_n$  axis and  $C_{nh}$ *E*, one (principal) *n*-fold axis, one  $\sigma_{\rm h}$  plane, one  $S_n$ -fold axis which is coincident with the  $C_n$  axis  $\sigma_{\rm h}$  plane. For n = 2, 4 or 6, there is also an inversion centre.  $D_{nh}$ *E*, one (principal) *n*-fold axis,  $n C_2$  axes, one  $\sigma_h$ The  $S_n$  axis necessarily follows from the  $C_n$  axis and plane,  $n \sigma_v$  planes, one  $S_n$ -fold axis  $\sigma_{\rm h}$  plane. For n = 2, 4 or 6, there is also an inversion centre.  $D_{nd}$ *E*, one (principal) *n*-fold axis,  $n C_2$  axes,  $n \sigma_v$ For n = 3 or 5, there is also an inversion centre. planes, one  $S_{2n}$ -fold axis Tetrahedral  $T_{\rm d}$  $O_{\rm h}$ Octahedral  $I_{\rm h}$ Icosahedral

**Table 3.1** Characteristic symmetry elements of some important classes of point groups. The characteristic symmetry elements of the  $T_d$ ,  $O_h$  and  $I_h$  are omitted because the point groups are readily identified (see Figs. 3.8 and 3.9). No distinction is made in this table between  $\sigma_v$  and  $\sigma_d$  planes of symmetry. For complete lists of symmetry elements, character tables (Appendix 3) should be consulted.



Fig. 3.7. Linear molecular species can be classified according to whether they possess a centre of symmetry (inversion centre) or not. All linear species possess a  $C_{\infty}$  axis of rotation and an infinite number of  $\sigma_{v}$  planes; in (a), one such plane is shown and these planes are omitted from (b) for clarity. Diagram (a) shows an asymmetrical diatomic belonging to the point group  $C_{\infty v}$ , and (b) shows a symmetrical diatomic belonging to the point group  $D_{\infty h}$ .



### $C_{\infty v}$ point group

 $C_{\infty}$  signifies the presence of an  $\infty$ -fold axis of rotation, i.e. that possessed by a linear molecule (Fig. 3.7); for the molecular species to belong to the  $C_{\infty v}$  point group, it must also possess an infinite number of  $\sigma_v$  planes but *no*  $\sigma_h$  plane or inversion centre. These criteria are met by asymmetrical diatomics such as HF, CO and [CN]<sup>-</sup> (Fig. 3.7a), and linear polyatomics (throughout this book, polyatomic is used to mean a species containing three or more atoms) that do not possess a centre of symmetry, e.g. OCS and HCN.

### $D_{\infty h}$ point group

Symmetrical diatomics (e.g. H<sub>2</sub>,  $[O_2]^{2-}$ ) and linear polyatomics that contain a centre of symmetry (e.g.  $[N_3]^-$ , CO<sub>2</sub>, HC=CH) possess a  $\sigma_h$  plane in addition to a  $C_{\infty}$ axis and an infinite number of  $\sigma_v$  planes (Fig. 3.7). These species belong to the  $D_{\infty h}$  point group.

### $T_{\rm d}$ , $O_{\rm h}$ or $I_{\rm h}$ point groups

Molecular species that belong to the  $T_d$ ,  $O_h$  or  $I_h$  point groups (Fig. 3.8) possess many symmetry elements, although it is seldom necessary to identify them all before the appropriate point group can be assigned. Species with tetrahedral symmetry include SiF<sub>4</sub>, [ClO<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, [CoCl<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup>, [NH<sub>4</sub>]<sup>+</sup>, P<sub>4</sub> (Fig. 3.9a) and B<sub>4</sub>Cl<sub>4</sub> (Fig. 3.9b). Those with octahedral symmetry include SF<sub>6</sub>, [PF<sub>6</sub>]<sup>-</sup>, W(CO)<sub>6</sub> (Fig. 3.9c) and [Fe(CN)<sub>6</sub>]<sup>3-</sup>. There is no centre of symmetry



**Fig. 3.8.** The tetrahedron ( $T_d$  symmetry), octahedron ( $O_h$  symmetry) and icosahedron ( $I_h$  symmetry) possess 4, 6 and 12 vertices respectively, and 4, 8 and 20 equilateral-triangular faces respectively.

in a tetrahedron but there is one in an octahedron, and this distinction has consequences with regard to the observed electronic spectra of tetrahedral and octahedral metal complexes (see Section 20.7). Members of the icosahedral point group are uncommon, e.g.  $[B_{12}H_{12}]^{2-}$  (Fig. 3.9d).

# Determining the point group of a molecule or molecular ion

The application of a *systematic* approach to the assignment of a point group is essential, otherwise there is the risk that symmetry elements will be missed with the consequence that an incorrect assignment is made. Figure 3.10 shows a procedure that may be adopted; some of the less common point groups (e.g.  $S_n$ , T, O) are omitted from the scheme. Notice that it is *not* necessary to find all the symmetry elements (e.g. improper axes) in order to determine the point group.

We illustrate the application of Fig. 3.10 in four worked examples, with an additional example in Section 3.8. Before assigning a point group to a molecule, its structure must be determined by, for example, microwave spectroscopy, or X-ray, electron or neutron diffraction methods (see Section 4.11).



**Fig. 3.9.** The molecular structures of (a)  $P_4$ , (b)  $B_4Cl_4$  (the B atoms are shown in blue), (c) [W(CO)<sub>6</sub>] (the W atom is shown in yellow and the C atoms in grey) and (d)  $[B_{12}H_{12}]^{2-}$  (the B atoms are shown in blue).

# Worked example 3.4 Point group assignments: 1

**Determine the point group of** *trans*-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub>**.** First draw the structure.



Apply the strategy shown in Fig. 3.10:

### START $\Longrightarrow$

Is the molecule linear?
Does <i>trans</i> - $N_2F_2$ have $T_d$ ,
$O_{\rm h}$ or $I_{\rm h}$ symmetry?
Is there a $C_n$ axis?

No

No

Yes; a  $C_2$  axis perpendicular to the plane of the paper and passing through the midpoint of the N–N bond

Are there two  $C_2$  axes perpendicular to the principal axis? Is there a  $\sigma_h$  plane (perpendicular to the principal axis)?

No

Yes

⇒ STOP

The point group is  $C_{2h}$ .

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that the point group of cis-N<sub>2</sub>F<sub>2</sub> is  $C_{2v}$ .
- 2. Show that the point group of *E*-CHCl=CHCl is  $C_{2h}$ .

### Worked example 3.5 Point group assignments: 2

### Determine the point group of PF<sub>5</sub>.

First, draw the structure.



In the trigonal bipyramidal arrangement, the three equatorial F atoms are equivalent, and the two axial F atoms are equivalent.

Apply the strategy shown in Fig. 3.10:

Is the molecule linear?	No
Does $PF_5$ have $T_d$ , $O_h$	
or <i>I</i> <sub>h</sub> symmetry?	No
Is there a $C_n$ axis?	Yes; a $C_3$ axis containing
	the P and two axial F
	atoms
Are there three $C_2$	
axes perpendicular to	Yes; each lies along an
the principal axis?	equatorial P–F bond
Is there a $\sigma_{\rm h}$ plane	
(perpendicular to	Yes; it contains the P
the principal axis)?	and three equatorial F
	atoms.
	⇒ STOP

The point group is  $D_{3h}$ .

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that  $BF_3$  belongs to the  $D_{3h}$  point group.
- 2. Show that  $OF_2$  belongs to the  $C_{2v}$  point group.
- 3. Show that  $BF_2Br$  belongs to the  $C_{2v}$  point group.
- 4. Confirm that SO<sub>2</sub> belongs to the  $C_{2v}$  point group, but that XeF<sub>2</sub> does not.
- 5. Confirm that NF<sub>3</sub> belongs to the  $C_{3v}$  point group, but that AlF<sub>3</sub> does not.



Fig. 3.10. Scheme for assigning point groups of molecules and molecular ions. Apart from the cases of n = 1 or  $\infty$ , n most commonly has values of 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6.

### Worked example 3.6 Point group assignments: 3

### To what point group does POCl<sub>3</sub> belong?

The structure of POCl<sub>3</sub> is:



Apply the strategy shown in Fig. 3.10:

### START ⇒

No
No (although this
molecule is tetrahedral in
shape, it does not
possess T <sub>d</sub> symmetry)

Yes; a  $C_3$  axis running along the O–P bond

Are there three  $C_2$  axesperpendicular to theprincipal axis?NoIs there a  $\sigma_h$  plane(perpendicular to theprincipal axis)?NoAre there  $n \sigma_v$  planesYes; each contains the(containing the principalone Cl and the O and Paxis)?atoms $\Longrightarrow$  STOP

The point group is  $C_{3v}$ .

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Show that CHCl<sub>3</sub> possesses  $C_{3v}$  symmetry, but that CCl<sub>4</sub> belongs to the  $T_d$  point group.
- 2. Assign point groups to (a)  $[NH_4]^+$  and (b)  $NH_3$ . [*Ans.* (a)  $T_d$ ; (b)  $C_{3v}$ ]
- 3. In trigonal bipyramidal PCl<sub>4</sub>F, the F atom is in an axial site. Confirm that PCl<sub>4</sub>F belongs to the  $C_{3v}$  symmetry.
- 4. Trigonal bipyramidal  $PCl_3F_2$  belongs to the  $D_{3h}$  point group. Show that the F atoms must be in axial sites.

Is there a  $C_n$  axis?

# Worked example 3.7 Point group assignments: 4

Three projections of the cyclic structure of  $S_8$  are shown below, and the structure can also be viewed in 3D on the accompanying website. All S–S bond distances are equivalent, as are all S–S–S bond angles. To what point group does  $S_8$  belong?





### START ⇒

Is the molecule linear?	No
Does $S_8$ have $T_d$ , $O_h$ or $I_h$	
symmetry?	No
Is there a $C_n$ axis?	Yes; a $C_4$ axis running
	through the centre of
	the ring; perpendicular
	to the plane of the paper

Are there four  $C_2$  axes perpendicular to the principal axis?

Is there a  $\sigma_h$  plane (perpendicular to the principal axis)? Are there  $n \sigma_d$  planes (containing the principal axis)? Yes; these are most easily seen from diagram (c)

in diagram (a)

No Yes; these are most easily seen from diagrams (a) and (c) ➡ STOP

The point group is  $D_{4d}$ .

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Why does the  $S_8$  ring not contain a  $C_8$  axis?
- 2. Copy diagram (a) above. Show on the figure where the  $C_4$  axis and the four  $C_2$  axes lie.
- 3.  $S_6$  has the chair conformation shown in Box 1.1. Confirm that this molecule contains a centre of inversion.

Earlier, we noted that it is not necessary to find all the symmetry elements of a molecule or ion to determine its point group. However, if one needs to identify all the operations in a point group, the following check of the total number can be carried out:<sup> $\dagger$ </sup>

- assign 1 for C or S, 2 for D, 12 for T, 24 for O or 60 for I;
- multiply by *n* for a numerical subscript;
- multiply by 2 for a letter subscript (s, v, d, h, i).

For example, the  $C_{3v}$  point group has  $1 \times 3 \times 2 = 6$  operations, and  $D_{2d}$  has  $2 \times 2 \times 2 = 8$  operations.

### 3.5 Character tables: an introduction

While Fig. 3.10 leads you to a point group assignment using diagnostic symmetry elements, it may be necessary to establish whether any additional symmetry elements are exhibited by a molecule in a given point group.

Each point group has an associated *character table*, and the character table for the  $C_{2v}$  point group is shown in Table 3.2. The point group is indicated at the top left-hand corner and the symmetry elements possessed by a member of the point group are given across the top row of the character table. The H<sub>2</sub>O molecule has  $C_{2v}$  symmetry and when we looked at the symmetry elements of H<sub>2</sub>O in Fig. 3.3, we labelled the two perpendicular planes. In the character table, taking the *z* axis as coincident with the principal axis, the  $\sigma_v$  and  $\sigma_v'$  planes are defined as lying in the *xz* and *yz* planes, respectively. Placing the molecular framework in a convenient orientation with respect to a Cartesian set of axes has many advantages, one of which is that the atomic orbitals on the central atom point in convenient directions. We return to this in Chapter 5.

Table 3.3 shows the character table for the  $C_{3v}$  point group. The NH<sub>3</sub> molecule possesses  $C_{3v}$  symmetry, and worked example 3.2 illustrated the principal axis of rotation and planes of symmetry in NH<sub>3</sub>. In the character table, the presence of three  $\sigma_v$  planes in NH<sub>3</sub> is represented by the notation ' $3\sigma_v$ ' in the top line of the table. The notation ' $2C_3$ ' summarizes the two operations  $C_3^1$  and  $C_3^2$  (Fig. 3.6). The operation  $C_3^3$  is equivalent to the identity operator, *E*, and so is not specified again.

**Table 3.2** The character table for the  $C_{2v}$  point group. For more character tables, see Appendix 3.

$C_{2v}$	Ε	$C_2$	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$		
$A_1 \\ A_2 \\ B_1 \\ B_2$	1 1 1 1	$1 \\ -1 \\ -1$	$     \begin{array}{c}       1 \\       -1 \\       1 \\       -1     \end{array} $	$     \begin{array}{c}       1 \\       -1 \\       -1 \\       1     \end{array} $	$z  R_z  x, R_y  y, R_x$	$x^{2}, y^{2}, z^{2}$ $xy$ $xz$ $yz$

<sup>†</sup> See O.J. Curnow (2007) J. Chem. Educ., vol. 84, p. 1430.

$C_{3v}$	Ε	$2C_3$	$3\sigma_{\rm v}$		
$\begin{array}{c} A_1 \\ A_2 \\ E \end{array}$	1 1 2	$1 \\ 1 \\ -1$	$\begin{array}{c}1\\-1\\0\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c}z\\R_z\\(x, y)(R_x, R_y)\end{array} $	$x^{2} + y^{2}, z^{2}$ $(x^{2} - y^{2}, xy) (xz, yz)$

**Table 3.3** The character table for the  $C_{3v}$  point group. For more character tables, see Appendix 3.

Figure 3.4 showed the proper axes of rotation and planes of symmetry in the square planar molecule XeF<sub>4</sub>. This has  $D_{4h}$  symmetry. The  $D_{4h}$  character table is given in Appendix 3, and the top row of the character table that summarizes the symmetry operations for this point group is as follows:

$D_{4\mathrm{h}}$	Ε	$2C_4$	$C_2$	$2C_{2}'$	$2C_2$ "	i	$2S_4$	$\sigma_{\rm h}$	$2\sigma_{\rm v}$	$2\sigma_{\rm d}$	
-------------------	---	--------	-------	-----------	----------	---	--------	------------------	-------------------	-------------------	--

In Fig. 3.4 we showed that a  $C_2$  axis is coincident with the  $C_4$  axis in XeF<sub>4</sub>. The  $C_2$  operation is equivalent to  $C_4^2$ . The character table summarizes this information by stating '2 $C_4$   $C_2$ ', referring to  $C_4^1$  and  $C_4^3$ , and then  $C_4^2 = C_2$ . The operation  $C_4^4$  is taken care of in the identity operator E. The two sets of  $C_2$  axes that we showed in Fig. 3.4 and labelled as  $C_2$ ' and  $C_2$ " are apparent in the character table, as are the  $\sigma_h$ , two  $\sigma_v$  and two  $\sigma_d$  planes of symmetry. The symmetry operations that we did not show in Fig. 3.4 but that are included in the character table are the centre of symmetry, *i* (which is located on the Xe atom in XeF<sub>4</sub>), and the  $S_4$  axes. Each  $S_4$  operation can be represented as  $(C_4 \times \sigma_h)$ .

The left-hand column in a character table gives a list of *symmetry labels*. These are used in conjunction with the numbers, or *characters*, from the main part of the table to label the symmetry properties of, for example, molecular orbitals or modes of molecular vibrations. As we shall see in Chapter 5, although the symmetry labels in the character tables are upper case (e.g.  $A_1$ , E,  $T_{2g}$ ), the corresponding symmetry labels for orbitals are lower case (e.g.  $a_1$ , e,  $t_{2g}$ ). Symmetry labels give us information about degeneracies as follows:

- A and B (or a and b) indicate non-degenerate;
- *E* (or *e*) refers to doubly degenerate;
- T (or t) means triply degenerate.

In Chapter 5, we use character tables to label the symmetries of orbitals, and to understand what orbital symmetries are allowed for a molecule possessing a particular symmetry.

Appendix 3 gives character tables for the most commonly encountered point groups, and each table has the same format as those in Tables 3.2 and 3.3.

# 3.6 Why do we need to recognize symmetry elements?

So far in this chapter, we have described the possible symmetry elements that a molecule might possess and, on the basis of these symmetry properties, we have illustrated how a molecular species can be assigned to a particular point group. Now we look at some of the reasons why the recognition of symmetry elements in a molecule is important to the inorganic chemist.

Most of the applications of symmetry fall into one of the following categories:

- constructing molecular and hybrid orbitals (see Chapter 5);
- interpreting spectroscopic (e.g. vibrational and electronic) properties;
- determining whether a molecular species is chiral.

The next two sections introduce the consequences of symmetry on observed bands in infrared spectra and with the relationship between molecular symmetry and chirality. In Chapter 20, we consider the electronic spectra of octahedral and tetrahedral d-block metal complexes and discuss the effects that molecular symmetry has on electronic spectroscopic properties.

### 3.7 Vibrational spectroscopy

Infrared (IR) and Raman spectroscopies (see also Section 4.6) are branches of *vibrational spectroscopy* and the former technique is much the more widely available of the two in student teaching laboratories. The discussion that follows is necessarily selective and is pitched at a relatively simplistic level. We derive the number of vibrational modes for some simple molecules, and determine whether these modes are infrared (IR) and/or Raman active (i.e. whether absorptions corresponding to the vibrational modes are observed in the IR and/or Raman spectra). We also relate the vibrational modes of a molecule to its symmetry by using the character table of the relevant point group. A rigorous group theory approach to the normal modes of vibration of a molecule is beyond the scope of this book. The reading list at the end of the chapter gives sources of more detailed discussions.

# How many vibrational modes are there for a given molecular species?

Vibrational spectroscopy is concerned with the observation of the *degrees of vibrational freedom*, the number of which can be determined as follows. The motion of a molecule containing *n* atoms can conveniently be described in terms of the three Cartesian axes. The molecule has 3*n degrees* of freedom which together describe the *translational*, *vibrational* and *rotational* motions of the molecule.

The translational motion of a molecule (i.e. movement through space) can be described in terms of three degrees of freedom relating to the three Cartesian axes. If there are



**Fig. 3.11.** The vibrational modes of  $CO_2$  ( $D_{\infty h}$ ). In the vibrational mode shown in (a), the carbon atom remains stationary. Vibrations (a) and (d) are stretching modes. Bending mode (b) occurs in the plane of the paper, while bend (c) occurs in a plane perpendicular to that of the paper; the + signs designate motion towards the reader. The two bending modes require the same amount of energy and are therefore *degenerate*.

3n degrees of freedom in total and three degrees of freedom for translational motion, it follows that there must be (3n - 3) degrees of freedom for rotational and vibrational motion. For a *non-linear molecule* there are three degrees of rotational freedom, but for a *linear molecule*, there are only two degrees of rotational freedom. Having taken account of translational and rotational motion, the number of degrees of vibrational freedom can be determined (eqs. 3.5 and 3.6).<sup>†</sup>

Number of degrees of vibrational freedom for a *non-linear* molecule = 3n - 6 (3.5)

Number of degrees of vibrational freedom for a linear molecule = 3n - 5 (3.6)

For example, from eq. 3.6, the linear  $CO_2$  molecule has four *normal modes of vibration* and these are shown in Fig. 3.11. Two of the modes are *degenerate*; i.e. they possess the same energy and could be represented in a single diagram with the understanding that one vibration occurs in the plane of the paper and another, identical in energy, takes place in a plane perpendicular to the first.

Degenerate modes of vibration possess the same energy.

### **Self-study exercises**

1. Using the VSEPR model to help you, draw the structures of  $CF_4$ ,  $XeF_4$  and  $SF_4$ . Assign a point group to each molecule. Show that the number of degrees of vibrational freedom is independent of the molecular symmetry.

$$[Ans. T_d; D_{4h}; C_{2v}]$$

- 2. Why do CO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> have a different number of degrees of vibrational freedom?
- 3. How many degrees of vibrational freedom do each of the following possess: SiCl<sub>4</sub>, BrF<sub>3</sub>, POCl<sub>3</sub>? [*Ans.* 9; 6; 9]

# Selection rules for an infrared or Raman active mode of vibration

One of the important consequences of precisely denoting molecular symmetry is seen in IR and Raman spectroscopy. For example, an IR spectrum records the frequency of a molecular vibration, i.e. bond stretching and molecular deformation (e.g. bending) modes. However, not all modes of vibration of a particular molecule give rise to observable absorption bands in the IR spectrum. This is because the following *selection rule* must be obeyed:

For a mode of vibration to be *infrared (IR) active*, it must give rise to a change in the molecular electric dipole moment.

A different selection rule applies to Raman spectroscopy:

For a mode of vibration to be *Raman active*, it must give rise to a change in the polarizability of the molecule. *Polarizability* is the ease with which the electron cloud associated with the molecule is distorted.

In addition to these two selection rules, molecules with a centre of symmetry (e.g. linear  $CO_2$ , and octahedral  $SF_6$ ) are subject to the *rule of mutual exclusion*:

For centrosymmetric molecules, the *rule of mutual exclusion* states that vibrations that are IR active are Raman inactive, and vice versa.

Application of this rule means that the presence of a centre of symmetry in a molecule is readily determined by comparing its IR and Raman spectra. Although Raman spectroscopy is now a routine technique, it is IR spectroscopy that remains the more accessible of the two for everyday compound characterization. Hence, we restrict most of the following discussion to IR spectroscopic absorptions. Furthermore, we are concerned only with *fundamental* absorptions, these being the dominant features of IR spectra.

The transition from the vibrational ground state to the first excited state is the *fundamental* transition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> For further detail, see: P. Atkins and J. de Paula (2014) *Atkins' Physical Chemistry*, 10th edn, OUP, Oxford, p. 514.



Fig. 3.12. The vibrational modes of SO<sub>2</sub> ( $C_{2v}$ ). In each mode, the S atom is also displaced from the position shown.

# Linear ( $D_{\infty h}$ or $C_{\infty v}$ ) and bent ( $C_{2v}$ ) triatomic molecules

We can readily illustrate the effect of molecular symmetry on molecular dipole moments, and thus on IR active modes of vibration, by considering the linear molecule  $CO_2$ . The two C-O bond distances are equal (116 pm) and the molecule is described as being 'symmetrical'. Strictly,  $CO_2$  possesses  $D_{\infty h}$  symmetry. As a consequence of its symmetry,  $CO_2$  is non-polar. The number of degrees of vibrational freedom is determined from eq. 3.6:

Number of degrees of vibrational freedom for  $CO_2$ = 3n - 5 = 9 - 5 = 4

The four fundamental modes of vibration are shown in Fig. 3.11. Although both the asymmetric stretch and the bend (Fig. 3.11) give rise to a change in dipole moment (generated transiently as the vibration occurs), the symmetric stretch does not. Thus, only two fundamental absorptions are observed in the IR spectrum of  $CO_2$ .

Now consider SO<sub>2</sub> which is a bent molecule ( $C_{2v}$ ). The number of degrees of vibrational freedom for a non-linear molecule is determined from eq. 3.5:

Number of degrees of vibrational freedom for SO<sub>2</sub> = 3n - 6 = 9 - 6 = 3

The three fundamental modes of vibration are shown in Fig. 3.12. In the case of a triatomic molecule, it is simple to deduce that the three modes of vibration are composed of two stretching modes (symmetric and asymmetric) and a bending mode. However, for larger molecules it is not so easy to visualize the modes of vibration. We return to this problem in the next section. The three normal modes of vibration of SO<sub>2</sub> *all* give rise to a change in molecular dipole moment and are therefore IR active. A comparison of these results for CO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> illustrates that vibrational spectroscopy can be used to determine whether an X<sub>3</sub> or XY<sub>2</sub> species is linear or bent.

Linear molecules of the general type XYZ (e.g. OCS or HCN) possess  $C_{\infty v}$  symmetry and their IR spectra are expected to show three absorptions: the symmetric stretching, asymmetric stretching and bending modes are all IR active. In a linear molecule XYZ, provided that the atomic masses

of X and Z are significantly different, the absorptions observed in the IR spectrum can be assigned to the X–Y stretch, the Y–Z stretch and the XYZ bend. The reason that the stretching modes can be assigned to individual bond vibrations rather than to a vibration involving the whole molecule is that each of the symmetric and asymmetric stretches is dominated by the stretching of one of the two bonds. For example, absorptions at 3311, 2097 and 712 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the IR spectrum of HCN are assigned to the H–C stretch, the C $\equiv$ N stretch and the HCN bend, respectively.

A *stretching mode* is designated by the symbol  $\nu$ , while a *deformation* (bending) is denoted by  $\delta$ . For example,  $\nu_{CO}$  stands for the stretch of a C–O bond.

### Worked example 3.8 IR spectra of triatomic molecules

The IR spectrum of  $SnCl_2$  exhibits absorptions at 352, 334 and  $120 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . What shape do these data suggest for the molecule, and is this result consistent with the VSEPR model?

For linear SnCl<sub>2</sub>,  $D_{\infty h}$ , the asymmetric stretch and the bend are IR active, but the symmetric stretch is IR inactive (no change in molecular dipole moment).

For bent  $SnCl_2$ ,  $C_{2v}$ , the symmetric stretching, asymmetric stretching and scissoring modes are all IR active.

The data therefore suggest that  $SnCl_2$  is bent, and this is consistent with the VSEPR model because there is a lone pair in addition to two bonding pairs of electrons:



#### Self-study exercises

- 1. The vibrational modes of  $XeF_2$  are at 555, 515 and 213 cm<sup>-1</sup> but only two are IR active. Explain why this is consistent with XeF<sub>2</sub> having a linear structure.
- 2. How many IR active vibrational modes does CS<sub>2</sub> possess, and why? [*Hint:* CS<sub>2</sub> is isostructural with CO<sub>2</sub>.]

- 3. The IR spectrum of SF<sub>2</sub> has absorptions at 838, 813 and  $357 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . Explain why these data are consistent with SF<sub>2</sub> belonging to the  $C_{2v}$  rather than  $D_{\infty h}$  point group.
- 4. To what point group does  $F_2O$  belong? Explain why the vibrational modes at 928, 831 and 461 cm<sup>-1</sup> are all IR active. [Ans.  $C_{2v}$ ]
- 5. The IR spectrum of FNO shows three bands at 520, 766 and 1844 cm<sup>-1</sup> arising from vibrational modes. What shape is FNO? Confirm that FNO belongs to the  $C_s$  point group.

### Bent molecules $XY_2$ : using the $C_{2v}$ character table

The SO<sub>2</sub> molecule belongs to the  $C_{2v}$  point group, and in this section we look again at the three normal modes of vibration of SO<sub>2</sub>, but this time use the  $C_{2v}$  character table to determine:

- whether the modes of vibration involve stretching or bending;
- the symmetry labels of the vibrational modes;
- which modes of vibration are IR and/or Raman active.

The  $C_{2v}$  character table is shown below, along with a diagram that relates the SO<sub>2</sub> molecule to its  $C_2$  axis and two mirror planes. The z axis coincides with the  $C_2$  axis, and the molecule lies in the yz plane.

$C_{2v}$	Ε	<i>C</i> <sub>2</sub>	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$		
$A_1$	1	1	1	1	Z	$x^2, y^2, z^2$
$A_2$	1	1	-1	-1	$R_z$	xy
$B_1$	1	-1	1	-1	$x, R_y$	XZ
$B_2$	1	-1	-1	1	$y, R_x$	уz



In a molecule, stretching or bending modes can be described in terms of changes made to the bond vectors or bond angles, respectively. Let us first consider vibrations involving bond stretching in SO<sub>2</sub>. (Since a triatomic molecule is a simple case, it is all too easy to wonder why we need the following exercise; however, it serves as an instructive example before we consider larger polyatomics.) *Without* thinking about the relative directions in which the bonds may be stretched, consider the effect of each symmetry operation of the  $C_{2v}$  point group on the bonds in SO<sub>2</sub>. Now ask the question: how many bonds are left unchanged by each symmetry operation? The E operator leaves both S-O bonds unchanged, as does reflection through the  $\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$  plane. However, rotation about the  $C_2$  axis affects both bonds, and so does reflection through the  $\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$ plane. These results can be summarized in the row of characters shown below, where '2' stands for 'two bonds unchanged', and '0' stands for 'no bonds unchanged':

Ε	<i>C</i> <sub>2</sub>	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$
2	0	0	2

This is known as a *reducible representation* and can be rewritten as the sum of rows of characters from the  $C_{2v}$  character table. Inspection of the character table reveals that summing the two rows of characters for the  $A_1$  and  $B_2$  representations gives us the result we require, i.e.:

$A_1$	1	1	1	1
$B_2$	1	-1	-1	1
Sum of rows	2	0	0	2

This result tells us that there are two non-degenerate stretching modes, one of  $A_1$  symmetry and one of  $B_2$  symmetry. For a bent XY<sub>2</sub> molecule, it is a straightforward matter to relate these labels to schematic representations of the stretching modes, since there can be only two options: bond stretching in-phase or out-of-phase. However, for the sake of completeness, we now work through the assignments using the  $C_{2v}$  character table.

The modes of vibration of SO<sub>2</sub> are defined by vectors which are illustrated by yellow arrows in Fig. 3.12. In order to assign a symmetry label to each vibrational mode, we must consider the effect of each symmetry operation of the  $C_{2v}$  point group on these vectors. For the symmetric stretch ( $\nu_1$ ) of the SO<sub>2</sub> molecule, the vectors are left unchanged by the *E* operator and by rotation about the  $C_2$ axis. There is also no change to the vectors when the molecule is reflected through either of the  $\sigma_v(xz)$  or

 $\sigma_v'(yz)$  planes. If we use the notation that a '1' means 'no change', then the results can be summarized as follows:

Е	<i>C</i> <sub>2</sub>	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$
1	1	1	1

Now compare this row of characters with the rows in the  $C_{2v}$  character table. There is a match with the row for symmetry type  $A_1$ , and therefore the symmetric stretch is given the  $A_1$  symmetry label. Now consider the asymmetric stretching mode  $(\nu_3)$  of the SO<sub>2</sub> molecule (Fig. 3.12). The vectors are unchanged by the *E* and  $\sigma_v'(yz)$  operations, but their directions are altered by rotation about the  $C_2$  axis and by reflection through the  $\sigma_v(xz)$  plane. Using the notation that a '1' means 'no change', and a '-1' means 'a reversal of the direction of the vector', we can summarize the results as follows:

Ε	$C_2$	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$	
1	-1	-1	1	

This corresponds to symmetry type  $B_2$  in the  $C_{2v}$  character table, and so the asymmetric stretching mode is labelled  $B_2$ .

Now recall that SO<sub>2</sub> has a total of (3n - 6) = 3 degrees of vibrational freedom. Having assigned two of these to stretching modes, the third must arise from a bending (or scissoring) mode. The bending mode ( $\nu_2$ ) can be defined in terms of changes in the O–S–O bond angle. To assign a symmetry label to this mode of vibration, we consider the effect of each symmetry operation of the  $C_{2v}$  point group on the bond angle. Each of the *E*,  $C_2$ ,  $\sigma_v(xz)$  and  $\sigma_v'(yz)$  operations leaves the angle unchanged and, therefore, we can write:

Ε	$C_2$	$\sigma_{\rm v}(xz)$	$\sigma_{\rm v}'(yz)$
1	1	1	1

The scissoring mode is therefore assigned  $A_1$  symmetry.

Finally, how can we use a character table to determine whether a particular mode of vibration is IR or Raman active? At the right-hand side of a character table, there are two columns containing functions x, y and/or z, or products of these functions (e.g.  $x^2$ , xy, yz,  $(x^2 - y^2)$ , etc.). We will not detail the origins of these terms, but will focus only on the information that they provide:

If the symmetry label (e.g.  $A_1$ ,  $B_1$ , E) of a normal mode of vibration is associated with a product term (e.g.  $x^2$ , xy) in the character table, then the mode is **Raman active**.

The SO<sub>2</sub> molecule has  $A_1$  and  $B_2$  normal modes of vibration. In the  $C_{2v}$  character table, the right-hand columns for the  $A_1$  representation contain z and also  $x^2$ ,  $y^2$  and  $z^2$  functions. Hence, the  $A_1$  modes are *both* IR and Raman active. Similarly, the right-hand columns for the  $B_2$  representation contain y and yz functions, and the asymmetric stretch of SO<sub>2</sub> is both IR and Raman active.

The most common bent triatomic molecule that you encounter daily is H<sub>2</sub>O. Like SO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O belongs to the  $C_{2v}$  point group and possesses three modes of vibration, all of which are IR and Raman active. These are illustrated in Fig. 3.13a which shows a calculated IR spectrum of gaseous H<sub>2</sub>O. (An experimental spectrum would also show rotational fine structure.) In contrast, the IR spectrum of liquid water shown in Fig. 3.13b is broad and the two absorptions around 3700 cm<sup>-1</sup> are not resolved. The broadening arises from the presence of hydrogen bonding between water molecules (see Section 10.6). In addition, the vibrational wavenumbers in the liquid and gas phase spectra are shifted with respect to one another.

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. In the vibrational spectrum of  $H_2O$  vapour, there are absorptions at 3756 and 3657 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to the  $B_2$  and  $A_1$  stretching modes, respectively. Draw diagrams to show these vibrational modes.
- 2. The symmetric bending of the non-linear NO<sub>2</sub> molecule gives rise to an absorption at 752 cm<sup>-1</sup>. To what point group does NO<sub>2</sub> belong? Explain why the symmetric bending mode is IR active. Why is it assigned an  $A_1$  symmetry label?

### $XY_3$ molecules with $D_{3h}$ symmetry

An XY<sub>3</sub> molecule, irrespective of shape, possesses  $(3 \times 4) - 6 = 6$  degrees of vibrational freedom. Let us first consider planar XY<sub>3</sub> molecules belonging to the  $D_{3h}$  point group. Examples are SO<sub>3</sub>, BF<sub>3</sub> and AlCl<sub>3</sub>, and the six normal modes of vibration of SO<sub>3</sub> are shown in Fig. 3.14. The symmetries of the stretching modes stated in the figure are deduced by considering how many bonds are left *unchanged* by each symmetry operation of the  $D_{3h}$  point group (refer to Fig. 3.2, worked example 3.3 and Table 3.4). The *E* and  $\sigma_h$  operators leave all three bonds unchanged. Each  $C_2$  axis coincides with one X–Y bond and therefore rotation about a  $C_2$  axis leaves one bond unchanged; similarly for reflection through a  $\sigma_v$  plane. Rotation about the  $C_3$  axis affects all three bonds. The results can be summarized in the following row of characters:

Ε	<i>C</i> <sub>3</sub>	<i>C</i> <sub>2</sub>	$\sigma_{ m h}$	$S_3$	$\sigma_{\rm v}$
3	0	1	3	0	1

If the symmetry label (e.g.  $A_1$ ,  $B_1$ , E) of a normal mode of vibration is associated with x, y or z in the character table, then the mode is *IR active*.



**Fig. 3.13.** (a) Calculated IR spectrum of gaseous  $H_2O$  (Spartan '14 v.1.1.8,  $\bigcirc$ Wavefunction Inc. 2013, Density Functional level, B3LYP) showing the three fundamental absorptions. Experimental values are 3756, 3657 and 1595 cm<sup>-1</sup>. (b) IR spectrum of liquid  $H_2O$ .



**Fig. 3.14.** The vibrational modes of SO<sub>3</sub>  $(D_{3h})$ ; only three are IR active. The + and – notation is used to show the 'up' and 'down' motion of the atoms during the mode of vibration. Two of the modes are doubly degenerate, giving a total of six normal modes of vibration.

If we rewrite this reducible representation as the sum of rows of characters from the  $D_{3h}$  character table, we can determine the symmetries of the vibrational modes of the planar XY<sub>3</sub> molecule:

$A_1$ '	1	1	1	1	1	1	
E'	2	-1	0	2	-1	0	
Sum of rows	3	0	1	3	0	1	

$D_{3h}$	Ε	$2C_3$	$3C_{2}$	$\sigma_{\rm h}$	$2S_3$	$3\sigma_{\rm v}$		
$A_1$ '	1	1	1	1	1	1		$x^2 + y^2, z^2$
$A_2$ '	1	1	-1	1	1	-1	$R_z$	
E'	2	-1	0	2	-1	0	(x, y)	$(x^2 - y^2, xy)$
$A_1$ "	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1		
$A_2$ "	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	Ζ	
E"	2	-1	0	-2	1	0	$(R_x, R_y)$	(xz, yz)

**Table 3.4** The character table for the  $D_{3h}$  point group.

Inspection of Fig. 3.14 reveals that the symmetric stretch (the  $A_1$ ' mode) does not lead to a change in molecular dipole moment and is therefore IR inactive. This can be verified by looking at the  $D_{3h}$  character table (Table 3.4) where the entries in the two right-hand columns show that the  $A_1$ mode is IR inactive, but Raman active. The asymmetric stretch (E') of a  $D_{3h}$  XY<sub>3</sub> molecule is doubly degenerate, and Fig. 3.14 shows one of these modes. The vibration is accompanied by a change in molecular dipole moment, and so is IR active. In Table 3.4, the entries in the right-hand columns for the E' representation show that the mode is both IR and Raman active.

The symmetries of the deformation modes of  $D_{3h}$  XY<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 3.14) are E' and  $A_2''$  (see end-of-chapter problem 3.25). From the  $D_{3h}$  character table we can deduce that the  $A_2$ " mode is IR active, while the E' mode is both IR and Raman active. We can also deduce that both deformations are IR active by showing that each deformation in Fig. 3.14 leads to a change in molecular dipole moment.

therefore exhibit three absorptions in their IR spectra: one band arises from a stretching mode and two from deformations. The IR spectra of anions such as [NO<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and  $[CO_3]^{2-}$  may also be recorded, but the counter-ion may also give rise to IR spectroscopic bands. Therefore, simple salts such as those of the alkali metals are chosen because

they give spectra in which the bands can be assigned to the anion (see Table 4.2 on p. 105).

### $XY_3$ molecules with $C_{3v}$ symmetry

An XY<sub>3</sub> molecule belonging to the  $C_{3v}$  point group has six degrees of vibrational freedom. Examples of  $C_{3v}$  molecules are NH<sub>3</sub>, PCl<sub>3</sub> and AsF<sub>3</sub>. The normal modes of vibration of NH<sub>3</sub> are shown in Fig. 3.15; two modes are doubly degenerate. The symmetry labels can be verified by using the  $C_{3v}$  character table (Table 3.3 on p. 74). For example, each of the  $E, C_3$  and  $\sigma_{\rm v}$  operations leaves the vectors that define the symmetric vibration unchanged and, therefore, we can write:

Ε	<i>C</i> <sub>3</sub>	$\sigma_{\rm v}$
1	1	1

This corresponds to the  $A_1$  representation in the  $C_{3y}$  character table, and therefore the symmetric stretch has  $A_1$  symmetry. Each of the vibrational modes shown in Fig. 3.15 has either  $A_1$  or E symmetry, and the functions listed in the right-hand columns of Table 3.3 reveal that each of the vibrational modes is both IR and Raman active. We therefore expect to observe four absorptions in the IR spectrum of species such as gaseous NH<sub>3</sub>, NF<sub>3</sub>, PCl<sub>3</sub> and AsF<sub>3</sub>.

Differences in the number of bands in the IR spectra of XY<sub>3</sub> molecules possessing  $C_{3v}$  or  $D_{3h}$  symmetry is a method of distinguishing between these structures. Further, XY<sub>3</sub> molecules with T-shaped structures (e.g.  $ClF_3$ ) belong to the  $C_{2v}$  point group, and vibrational spectroscopy may be used to distinguish their structures from those of  $C_{3v}$  or  $D_{3h}$  XY<sub>3</sub> species.



**Fig. 3.15.** The vibrational modes of  $NH_3(C_{3v})$ , all of which are IR active.

For the  $C_{2v}$  molecules ClF<sub>3</sub> (**3.10**) or BrF<sub>3</sub>, there are six normal modes of vibration, approximately described as equatorial stretch, symmetric axial stretch, asymmetric axial stretch and three deformation modes. All six modes are IR active.

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. The IR spectrum of BF<sub>3</sub> shows absorptions at 480, 691 and  $1449 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . Use these data to decide whether BF<sub>3</sub> has  $C_{3v}$  or  $D_{3h}$  symmetry. [Ans.  $D_{3h}$ ]
- 2. In the IR spectrum of NF<sub>3</sub>, there are four absorptions. Why is this consistent with NF<sub>3</sub> belonging to the  $C_{3v}$  rather than  $D_{3h}$  point group?
- 3. The IR spectrum of  $BrF_3$  in an argon matrix shows six absorptions. Explain why this observation confirms that  $BrF_3$  cannot have  $C_{3v}$  symmetry.
- 4. Use the  $C_{3v}$  character table to confirm that the symmetric deformation mode of NH<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 3.15) has  $A_1$  symmetry.

### $XY_4$ molecules with $T_d$ or $D_{4h}$ symmetry

An XY<sub>4</sub> molecule with  $T_d$  symmetry has nine normal modes of vibration (Fig. 3.16). In the  $T_d$  character table (see Appendix 3), the  $T_2$  representation has an (x,y,z)function, and therefore the two  $T_2$  vibrational modes are IR active. The character table also shows that the  $T_2$ modes are Raman active. The  $A_1$  and E modes are IR inactive, but Raman active. The IR spectra of species such as CCl<sub>4</sub>, TiCl<sub>4</sub>, OsO<sub>4</sub>, [ClO<sub>4</sub>]<sup>-</sup> and [SO<sub>4</sub>]<sup>2-</sup> exhibit *two* absorptions (see Table 4.2).

There are nine normal modes of vibration for a square planar  $(D_{4h})$  XY<sub>4</sub> molecule. These are illustrated for  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  in Fig. 3.17, along with their appropriate symmetry labels. In the  $D_{4h}$  character table (see Appendix 3), the  $A_{2u}$ 

and  $E_u$  representations contain z and (x,y) functions, respectively. Therefore, of the vibrational modes shown in Fig. 3.17, only the  $A_{2u}$  and  $E_u$  modes are IR active. Since  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  contains an inversion centre, the rule of mutual exclusion applies, and the  $A_{2u}$  and  $E_u$  modes are Raman inactive. Similarly, the  $A_{1g}$ ,  $B_{1g}$  and  $B_{2g}$  modes that are Raman active, are IR inactive. Among compounds of the *p*-block elements,  $D_{4h}$  XY<sub>4</sub> structures are rare; the observation of absorptions at 586, 291 and 161 cm<sup>-1</sup> in the IR spectrum of XeF<sub>4</sub> is consistent with the square planar structure predicted by the VSEPR model.

### **Self-study exercises**

- 1. Use the  $D_{4h}$  character table in Appendix 3 to confirm that the  $A_{1g}$ ,  $B_{1g}$  and  $B_{2g}$  modes of  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  are IR inactive, but Raman active. Why does this illustrate the rule of mutual exclusion?
- 2. The IR spectrum of gaseous  $ZrI_4$  shows absorptions at 55 and 254 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Explain why this observation is consistent with molecules of  $ZrI_4$  having  $T_d$  symmetry.
- 3. The  $[PdCl_4]^{2-}$  ion gives rise to three absorptions in its IR spectrum (150, 321 and 161 cm<sup>-1</sup>). Rationalize why this provides evidence for a  $D_{4h}$  rather than  $T_d$  structure.
- 4.  $SiH_2Cl_2$  is described as having a tetrahedral structure;  $SiH_2Cl_2$  has eight IR active vibrations. Comment on these statements.

### XY<sub>6</sub> molecules with O<sub>h</sub> symmetry

An XY<sub>6</sub> molecule belonging to the  $O_h$  point group has  $(3 \times 7) - 6 = 15$  degrees of vibrational freedom. Figure 3.18 shows the modes of vibration of SF<sub>6</sub> along with their symmetry labels. Only the  $T_{1u}$  modes are IR active; this can be confirmed from the  $O_h$  character table in Appendix 3.



**Fig. 3.16.** The vibrational modes of  $CH_4$  ( $T_d$ ), only two of which are IR active.



Fig. 3.17. The vibrational modes of  $[PtCl_4]^{2-}$  ( $D_{4h}$ ); only the three modes (two of which are degenerate)  $\nu_3$ ,  $\nu_6$  and  $\nu_7$  are IR active. The + and - notation is used to show the 'up' and 'down' motion of the atoms during the mode of vibration.

Since the S atom in SF<sub>6</sub> lies on an inversion centre, the  $T_{1u}$  modes are Raman inactive (by the rule of mutual exclusion). Of the  $T_{1u}$  modes shown in Fig. 3.18, one can be classified as a stretching mode (939 cm<sup>-1</sup> for SF<sub>6</sub>) and one a deformation (614 cm<sup>-1</sup> for SF<sub>6</sub>).

### Metal carbonyl complexes, M(CO)<sub>n</sub>

Infrared spectroscopy is especially useful for the characterization of metal carbonyl complexes  $M(CO)_n$  since the absorptions arising from C–O bond stretching modes ( $\nu_{CO}$ ) are strong and easily observed in an IR spectrum. These modes typically give rise to absorptions close to  $2000 \,\mathrm{cm}^{-1}$ (see Section 24.2) and these bands are usually well separated from those arising from M-C stretches, M-C-O deformations and C-M-C deformations. The  $\nu_{CO}$  modes can therefore be considered separately from the remaining vibrational modes. For example,  $Mo(CO)_6$  belongs to the  $O_h$  point group. It has  $(3 \times 13) - 6 = 33$  modes of vibrational freedom, of which 12 comprise four  $T_{1u}$  (i.e. IR active) modes:  $\nu_{CO}$ 2000 cm<sup>-1</sup>,  $\delta_{MoCO}$  596 cm<sup>-1</sup>,  $\nu_{MoC}$  367 cm<sup>-1</sup> and  $\delta_{CMoC}$  $82 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ . The other 21 modes are all IR inactive. A routine laboratory IR spectrometer covers a range from  $\simeq 400$  to 4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> and, therefore, only the  $\nu_{\rm CO}$  and  $\delta_{\rm MoC}$  modes are typically observed. We can confirm why an  $O_{\rm h}$  $M(CO)_6$  species exhibits only one absorption in the C-O stretching region by comparing it with  $SF_6$  (Fig. 3.18). The set of six C-O bonds in M(CO)<sub>6</sub> can be considered analogous to the set of six S-F bonds in SF<sub>6</sub>. Therefore,

an  $O_{\rm h}$  M(CO)<sub>6</sub> molecule possesses  $A_{1g}$ ,  $E_g$  and  $T_{1u}$  carbonyl stretching modes, but only the  $T_{1u}$  mode is IR active.

### Self-study exercises

1. By considering only the six CO groups in  $Cr(CO)_6 (O_h)$ , sketch diagrams to represent the  $A_{1g}$ ,  $E_g$  and  $T_{1u}$ stretching modes. Use the  $O_h$  character table to deduce which modes are IR active. [Ans. See Fig. 3.18; each C–O acts in the same way

as an S-F bond]

2. In its IR spectrum,  $W(CO)_6$  exhibits an absorption at 1998 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Sketch a diagram to show the mode of vibration that corresponds to this absorption.

[Ans. Analogous to the IR active  $T_{1u}$  mode in Fig. 3.18]

### Metal carbonyl complexes $M(CO)_{6-n}X_n$

In this section, we illustrate the relationship between the numbers of IR active  $\nu_{CO}$  modes and the symmetries of  $M(CO)_{6-n}X_n$  complexes. The metal carbonyls  $M(CO)_6$ ,  $M(CO)_5X$ , *trans*- $M(CO)_4X_2$  and *cis*- $M(CO)_4X_2$  are all described as being 'octahedral' but only  $M(CO)_6$  belongs to the  $O_h$  point group (Fig. 3.19). We saw above that an  $O_h$   $M(CO)_6$  complex exhibits one absorption in the CO stretching region of its IR spectrum. In contrast,  $C_{4v}$ 





Fig. 3.19. Point groups of octahedral metal carbonyl complexes  $M(CO)_6$ ,  $M(CO)_5X$ , *trans*- $M(CO)_4X_2$  and *cis*- $M(CO)_4X_2$ . Colour code: metal M, green; C, grey; O, red; group X, brown.

 $M(CO)_5X$  shows three absorptions, e.g. in the IR spectrum of  $Mn(CO)_5Br$ , bands are observed at 2138, 2052 and 2007 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The origins of these bands can be understood by using group theory. Consider how many C–O bonds in the  $M(CO)_5X$  molecule (Fig. 3.19) are left *unchanged* by each symmetry operation (*E*, *C*<sub>4</sub>, *C*<sub>2</sub>,  $\sigma_v$  and  $\sigma_d$ ) of

the  $C_{4v}$  point group (the  $C_{4v}$  character table is given in Appendix 3). The diagram on the next page shows the  $C_4$  and  $C_2$  axes and the  $\sigma_v$  planes of symmetry. The  $\sigma_d$  planes bisect the  $\sigma_v$  planes (look at Fig. 3.4). The *E* operator leaves all five C–O bonds unchanged, while rotation around each axis and reflection through a  $\sigma_d$  plane leaves

one C–O bond unchanged. Reflection through a  $\sigma_v$  plane leaves three C–O bonds unchanged.



The results can be summarized in the following row of characters:

Ε	$C_4$	$2C_2$	$\sigma_{ m v}$	$\sigma_{\rm d}$
5	1	1	3	1

This representation can be reduced to rows of characters from the  $C_{4v}$  character table:

$A_1$	1	1	1	1	1	
$A_1$	1	1	1	1	1	
$B_1$	1	-1	1	1	-1	
Ε	2	0	-2	0	0	
Sum of rows	5	1	1	3	1	

The vibrational modes of  $M(CO)_5X$  therefore have  $A_1$ ,  $B_1$  and E symmetries and the  $C_{4v}$  character table shows that only the two  $A_1$  and the E modes are IR active, consistent with the observation of three absorptions in the IR spectrum.

A similar strategy can be used to determine the number of IR active modes of vibration for *cis*- and *trans*-M(CO)<sub>4</sub> $X_2$ , as well as for other complexes. Table 3.5 gives representative examples.

### Self-study exercises

- 1. Draw a diagram to show the structure of fac-M(CO)<sub>3</sub>X<sub>3</sub>. Mark on the  $C_3$  axis and one of the  $\sigma_v$  planes.
- 2. Using the  $C_{3v}$  character table (Appendix 3), confirm that the CO stretching modes of fac-M(CO)<sub>3</sub>X<sub>3</sub> have  $A_1$  and *E* symmetries. Confirm that both are IR active.
- Rationalize why the IR spectrum of *fac*-[Fe(CO)<sub>3</sub>(CN)<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> has two strong absorptions at 2121 and 2096 cm<sup>-1</sup>, as well as two weaker bands at 2162 and 2140 cm<sup>-1</sup>.
   [*Ans.* See: J. Jiang *et al.* (2002) *Inorg. Chem.*, vol. 41,

*is.* See: J. Jiang *et al.* (2002) *Inorg. Chem.*, vol. 41, p. 158.]

### **Observing IR spectroscopic absorptions**

In this section we have focused on how to establish the number of vibrational degrees of freedom for a simple molecule with n atoms, how to deduce the total number of normal modes of vibration for the molecule and how to determine the number of absorptions in its IR spectrum. We expand the discussion at a practical level in Section 4.5.

Table 3.	Carbonyl stre	etching modes	$s (\nu_{\rm CO}) f$	for some	families of	mononucl	lear metal	l carbony	'l compl	lexes; 2	X is a gener	al group c	other t	than (	CO.
----------	---------------	---------------	----------------------	----------	-------------	----------	------------	-----------	----------	----------	--------------	------------	---------	--------	-----

Complex	Point group	Symmetries of CO stretching modes	IR active modes	Number of absorptions observed in the IR spectrum
M(CO) <sub>6</sub>	$O_{\mathrm{h}}$	$A_{1g}, E_g, T_{1u}$	$T_{1u}$	1
M(CO) <sub>5</sub> X	$C_{4\mathrm{v}}$	$A_1, A_1, B_1, E$	$A_1, A_1, E$	3
trans-M(CO) <sub>4</sub> X <sub>2</sub>	$D_{4\mathrm{h}}$	$A_{1g}, B_{1g}, E_u$	$E_u$	1
cis-M(CO) <sub>4</sub> X <sub>2</sub>	$C_{2v}$	$A_1, A_1, B_1, B_2$	$A_1, A_1, B_1, B_2$	4
<i>fac</i> -M(CO) <sub>3</sub> X <sub>3</sub>	$C_{3v}$	$A_1, E$	$A_1, E$	2
<i>mer</i> -M(CO) <sub>3</sub> X <sub>3</sub>	$C_{2v}$	$A_1, A_1, B_1$	$A_1, A_1, B_1$	3



(b)

**Fig. 3.20.** A pair of enantiomers consists of two molecular species which are mirror images of each other and are non-superposable. (a) Helical Se<sub> $\infty$ </sub> has either right- or left-handedness. (b) The 6-coordinate complex [Cr(acac)<sub>3</sub>] contains three identical bidentate, chelating ligands; the labels  $\Lambda$  and  $\Delta$  describe the absolute configuration of the molecule (see Box 19.3).

### 3.8 Chiral molecules

A molecule is *chiral* if it is non-superposable on its mirror image.<sup> $\dagger$ </sup>

Helical chains such as  $Se_{\infty}$  (Fig. 3.20a) may be right- or lefthanded and are chiral. 6-Coordinate complexes such as [Cr(acac)<sub>3</sub>] ([acac]<sup>-</sup>, see Table 7.8) in which there are three bidentate chelating ligands also possess non-superposable mirror images (Fig. 3.20b). Chiral molecules can rotate the plane of plane-polarized light. This property is known as *optical activity* and the two mirror images are known as *optical isomers* or *enantiomers*. We return to this in Chapter 19.

The importance of chirality is clearly seen in, for example, dramatic differences in the activities of different enantiomers of chiral drugs.<sup>‡</sup>

A helical chain such as  $Se_{\infty}$  is easy to recognize, but it is not always such a facile task to identify a chiral compound by attempting to convince oneself that it is, or is not, nonsuperposable on its mirror image. Symmetry considerations come to our aid:

#### A *chiral* molecule lacks an improper $(S_n)$ axis of symmetry.

Another commonly used criterion for identifying a chiral species is the lack of an inversion centre, *i*, and plane of symmetry,  $\sigma$ . However, both of these properties are compatible with the definition given above, since we can rewrite the symmetry operations *i* and  $\sigma$  in terms of the improper rotations  $S_2$  and  $S_1$  respectively. (See end-of-chapter problem 3.35.) A word of caution: there are a few species that are non-chiral (achiral) despite lacking an inversion centre, *i*, and plane of symmetry,  $\sigma$ . These 'problem' species belong to an  $S_n$  point group in which *n* is an even number. An example is the tetrafluoro derivative of spiropentane shown in Fig. 3.21. This molecule does not contain an inversion centre, nor a mirror plane, and might therefore be thought to be chiral. However, this conclusion is incorrect because the molecule contains an  $S_4$  axis.

### Worked example 3.9 Chiral species

The oxalate ligand,  $[C_2O_4]^{2-}$ , is a bidentate ligand and the structure of the complex ion  $[Cr(ox)_3]^{3-}$  is shown below. The view in the right-hand diagram is along one O-Cr-O axis. Confirm that the point group to which the ion belongs is  $D_3$  and that members of this point group are chiral.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Relevant articles are: E. Thall (1996) *J. Chem. Educ.*, vol. 73, p. 481 – 'When drug molecules look in the mirror'; H. Caner *et al.* (2004) *Drug Discovery Today*, vol. 9, p. 105 – 'Trends in the development of chiral drugs'; M.C. Núñez *et al.* (2009) *Curr. Med. Chem.*, vol. 16, p. 2064 – 'Homochiral drugs: a demanding tendency of the pharmaceutical industry'; F. Arnesano *et al.* (2015) *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, vol. 284, p. 286 – 'Effect of chirality in platinum drugs'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> This definition is taken from 'Basic terminology of stereochemistry: IUPAC recommendations 1996' (1996) *Pure Appl. Chem.*, vol. 68, p. 2193.



Fig. 3.21. A tetrafluoro derivative of spiropentane which belongs to the  $S_4$  point group. This is an example of a molecule that contains no inversion centre and no mirror plane but is, nonetheless, achiral.

Using the scheme in Fig. 3.10:

### START ⇒

Is the molecular ion linear?	
Does it have $T_d$ , $O_h$ or $I_h$	
symmetry?	
Is there a $C_n$ axis?	

No Yes; a  $C_3$  axis; perpendicular to

No

Are there three  $C_2$  axes perpendicular to the principal axis?

Is there a  $\sigma_{\rm h}$  plane (perpendicular to the principal axis)? Are there  $n \sigma_d$  planes (containing the principal axis)? No

the plane of the paper in diagram (a) Yes; one runs vertically, in the plane of the paper through the Fe centre in diagram (b)

No

STOP ⇒

### The point group is $D_3$ .

No centre of symmetry or planes of symmetry have been identified and this confirms that molecular species in the  $D_3$  point group are chiral.

### **Self-study exercise**

By referring to the character table (Appendix 3) for the  $D_3$ point group, confirm that the symmetry elements of the  $D_3$ point group do not include *i*,  $\sigma$  or  $S_n$  axis.

### **KEY TERMS**

The following terms have been introduced in this chapter. Do you know what they mean?

- □ symmetry element
- □ symmetry operator
- $\Box$  identity operator (*E*)
- $\Box$  rotation axis ( $C_n$ )
- **D** plane of reflection ( $\sigma_{\rm h}$ ,  $\sigma_{\rm v}$  or  $\sigma_{\rm d}$ ) □ centre of symmetry or inversion
- centre (i)
- $\Box$  improper rotation axis  $(S_n)$
- point group
- □ translational degrees of freedom
- □ rotational degrees of freedom
- □ vibrational degrees of freedom
- □ normal mode of vibration
- □ degenerate modes of vibration
- selection rule for an IR active mode
- selection rule for a Raman active mode
- rule of mutual exclusion
- fundamental absorption
- chiral
- enantiomer (optical isomer)

### FURTHER READING

### Symmetry and group theory

- P.W. Atkins, M.S. Child and C.S.G. Phillips (1970) Tables for Group Theory, OUP, Oxford - A set of character tables with useful additional notes and symmetry diagrams.
- R.L. Carter (1998) Molecular Symmetry and Group Theory, Wiley, New York - An introduction to molecular symmetry and group theory as applied to chemical problems including vibrational spectroscopy.
- M.E. Cass, H.S. Rzepa, D.R. Rzepa and C.K. Williams (2005) J. Chem. Educ., vol. 82, p. 1736 - 'The use of the free, open-source program Jmol to generate an interactive web site to teach molecular symmetry'.
- F.A. Cotton (1990) Chemical Applications of Group Theory, 3rd edn, Wiley, New York – A more mathematical treatment of symmetry and its importance in chemistry.

- G. Davidson (1991) Group Theory for Chemists, Macmillan, London – An excellent introduction to group theory with examples and exercises.
- S.F.A. Kettle (2007) Symmetry and Structure, 3rd edn, Wiley, Chichester - A detailed, but readable, account of symmetry and group theory.
- R. McWeeny (2002) Symmetry: An Introduction to Group Theory and its Applications, Dover Publications, New York – A well-tested book on group theory.
- K.C. Molloy (2011) Group Theory for Chemists: Fundamental Theory and Applications, 2nd edn, Woodhead Publishing, Oxford - A well-organized coverage of symmetry, group theory and its applications in spectroscopy and bonding.
- J.S. Ogden (2001) Introduction to Molecular Symmetry, OUP, Oxford - A concise introduction to group theory and its applications.